Editors Tomasz M. Napiórkowski Mariusz-Jan Radło Jürgen Wandel

PROCESS OF MOVING UP THE GLOBAL VALUE CHAINS

A CASE OF POLISH-GERMAN ECONOMIC COOPETITION

Publishing House

SGH

PROCESS OF MOVING UP THE GLOBAL VALUE VALUE CHAINS

PROCESS OF MOVING UP THE GLOBAL **VALUE** CHAINS **A CASE OF POLISH-GERMAN ECONOMIC COOPETITION**



WARSAW 2020

Reviewers Wojciech Bieńkowski Dariusz Michalski

Editor Mirosław Szymański

© Copyright by SGH Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw 2020 All rights reserved. Any copying, reprinting or distribution of a part or the whole of this publication without the prior permission of the publisher is forbidden.

First Edition

ISBN 978-83-8030-423-9

SGH Publishing House 162 Niepodległości Ave., 02-554 Warsaw, Poland www.wydawnictwo.sgh.waw.pl e-mail: wydawnictwo@sgh.waw.pl

Cover design and production Ad Depositum

DTP DM Quadro

Print and binding QUICK-DRUK s.c. e-mail: quick@druk.pdi.pl

Order 146/XII/20

Table of Contents

Tomasz M. Napiórkowski, Mariusz-Jan Radło, Jürgen Wandel	
Introduction	7

PART ONE

Theoretical Aspects of Global Value Chains

	Marzenna Anna Weresa	
1	Development of the Global Value Chains as a Case of Growing Economic Coopetition. A Literature Review	15
	Mariusz-Jan Radło	
2	Macro and Micro- Challenges in Moving up the Global Value Chains. The Polish Perspective	25
	Tomasz M. Napiórkowski	
3	Homogeneity of Foreign Direct Investment-derived Technology Transfer Barriers across Transfer Channels. A Case Study Analysis	39

PART TWO

4

Empirical Analysis of the Polish-German Case Study

Krzysztof Falkowski

Poland's Position in the Global Value Chains	
between 2004 and 2014	57

Table of Contents

	Andreas Bielig	
5	German-Polish Trade Relations from the Perspective of Trade in Value Added with Specific Focus on Trade in Digital Technologies	67
	Katarzyna Kamińska	
6	German-Polish Trade after 2004. German FDI in Poland. Polish FDI in Germany. A Comparative Analysis	93
	Jürgen Wandel	
7	Challenges in Sustaining Germany's Export-Oriented Economic Model	109
	Adam A. Ambroziak	
8	Germany's and Poland's Positions on the New EU Industrial Policy. Common and Conflicting Interests	133
Tomasz M. I	Napiórkowski, Mariusz-Jan Radło, Jürgen Wandel	
Conclusion	s	155

Introduction

Tomasz M. Napiórkowski, Mariusz-Jan Radło, Jürgen Wandel

This book presents the results of a research project aimed at answering the research question of how the Polish economy and its enterprises can advance within the global value chains. The answer to this question is to be given in the context of Polish-German economic relations, which are characterised by strong endogenous value chain links. The relationships within the studied global value chains can be characterised as competition as well as cooperation and at times as a simultaneous combination of the two, i.e. coopetition.

There are three main reasons for taking up this topic. First, participation in the global value chains has been, is and – at least in the near future – will be of great importance for Polish enterprises and consequently for the Polish economy. This dependence, which ought to be seen in a positive context, is a result of the initial export-oriented economy development model adopted by Poland. This model makes use of Foreign Direct Investments as a source of technology transfers to domestic companies. Such transfers are used as inputs into the process of strengthening the potential of domestic companies for foreign expansion further strengthening the position of Polish firms in the global value chains. The second reason for this study is the advancement of enterprises in the global value chains, which is neither easy nor obvious. The countries that underwent such a process used various strategies to support this progress. These strategies include, but are surely not limited to subsidising innovation, periodic protection of the internal market, selective policy towards foreign investors and other industrial and commercial policy activities. As a member of the European Union, Poland can use only a few of a wide variety of instruments of such a policy, which results from the institutional conditions of the European Union internal market. The third reason for undertaking this research topic is the key importance of the Polish-German economic cooperation for the inclusion of the Polish economy in the global value chains. German companies are among the largest foreign investors in Poland, and the Polish-German trade, including that carried out within said value chains, is responsible for a large part of Polish foreign trade. The Polish-German cooperation in the discussed area includes not only cooperation, but also competition. Therefore, the Polish-German economic cooperation

in the area, which is the subject of this study should be analysed from the theoretical perspective of the phenomenon of coopetition, which is already quite widely described in both the academic and business literature. It is also worth paying attention to the recent Polish-German-French political initiatives in relation to some instruments of industrial policy, including state aid and concentration control.

This study consists of two parts divided into eight chapters. Part one is entitled "Theoretical Aspects of Global Value Chains" and consists of three texts undertaking the topic of advancement in the global value chains. This part begins with Chapter 1 "Development of Global Value Chains as a Case of Growing Economic Coopetition. A Literature Review" which examines the concept of global value chains and identifies the mechanisms of cooperation and competition within these structures. The Second Chapter "Macro and Micro-Challenges in Moving up the Global Value Chains. The Polish Perspective" presents the main challenges facing the Polish economy in the context of moving up the value chains. Moreover, due to the subject matter of the entire study, this text focuses especially on the value chain relations between Poland and Germany. The Third Chapter entitled "Homogeneity of FDI-derived Technology Transfer Barriers across Transfer Channels. A Case Study Analysis" undertakes the analysis of technology transfer channels from foreign to domestic enterprises in the context of the advancement of the latter in the global value chains. In the second part of this book, "Empirical Analysis of the Polish-German Case Study", the authors present the results of empirical research on Polish-German economic coopetition and the question of how the Polish economy and enterprises can move up within the global value chains. This part begins with the Fourth Chapter entitled "Poland's Position in the Global Value Chains", in which the author indicates that in recent years the role of Poland as a supplier and subcontractor for foreign enterprises has grown much more than as a recipient of value added used to manufacture products for export. The Fifth Chapter deals with the "German-Polish Trade Relations from the Perspective of Trade in Value Added with Specific Focus on Trade in Digital Technologies". Its author points out that trade in digital products is characterised by asymmetric growth in terms of added value and quantity, with a reference to imports, and the trade in the area of digital technologies is marginal in general Polish-German relations. Chapter Six entitled "The German FDI in Poland and the Polish FDI in Germany. Comparative Analysis" contains an analysis of German direct investments in Poland and vice versa. In Chapter Seven, "Challenges in Sustaining Germany's Export-oriented Economic Model", the model of the development of the German economy and its weaknesses resulting in the weakening position of Germany in the global value chains. were subjected to a critical analysis. The last, Eighth Chapter studies "German's and Poland's Positions on the New EU Industrial Policy. Common and Conflicting Interests" and is devoted to the Polish-German cooperation within the European Union in the area of industrial policy, as well as the similarities and differences that can be observed in this policy.

Introduction

This study was conducted under the auspices of the World Economy Research Institute of the Warsaw School of Economics (project title: "Process of moving up global value chains. Case of Polish-German economic coopetition"; project number: KGS/S19/03/2019). The authors are members of the Global Economic Interdependence Department, the German Economy Research Department and the Department of European Integration and Legal Studies based in Poland at the Warsaw School of Economics.

PART ONE

Theoretical Aspects of Global Value Chains

The aim of Part One of this book is to give a theoretical background, which we believe will provide a solid base for the investigation of advancement in the global value chains. presented later in this book and also in other, future studies on this and related topics.

This part consists of three texts:

- "Development of Global Value Chains as a Case of Growing Economic Coopetition. A Literature Review" by Marzenna Anna Weresa,
- 2. "Macro and Micro-Challenges in Moving up the Global Value Chains. The Polish Perspective" by Mariusz-Jan Radło,
- 3. "Homogeneity of FDI-derived Technology Transfer Barriers across Transfer Channels. A Case Study Analysis" by Tomasz M. Napiórkowski.

Development of the Global Value Chains as a Case of Growing Economic Coopetition. A Literature Review

Marzenna Anna Weresa

Introduction

Rapid changes in today's world economy related to the liberalisation of trade and foreign direct investment (FDI) flows, further supported by advances in information and communication technology dynamised cross-border cooperation and re-shaped global production and distribution networks. In the era of globalisation, companies worldwide are challenged with the decision whether and how their value chains should be broken across borders and what should be the extent of control over the different parts of their production processes in order to successfully face competitive pressure. There are numerous activities performed by companies along value chains, such as research and development (R&D), design, production, marketing, distribution (Porter, 1986). The decisions about spreading various activities into different locations lead to the development of the global value chains. (GVCs). As a result new trade flows have been created, new international activities have been undertaken, FDI flows have increased, and international production has expanded. GVCs, on the one hand, have expanded the reach of globalisation, and on the other, have changed structures of domestic industries.

The aim of this paper is to explore the GVC concept and identify mechanisms of cooperation and competition within GVCs.

The paper is organised as follows. The next section discusses the concept of the global value chains and its foundation in the economic literature. It is followed by the analysis of

coopetition (simultaneous competition and cooperation between rivals) that can emerge within global production networks. The last section provides a short summary of main findings from a literature review.

The concept of Global Value Chains (GVCs)

The definition of global value chains is grounded in the value chain concept, which looks at systems and mechanisms describing how inputs are transformed into final outputs purchased by consumers (Porter, 1985). The value chain means all the activities undertaken by companies to market a product, from the very idea to the end use. They include design, production, marketing, logistics and distribution, as well as after-sales services. According to Michael Porter there are two categories of business processes included in the value chain:

- Primary activities
- Support activities

Primary activities consist of five elements and they all add value necessary to achieve a competitive advantage. These elements are as follows: inbound logistics, operations, outbound logistics, marketing and sales (Figure 1).

The support activities constitute a second group and they are necessary to increase the efficiency of primary activities. The following are included in Porter's value chain model as support activities: infrastructure, procurement, human resources, research and development (Figure 1).





Primary activities

Source: Porter, 1985, p. 37.

These activities can be performed by one company or shared among many companies located in different countries (Backer, Miroudot, 2013, p. 7). Gradually, companies have combined outsourcing and offshoring for various functions along their value chains. Outsourcing allows to benefit from the economies of scale and scope.

Global value chains can be cost-driven as organising supply along the value chain from low-cost producers can bring significant cost cuts. GVCs can be also market-driven when multinationals move a part of their value chain to emerging countries in order to use the potential of their market growth.

Why do multinationals disperse value chains globally

Foreign direct investment (FDI) is one of the ways used by multinationals to disperse value chains globally. FDI is not only a transfer of capital, but also transfer of technology. This transfer can take a physical form, i.e. machines and equipment, as well as non-physical, i.e. licenses and know-how. Qualifications, marketing methods and organisation management can also be transferred through FDI, which enables the whole organisation to learn using inter- company collaboration networks (Wilkins, 1998).

The following characteristics of multinationals are distinguished in the literature: focus on global efficiency, sovereignty, geographical dispersion, flexibility, complexity, the ability to integrate, networking, specialisation and growing knowledge intensity (Zorska, 2007). These features are strongly related to the motivation to disperse value chains globally.

Sovereignty is defined in a few different ways. On the one hand, this means that MNCs make decisions about their activities partly irrespective of the interests of the countries where the business is based. On the other hand, this applies more to the authorities of host countries. As MNCs have an impact on the economic structure of host countries, there may be restrictions on this sovereignty imposed by the state authorities (e.g. restrictions regarding foreign ownership). In today's world, MNCs may also limit their sovereignty through alliances or contracts if it a precondition for achieving higher profits or a larger market share, etc.

The geographical dispersion of the value chains seems to be increasingly important for modern MNCs. In order to reduce costs, they still need to look for locations offering better conditions for the development of specific parts of the value chain that allow to increase productivity (Criscuolo, Timmis, 2018). The development of communication and transport technologies facilitates this process. Thanks to modern communication techniques, including the Internet, the geographical distance is less important. However, geographical location does still matter.

Configuring GVCs aims to improve the global effectiveness of MNCs, which is reflected in the company's overall financial performance. The efficiency of an MNC is measured for the entire organisation, not for individual organisational units. An increased efficiency of MNCs can be achieved through cost reduction, innovation, flexibility, smart management of organisational complexity or ability to integrate. Thanks to the development of information technologies, new opportunities have emerged to increase global efficiency, such as improvements in communication and coordination, usage of new organisation and management methods, outsourcing or use of electronic commerce (B2B, B2C platforms).

The flexibility of MNCs means an ability to quickly and efficiently adapt to changes and to smartly adapt processes inside and outside MNCs. This may apply to strategic and operational decisions. The higher the flexibility, the faster MNCs can adapt to the needs and opportunities on the foreign market, as well as to overcoming crises arising from the operation of the organisation.

Complexity can be understood as a number of key and interacting elements in the system (value chain, organisation structure, etc.) or in a specific area (ownership, competitiveness, strategy, configuration). Growing complexity is becoming more and more important within value chains that are increasingly technologically advanced, specialised, and decomposed. Mergers and acquisitions also deepen the ownership and organisational complexity of MNCs.

The ability to integrate is a feature of contemporary MNCs that defines cross-border corporate strategies and structures. It is about the integration of geographically dispersed, functionally specialised and locally adapted activities. The ability to integrate has gained importance in recent years, as models of creating added value in MNCs are evolving. Currently, these enterprises focus on core activities, moving other activities to specialised companies. The success of such a model depends on the smart integration of the results of work performed in many different locations within the global value chain. MNCs can also integrate the capabilities of other entities. In addition to transforming value creation chains, organisational structures are evolving, becoming more horizontal, decentralised and networked. The importance of information and communication systems is also growing (OECD, 2019).

The dispersion of value chains facilitates the process of benefiting from cultural, economic, administrative and geographical differences between different regions of the world. This applies to macroeconomic differences as well as to differences between sectors or industries.

Networking is the main attribute of the functioning of modern MNCs. Today, multinational enterprises are moving away from a bureaucratic and hierarchical structures because they are less effective in a rapidly changing environment. Modern MNCs consist of many different business units that through cooperation contribute to increasing flexibility of the whole organisation. This flexibility is necessary for innovation and competitiveness as it may impact the efficiency of the entire organisation. The networking includes not only organisational units of one multinational enterprise, but also may include suppliers, clients and even competitors. In the global competitive environment, cooperation in the form of strategic alliances, joint ventures, etc. brings beneficial effects to all participants, reduces uncertainty, expands access to resources or creates the possibility of achieving some common goals. Simultaneous competition and cooperation between global competitors is more and more popular and it is described by the term "coopetition" (Luo, 2007).

Specialisation is another important feature of MNCs that motivates them to disperse value chains across borders. MNCs focus on key activities moving other activities to subcontractors, which may be their own units or independent suppliers. Increasing functional specialisation requires more specialised supplies, including specialised services. In addition, specialisation is related to specific locations, which can be seen by the growing interest of MNCs in locating information technology activities or biotechnology activities in regional or urban industry clusters (OECD, 2019).

Knowledge plays a significant role in configuring the global value chains. It has become a key economic resource, more important than capital, natural resources or labour. Enterprises create competitive advantages by deriving knowledge from other sources and integrating it (Christensen et al., 2004; 2010). Knowledge is also a key determinant of resource allocation among different locations. There are strong linkages between knowledge generated in MNCs and knowledge from outside.

	Attractive local c	haracteristics
Type of R&D unit	of the supply of scientific and technological expertise	of demand
Local development centre	Quality of training (engineers, technicians) Local technological infrastructure	Large local market (size, purchasing power)
Global research laboratory	Centres of excellence Links between research and industry	Market leader
Globall development centre	Cost benefits of labour for R&D activities IPR protection	_

Figure 2. Determinants for relocating R&D activities abroad

Source: Own elaboration based on Sachwald, 2013, p. 20.

As a strategic resource, knowledge must be managed in a special way. The method of knowledge transfer, due to its intangible nature, is determined more by the possibilities of further knowledge development, acquisition and integration with foreign sources than transaction costs. Therefore, access to knowledge is regarded as one of the determinants of the global value chains. development. R&D activities have become more geographically and functionally diversified nowadays. Openness and internationalisation of innovation processes lead to the creation of global open innovation networks. There are many interactions between the development of GVCs and the geographical scope of R&D activities. F. Sachwald (2013) proposed an interesting classifications of drivers of internationalisation

of R&D and growing attractiveness of open innovation for MNCs. It shows main motivations for the relocation of R&D abroad along the GVCs (Figure 2).

In practice, technology and engineering of the production process defines how the different stages of production are linked and configured in the GVC. All types of technologies used in the enterprise are important for gaining and achieving a competitive advantage. Innovations that arise within these technologies contribute to the competitiveness of enterprises. Figure 3 offers an overview of technologies that can be seen in different parts of value chains.

Firm infrastructure	Information systems technology Planning and budgeting technology Office technologies					
Human resource management	Training technolog Motivation researc Information syster	Training technology Motivation research technology Information systems technology				
Technology development	Product technology Software development tools Computer assisted design Information systems technology Pilot production technology Information systems technology				ogy	
Procurement	It Information systems technology Communication systems technology Transportation systems technology					
	Transport technology Technology for unloading raw materials Storage and maintenance technology Technology of communication systems Testing technology Information systems technology	Basic process technology Raw material technology Machine technology for reloading raw materials Packaging technology Maintenance methods Testing technology Building design and operating technology Information systems technology	Transport technology Raw material loading technology Packaging technology of communication systems Information systems technology	Media Technology Audio and video recording technology of communication systems Information systems technology	Technology for testing and diagnostics Technology of communication systems Information systems technology	
	Inbound logistics	Operations	Outbound logistics	Marketing and sales	Service	

Figure 3.	Technologies	in the enter	prise valu	e chain
rigare 5.	reennoiogies	in the chief	pribe void	

Source: Porter, 2006.

Nowadays, in the global economy which is characterised by a rapid development of information and communication technologies, gaining competitive advantage by companies is largely dependent on the ability to use information technologies and those related to the process of distance communication. They permeate most activities throughout the entire value chain, with information playing a huge role in it (Porter, 2006, p. 215).

The literature distinguishes two types of global value chains: spiders and snakes. The spider configuration is based on linking many parts to form an assembly. The snake is configured as a sequence from upstream to downstream. In practice most production processes are a combination of these two types of GVCs (Baldwin, Venables, 2012, p. 2). The structure of GVCs has an impact on the catch up of firms through productivity gains.

Foreign affiliates facilitate access to international markets to domestic enterprises as they connect the domestic value chain with the global value chains. Efficiency depends on both the domestic and foreign parts of the value chain. Both cooperation and competition are important in this process of linking global players with domestic firms. As a result of GVCs expansion, local companies can also become global firms and expand internationally (Criscuolo, Timmis, 2018).

Coopetition and GVCs development

The rise of GVCs poses new challenges to international trade and competitiveness. In particular, to remain competitive, companies have to use a variety of input sources and develop many different channels for collaboration. However, the propensity to cooperate with foreign partners varies substantially across countries (Cataneo et al., 2013).



	Insourcing/outsourcing activities				
Offshoring (producing abroad)			Sourcing within the firm	Independent supplier	
	Producing at home	Domestic in-house production	Domestic outsourcing		
	Vertical foreign direct investment	Vertical integration via foreign direct investment	Sourcing inputs from a foreign suppliers or outsourcing assembly of final products		

Source: Cattaneo, et al., 2013, p. 3.

Figure 4 shows possible production structure combinations seen from the organisational and geographical points of view. Activities can take place only inside the company or in one country. Thus, it is domestic internal production. Another possibility is to keep some production stages inside the company, and move others to a foreign location, i.e. offshore production through vertical foreign direct investment. Companies can also outsource activities to independent contractors or suppliers with which they maintain commercial relations in the country (domestic outsourcing) or abroad (offshore outsourcing). These new acquisition strategies lead to increased cooperation with various domestic and foreign entities and also stimulate intra-company trade as well as vertical trade with independent suppliers.

These new sourcing strategies change cooperation patterns, which tend to be complex and multi-country (Cataneo et al., 2013). On the one hand, collaborative efforts have increased, but competitive pressure has also grown. Collaboration and competition are in play, even among competitors. This simultaneous competition and cooperation between rivals competing in global markets is called coopetition in the literature (Gnyawali, Madhavan, 2001; Luo, 2007). There are at least four diverse patterns of coopetition. They depend on the combinations between the intensity of cooperation and competition. These options are: rivalry, adaptation, isolation and partnering (Luo, 2007). Figure 5 illustrates these different options.

Under a contending situation, multinationals focus on intelligence gathering as knowledge is a key factor for competing. Another strategic tactic to face strong competition is niche filling, which is aimed at identifying a market niche and penetrating it. The third response to rivals' competitive pressure is position jockeying meaning a defense of the already held position.

A strong competition and strong willingness to cooperate with rivals may lead to adapting situations with three basic tactics: boundary analysis, loose coupling or looking for strategic balance (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Diversity of coopetition within GVCs

Source: Adapted from Luo, 2007, p. 136.

A combination of weak cooperation and weak competition pressure is the easiest situation for multinationals. In such an isolating situation, they may chose focusing on domain specialisation, scale expansion or vertical integration. The situation most encouraging to cooperition occurs when rivals are forced to intensify competition and simultaneously develop cooperation. It is a partnering situation with three basic tactics used by MNCs: synergy extension, value sharing and attachment enhancement.

The research on these coopetition options confirms that there is no one ideal way to combine collaboration and competition. It varies across countries and sectors (OECD, 2019).

Summary

Nowadays, under globalisation in the world economy, companies are challenged with the decision whether and how their value chains should be broken across borders. In order to face successfully competitive pressure, companies should decide about the extent of control over different parts of their production processes. These decisions about spreading various activities into different geographical locations lead to the development of global value chains. The development of GVCs has changed the pattern of cooperation and competition. In many cases multinationals have to simultaneously collaborate and compete. Such a coopetition has many facets. Four main situations of coopetition have been distinguished in the literature: a contending situation, adaptation, isolation and partnering. The choice of any of these options depends on the strength of cooperation and competition required by multinationals in their global activity. The pattern of coopetition varies across sectors and countries.

References .

Antràs P., Helpman E. (2004). Global sourcing, Journal of Political Economy, 112(3), pp. 552–580.

- Backer, K.D., Miroudot S. (2013). "Mapping Global Value Chains", OECD Trade Policy Papers, no. 159, OECD Publishing, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k3v1trgnbr4-en
- Baldwin R., Venables A., (2012). Spiders and snakes: offshoring and agglomeration in the global economy, *NBER Working Paper*, no. 16611, Cambridge, MA.
- Cattaneo O., Gereffi G., Miroudot S., Taglioni D., (2013). Joining, Upgrading and Being Competitive in Global Value Chains: A Strategic Framework, *Policy Research Working Paper* no. 6406, World Bank.
- Christensen C.M., Scott D.A., Roth E.A. (2010). Innowacje następny krok. Wykorzystanie teorii innowacji w przewidywaniu zmian na rynku, Wydawnictwo Studia EMKA, Warsaw studio.
- Christensen C.M., Scott D.A., Roth E. A (2004). Seeing What's Next, Harvard Business School Publishing, Cambridge Mass.
- Criscuolo, C., Timmis J., (2018). GVC centrality and productivity: Are hubs key to firm performance?, *OECD Productivity Working Papers*, 2018–14, OECD Publishing, Paris.

- Gnyawali, D.R., Madhavan, R. (2001). Cooperative networks and competitive dynamics: A structural embeddedness perspective, Academy of Management Review, no. 26, pp. 431–445.
- Luo Y. (2007). A coopetition perspective of global competition, Journal of World Business no. 42, pp. 129–144.
- OECD (2019). Multinational Enterprises in Domestic Value Chains, OECD Science, technology and Industry Policy papers, no. 63, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Porter M.E. (2006). Przewaga konkurencyjna. Osiąganie i utrzymywanie lepszych wyników, Helion, Gliwice.
- Porter M.E. (1985). Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance, Free Press, New York.
- Sachwald F. (2013). "The development of global innovation networks", in: W. Wobbe, (ed.), *Global Innovation Networks*, pp. 13–22, European Commission, Brussels.
- Wilkins M. (1998). "Multinational Corporations. An Historical Account", in: R. Kozul-Wright, R. Rowthorn (eds), Transnational Corporations and the World Economy, WIDER-McMillan Press- St. Martin Press, London – New York.
- Zorska A., (2007). Korporacje Transnarodowe. Przemiany, oddziaływania, wyzwania, PWE, Warsaw.

Macro and Micro- Challenges in Moving up the Global Value Chains. The Polish Perspective

Mariusz-Jan Radło

Introduction

In recent years, the desire to include the economies of entire countries or their regions in the global value chains. GVCs have become a very important element of economic growth policy planning as well as economic research conducted for such a policy. Depending on the field, global value chains are also called "global factory" (see Buckley, 2009), "global production network" (see Henderson et al., 2002) or the "global commodity chain" (see Gereffi, 1999). As indicated by Radło (2013, 2016), Taglioni and Winkler (2016) or UNC-TAD (2013), this approach has become typical of countries at various levels of development and it is very important for the development policies implemented at the national, regional and local levels.

These processes are associated with the development of local, regional and global production chains and growing fragmentation of production processes for goods and services. Growing global production fragmentation results in increasing flows of foreign direct investment, as well as the growing trade flows. In recent decades the increase in these flows has significantly exceeded the dynamics of changes in the world GDP and value added. The inclusion of economies and enterprises in the value chains means that they can benefit from trade, as well as participate in the flow of factors of production, including those more unique, such as knowledge and technologies. In addition to incorporating into the global value chains, economies and enterprises can benefit from the development of local and regional production chains, the development of which leads to the increase in diversity of enterprises in the economies of countries and regions. And this can stimulate the development of cluster structures with a positive impact on innovation. In addition to incorporating economies and enterprises into value chains, moving up these chains is a major challenge. It includes an ability to perform in more complex and advanced business processes related to the production of various intermediate or final goods and services and an ability to influence and control the shape of the value chains in which they participate.

As indicated by Buckley (2009) or Gereffi et al. (2005), the attractiveness of this approach lies also in the fact that understanding the operation of various industries can provide deep insight into the development opportunities of companies, clusters, regions and countries. Understanding the value chains in which enterprises operate in a specific industry in a region or a country and in the world is therefore necessary to implement the strategy of enterprises as well as governments pursuing national or regional economic policies. It also gives the opportunity to determine not only the paths of corporate development, but also helps policy makers accelerate economic development in less developed areas or stimulate structural changes aimed at promoting participation of enterprises in value chains or moving them up in these chains. This, as mentioned before, may be associated with the development of the ability to perform in more advanced processes with a higher value added, and consequently to generate higher profits, higher wages and a higher contribution to regional and national income.

From this perspective, the aim of this chapter is to shed some light on the main challenges facing the Polish economy in the context of moving up value chains. Moreover, due to the subject of the entire study, special attention will be paid to relations in value chains between Poland and Germany. The Second Chapter presents the main challenges facing the Polish economy in the context of moving up the value chain. Moreover, due to the subject matter of the entire study, a particular attention is paid to the relations in value chains between Poland and Germany.

Variety of macro and micro- challenges in GVC oriented policies

The tendency to develop development policies based on value chains described above intensified in the first decade of the 21st century and accelerated in the second decade. As a result, there were many scientific studies carried out by individual researchers as well as publications sponsored by economic development-oriented international organisations including OECD, UNCTAD or the World Bank. This resulted in an increase in the number of studies on how to shape economic policies to take advantage of GVCs and overcome emerging challenges.

Author	Area	Challenge	Description
UNCTAD (2013)	Choice of an effective GVC oriented strategy	The challenge of choice between moving up the existing value chains or developing own value chains	Countries may choose between the GVC-oriented industrial policy and industrial development strategy that builds national production capacity at all stages of production to develop a vertically integrated industry that remains relatively independent in its relation to key actors in the global value chains, including independent learning and improving goods and services.
Lin et al. (2017)	Firm strategies and related industrial policies		"In-out-in-again" hypothesis – from the point of view of latecomers and the economies of catching up countries, participation in the global value chains. allows for the transfer of knowledge and acquisition of skills. However, sometimes in order to move up value chains, companies should leave the production chain controlled by global players to build their own potential and their own value chain – and only then re-join GVCs as a stronger player.
UNCTAD (2013)	Various areas of development policy: • Embedding GVCs in the development strategy	The challenge of implementing a multi-level industrial development policy	Integrating the global value chains. into industrial development policies, setting policy goals along with GVC development pathways.
	 Enabling participation in the global value chains. 		Creating and maintaining favourable conditions for trade and investment. Introduction of infrastructural conditions for participation in GVCs.
	 Building a domestic production capacity 		Supporting the development of enterprises and increasing the bargaining power of local companies Strengthening workforce skills.
	 Ensuring a strong environmental, social and governance framework 		Minimising the risk associated with GVC participation through public and private regulations and standards Supporting local enterprises in complying with international standards.
	 Synergisation of commercial and 		Ensuring consistency between trade and investment policu
	investment policies and institutions		Synergisation of promotions and facilitations in trade and investments Creating 'regional factors for industrial development'.
Gorynia (1996)	Industrial policy		There are various factors limiting effectiveness of industrial policy including among others imperfect information available to economic policy makers, technical limitations causing the lack of information flow on the best solutions that prevent rational decisions, excessive dependence on the influence of interest groups that can enforce decisions favourable for them and the last but not least limited willingness of business entities to share information of fundamental importance until it is too late to intervene.
Gereffi I Sturgeon (2013)	GVC-oriented industrial policy	The challenge of adapting GVC- oriented industrial policies to roles played by firms in these chains	Adaptation of industrial policy to the structures of value chains and business models of industries. Exploiting the opportunities offered by global sourcing and specialisation within the value chain. Striving to move towards the top of the value chain in terms of sophistication and value added.

Table 1. Areas and	activities of	f value o	:hain-or	iented	developme	nt policy

28

Author	Area	Challenge	Description
Miroudot et al. (2013);	Commercial policy	The challenge of adapting commercial policy to the needs of GVC	Influencing the shape of value chains by customs in such a way as to make the location of activities within existing or desired value chains more attractive.
Taglioni, Winkler	Inclusion in value chains.	The challenge of combining	Attracting foreign investors and stimulating the participation of domestic enterprises in value chains.
(2016).	Expansion and strenghtening of share in value chains	policy with the national economy development path	Promoting economic modernisation and compaction Strengthening the absorption capacity of domestic companies.
	Shifting value chain participation in sustainable development		Promoting the growth of society's well-being, through increase in wages, health and safety, social cohesion, environmental protection, etc.
Brennan and Rakhmatullin (2015)	GVC and intelligent specialisations	The challenge of combining GVC-oriented policy with smart specialisation policies	The innovation policy should combine an approach based on smart specialisations with an approach based on a deeper understanding of global value chains. The smart specialisation policy should be based on continuous commitment, anticipating industry evolution, assessing challenges and opportunities, and responding proactively to these challenges and opportunities. Understanding GVC can be based on the M3DA model. Combining both approaches increases the success of strategies based on smart specialisations.
Radosevic and Ciampi Stancova (2018)	GVC and inteligent specialisations		The innovation policy should combine an approach based on smart specialisations with an approach based on a deeper understanding of global value chains.
Giuliani et al. (2005)	GVC industrial clusters	The challenge of combining GVC-oriented industrial policy with cluster policy	The development of industrial clusters can stimulate the improvement of the position of domestic enterprises in the global value chains. Thus, these authors pointed to the importance of companies' participation in the global value chains. and that, thanks to this, they can strengthen their competitiveness and strengthen their competitive position in such chains. They also pointed out that the development of industrial clusters, which could further strengthen the position of enterprises in value chains, is important.
Zawalińska and Rok (2017) Brennan and Rakhmatullin (2015)	Measuring and mapping value chains	The challenge of measuring and mapping GVC	Preparing estimates of regional input-output tables (based on survey, non-survey and hybrid methods). Using qualitative research with the participation of entrepreneurs to map the industrial value chain – including the M3DA method.
Ayiar et al., 2013) Stehrer and Stöllinger (2015)	Shape of central European value chains	The challenge of understanding Poland's current participation in GVCs	Not described.

Source: UNCTAD (2013).

These studies cover many types of challenges associated with the participation in GVCs as well as provide specific guidance on how to face them. The challenges are related to the

choice between moving up the existing value chains or developing own value chains (UNCTAD, 2013; Lin et al., 2017), implementing a multi-level industrial development policy (UNCTAD, 2013; Gorynia, 1996), combining the GVC-oriented policy with a national economy development path (Taglioni, Winkler, 2016), combining the GVC-oriented policy with smart specialisation policies (Brennan and Rakhmatullin, 2015; Radosevic and Ciampi Stancova, 2018), adapting the GVC-oriented industrial policies to the roles played by firms in these chains (Gereffi I Sturgeon, 2013), adapting a commercial policy to the needs of GVCs (Miroudot et al., 2013), measuring and mapping GVCs (Zawalińska and Rok, 2017; Brennan and Rakhmatullin, 2015), understanding Poland's current participation in GVCs (Ayiar et al., 2013; Stehrer and Stöllinger, 2015). All these challenges are described in Table 1 and commented in the subsequent subchapters.

The challenge of choice between moving up the existing value chains or developing own value chains

The first challenge to mention is the need to select the most effective industrial policy strategy focused on value chains, and making a choice between moving up the existing value chains or developing own value chains. Unfortunately, the empirical literature on this issue does not provide a final solution to the problem of the most effective strategy.

As indicated by UNCTAD (2013), active promotions of global value chains and economic development strategies based on these chains mean encouraging and supporting business activities aimed at generating exports in fragmented and geographically dispersed industry value chains, based on a narrower set of production factors and competitive advantages. This approach implies the use of active policies that encourage learning based on value chain activities in which the country and its enterprises are present. The purpose of this process is to reorient the economy to carry out activities with higher added value as part of the existing value chains and to diversify it by entering new chains with higher added value. However, the above strategy is not non-alternative.

It is also possible to apply an industrial development strategy that builds national production capacity at all stages of production to develop a vertically integrated industry that remains relatively independent in its relation to key actors in the global value chains, including independent learning and improving products and services. The decision on whether and to what extent to include them in the development policy the possibilities offered by the policy based on the global value chains is therefore a strategic choice which should be based on the assessment of costs and benefits of proactive policies promoting GVC or development strategies led by GVC. This decision should be based on the analysis of the specific situation of each economy or industry, including the level of development or equipment in production factors. It should be noted that promoting participation in the global value chains is inherently selective being only one aspect of the country's overall development strategy. Of course, the nature of such a policy is also determined by the size of the economy, because in smaller economies with limited equipment (including limited diversity) with various factors of production, there is a small alternative to development strategies that take into account a certain degree of participation in the global value chains. So, the key question is not so much whether to participate in the global value chains, but how to do it.

A very important challenge of inability to move up the value chain because of the position of current global players is an issue that may influence the above choice. This challenge has become the reason for the "in-out-in-again" hypothesis proposed by Lin et al. (2017). Based on the analysis of the experience of China, Korea and Brazil, these authors pointed out that from the point of view of latecomers and the economies of catching up countries, participation in the global value chains allows for the transfer of knowledge and acquisition of skills in various areas of the production of goods and services. Sometimes, however, companies may not be able to advance in the value chain because it is effectively blocked by global players controlling these chains. Therefore, the aforementioned authors indicate that, in order to move up the value chains, companies should leave the production chain controlled by global players to build their own potential and their own value chain – and only then re-join GVC as a stronger player.

The challenge of implementing a multi-level industrial development policy

Another challenge refers to the nature of GVC-oriented policy and the need to implement a multi-level policy based on a deep understanding of GVC, its own economy, enterprises, and the need to achieve synergies between different policy areas and institutions. This challenge also includes the risk of inefficiency of selective and active GVC-oriented industrial policy.

The implementation of multi-level and synergistic development policies is based on a thorough knowledge of GVC as well as possibilities and needs of enterprises. In addition, UNCTAD (2013) points to five areas of development policy and different types of actions that can be implemented to benefit from the participation in the global value chains. The first area of activity relates to embedding GVC in the national development strategy. In this respect, the key is to strive to integrate the global value chains into industrial development policies and to set policy goals that take into account GVC development paths, and thus in practice to thoroughly explore these chains and the country's capabilities. The second area of activity is to enable participation in the global value chains. In this respect, the importance of creating and maintaining favourable conditions for trade and investment and the creation of infrastructural conditions conducive to participation in the value chains is to be emphasised. The third area of activity concerns building a domestic production capacity. This includes supporting business development and increasing the bargaining power of local companies, as well as strengthening the skills of the workforce. The fourth area of activity includes providing a strong environmental, social and management framework for the development of GVC. In this respect, minimising the risk associated with GVC participation through regulations and public and private standards, as well as supporting local enterprises in order to comply with international standards, was considered as the key issue. The last policy area is the so-called synergy between commercial and investment policy and institutions. The aim of activities in these areas is to ensure coherence between trade and investment policy, synergisation of promotion and facilitation of trade and investment, as well as creation of regional factors of industrial development.

Moreover, a high level of complexity of GVC-oriented policies strengthens the challenges typical of a selective industrial policy. Among such challenges, Gorynia (1996) included imperfect information available to economic policy makers, technical limitations causing a lack of information flow on the best solutions that prevent rational decisions, excessive dependence on the influence of interest groups that can enforce decisions favourable to them, limited willingness of business entities to share information of fundamental importance until it is too late to intervene.

The challenge of adapting GVC-oriented industrial policies to the roles played by firms in these chains

Another challenge is related to the specificity of GVC-oriented industrial policy and the fact that enterprises can play different roles in these value chains, and relationships in these chains can be very complex.

This issue was investigated by Gereffi and Sturgeon (2013), who pointed to three key features that distinguish industrial policies focused on the global value chains. First, they indicated the importance of the role of suppliers. It is because industrial policies are increasingly based on a deep understanding of the value chain structures and industry business models. In this regard, it is particularly important to understand how the networks of suppliers and intermediaries of various processes (production of goods and services) are organised. The importance of suppliers is due to the fact that they are making many new investments that the catching-up countries are trying to get. In many cases, suppliers also generate the majority of exports. What is more, the largest suppliers serve many clients, so the success of the investment is not necessarily related to the success of one leading company. Secondly, they highlighted the importance of global sourcing and specialisation within the value chain. They pointed out to the challenge mentioned before by UNCTAD (2003) that policies promoting links with the global value chains have completely different goals than traditional industrial policies, which are aimed at building a fully developed, vertically integrated domestic industry. Such policies can be targeted at specialised niches in the global value chains, including, for example, niches with high value added. This kind of specialisation causes dependence on the value chain, including dependence on imported goods and services, and the fact that the entire value chain may never be intercepted by these enterprises. However, this position ensures that suppliers are constantly committed to the latest technologies, standards and "industry best practices". Thirdly, industrial policies focused on the value chains are characterised by advancement in these chains in terms of sophistication and value added. In this dimension, it is evident that the location of operations in a country by global suppliers also means long-term advantages. Leading local companies can rely on global suppliers and global supply chains for a variety of goods and services: from design, to production, logistics, to marketing and distribution. And this can reduce the risk and entry barriers for local businesses. It may include access to production capabilities and business scaling to sizes much larger than those offered by the domestic market and ensure the ability to offer products and services perfectly adapted to the highest world standards.

The challenge of adapting commercial policy to the needs of GVC

Another challenge to mention in the context of the GVC-oriented industrial policy is that the global production fragmentation results in growing trade in intermediate goods and services. This means that the global value chains are influenced by trade policies and trade duties, the value of which may accumulate within the value chain. These chains are also susceptible to the impact of non-tariff barriers.

This challenge was pointed out by Mirodout et al. (2013) who indicated that, if the production chain is vertically fragmented, then trade in intermediate goods and services becomes crucial. In this situation, it is important to recognise how this chain is affected by customs protection measures imposed on various types of intermediate goods and services that make it up. This is all the more important as the duties imposed on flows along the value chain are cumulative. This means that the trade policy of individual countries may have a positive or negative impact on the location of its various components. From the above observations, it can also be concluded that countries may more or less actively stimulate the integration of their economies into value chains in various areas. In order to apply such an active trade policy, it is necessary to thoroughly recognise the structure of value chains and the business models underlying them, as indicated by UNCTAD (2013).

The challenge of combining the GVC-oriented policy with the national economy development path

Very interesting challenges related to moving up the value chains appear in the stages of economic development path and the related GVC-oriented industrial policies.

These issues were studied by Taglioni and Winkler (2016), who said that less developed countries, thanks to the integration of their domestic companies (suppliers and end producers) with the global value chains, can help modernise their economies in three steps. At the first stage, countries should focus on integrating economies and enterprises into value chains. At this stage, attracting foreign investors and stimulating the participation of domestic enterprises in value chains is crucial. The second, more advanced stage includes seeking to expand and strengthen the participation of enterprises and economies in value chains by promoting economic modernisation and reinforcement or increase in the number of enterprises participating in value chains, as well as strengthening the absorption capacity of national enterprises. The third, most advanced stage aims to transform participation in value chains into sustainable development by promoting the growth of society's wellbeing, by increasing wages, health and safety, social cohesion, environmental protection, etc.

The challenge of combining the GVC-oriented policy with smart specialisation policies

A very interesting challenge from the point of view of shaping industrial policy and moving up the value chains is associated with combining GVC-oriented policy with smart specialisation policies.

Brennan and Rakhmatullin (2015) presented a very interesting concept of combining these two approaches at the regional level. These authors recommended an active policy towards the development of smart specialisations focused on GVC and based on four principles including: engaging in the industry and its stakeholders, anticipating the probable evolution of the industry in the world, assessing challenges and opportunities that are likely to arise from future industry trajectories, and responding proactively to these challenges and opportunities. In their opinion, the process based on these four principles should be sustainable and based on the active participation of the main stakeholders of the process. At the same time, they emphasised that it is necessary to combine investing in smart specialisations with a focus on GVC. For this reason, they recommended an in-depth analysis of such chains in a process they called M3DA (Mapping, Digging, Determining, Decomposing and Ascertaining). This process involves the subsequent stages of examining value chains, including: (1) value chain mapping taking into account various geographical and enterprise / organisational dimensions, (2) digging into the each stage in terms of terms of activities, resources, assets, capabilities, relationships and financial and operating data; (3) determining the chain orchestration in terms of actors, linkages and flows; (4) decomposing the activities at each stage into occupations and associated tasks; and (5) ascertaining the participation possibilities by considering not only the status quo, but by also predicting likely future development trajectories for a given value chain.

Radosevic and Ciampi Stancova (2018) are also advocates of combining the innovation policy based on the concept of smart specialisation with an approach based on a deeper understanding of GVC. In their research, they pointed out that directing less-developed countries and regions towards a path of growth based on research and development requires not only an endogenous knowledge and technology accumulation, but also links with an international knowledge and production network. Analysing the example of EU member states that joined it in 2004 and later, they pointed out that their innovation systems are fragmented and based largely on public R&D systems and direct foreign production-oriented investments. And it means that in these countries, according to these authors, a stronger support for innovation-oriented activities and integration with the global value chains and foreign direct investment in local innovation systems is necessary.

The challenge of combining the GVC-oriented industrial policy with cluster policy

Another challenge for moving up the value chains refers to combining the GVC-oriented industrial policy with a cluster policy.

In the middle of the first decade of the 21st century, Giuliani et al. (2005) pointed out that while enterprises can benefit from the development of industrial clusters to overcome their growth constraints. However, they recognised the external links of enterprises and the role of global buyers to support modernisation at a cluster level. Thus, these authors pointed to the importance of enterprise participation in the global value chains. They emphasised that thanks to this participation, they could strengthen their competitiveness and strengthen their competitive position in such chains. They also indicated that the development of industrial clusters could further strengthen the position of enterprises in value chains. They emphasised that the manner in which this chain is managed is also important for advancing the value chain. In quasi-hierarchical value chains, pressure to comply with standards imposed by leaders results in improved product and process modernisation, but functional modernisation is almost always inhibited.

The challenge of measuring and mapping GVC

A very important challenge for shaping policies oriented to moving up value chain is the fact that they must be based on evidence. However, measuring, understanding and describing the value chains is a difficult task.

One of the most popular measures describing the shape and structure of value chains at the national and international level is based on data on the structure of input-output flows, the construction of which was developed by Leontief (1937). Such tables for national economies and prepared every few years by the national statistical offices. Moreover, in recent years there were also developed international input-output tables for many countries including Poland. Nonetheless, availability of such tables to regions is very limited. What is available is only the estimates of such tables based on national input-output tables. In the case of Polish economy such tables were estimated by Zawalińska and Rok (2017), who developed voivodeship input-output tables for Poland. Earlier research in this area, as indicated by the above mentioned authors, was also conducted by Welfe et al. (2008), Godyń (2012) Chrzanowski (2013) and Torój (2016). As indicated by Lahr (1993), Boero et al. (2018) or the aforementioned Zawalińska and Rok (2017), such estimates are based on survey, non-survey and hybrid methods.

The advantage of examining value chains based on input-output flows is an in-depth analysis of industry and regional links, but for the analysis of specific industrial value chains and their actual shape, qualitative research with the participation of entrepreneurs is a better approach. This approach also dominates in the case of analyses of specific industries and value chains in which enterprises participate. One of such a method discussed above was proposed by Brennan and Rakhmatullin (2015), who called it M3DA.

The challenge of understanding Poland's current participation in GVC

In recent decades, Poland has significantly benefited from its participation in global and European value chains. Its inclusion in these chains was a consequence of the opening of the inflow of foreign investors and free trade – especially in relations with the EU. This resulted in a rapid increase in exports and the development of many sectors of the economy, including in particular those dominated by foreign investors. What is a negative side of such a development path is the overdependence on foreign investors in many sectors of the economy, which may prove to be impermanent as soon as they decide to relocate their activities outside the country. What is more, the willingness of foreign investors to relocate
to Poland all processes with the highest added value is a questionable issue. Finally, a relatively weak position of Polish enterprises in global and regional terms of value still remains a challenge for the economy.

In the above perspective, the implementation GVC-oriented policy aimed at moving up value chain remains a significant challenge for the Polish economy. Such a policy cannot take place without taking into account the specificity of Poland's participation in value chains, in particular without the understanding and improvement of concentration of European manufacturing activity in German-Central European production chain (Ayiar et al., 2013). This phenomenon was also described by Stehrer and Stöllinger (2015), who indicated that Europe's manufacturing activity is increasingly concentrated in the Central European (CE) core. This core is dominated by Germany and in addition comprises Austria and the four Visegrád countries (the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary and Poland). Positive effects for Poland resulting from its participation in CEMC cannot be questioned. However, a growing risk associated with the inability to move up the value chain cannot be ignored. Therefore, the understanding of Poland's participation in this core is one of most essential issues in the evidence based the GVC-oriented policy in Poland.

Summary

Summing up the above considerations, it should be indicated that there is a great potential for the GVC-oriented industrial policies. However, this approach is not without any shortcomings and problems typical of industrial policies. The understanding of the macro and micro challenges in moving up the global value chains and the related GVC-oriented policy issues discussed in this chapter are, however, an important starting point for improving the effectiveness of such a policy. Among the advantages of GVC-oriented industrial policy is the attention paid to building lasting demand links that stimulate the development of enterprises. Without a sustained demand stream, it is impossible to develop enterprises and effective supply side industrial policies, such as smart specialisations or cluster policy. Another feature of the GVC-oriented industrial policy is its transformational role. The inclusion in value chains stimulates not only demand but also the transfer of knowledge and technology - resulting from cooperation within the value chain. Such a policy also aims to strengthen enterprises from a country or region in their efforts to move up value chain. Moreover, it is also important to know that the ultimate goal of the GVC-oriented industrial policy is to promote growth of society's well-being, through increase in wages, health and safety, social cohesion, environmental protection, etc. Finally, in the case of Poland, it is necessary to understand Poland's position in the global value chains and especially its role in the German-Central European production chain and possibilities to move up these chains. The main challenges faced by the Polish economy in the context of the aforementioned analyses include: the challenge of choice between moving up the existing value chains or developing own value chains, challenge of implementing a multi-level industrial development policy, challenge of adapting GVC-oriented industrial policies to the roles played by firms in these chains and challenge of combining GVC-oriented policy with smart specialisation policies. The latter challenge is particularly important in the context of implemented regional development policies.

References

- Boero, R., Edwards, B.K., Rivera, M.K. (2018). Regional input-output tables and trade flows: an integrated and interregional non-survey approach, *Regional Studies*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 225–238, DOI: 10.1080/00343404.2017.1286009.
- Brennan, L., Rakhmatullin, P. (2015). Global Value Chains and Smart Specialisation Strategy, Thematic Work on the Understanding of Global Value Chains and their Analysis within the Context of Smart Specialisation; EUR 27649 EN; doi:10.2791/44840
- Buckley, P.J. (2009). Internalisation Thinking: From the Multinational Enterprise to the Global Factory, International Business Review, vol. 18, no. 3 (June), pp. 224–235.
- Gereffi, G. (2013). A global value chain perspective on industrial policy and development in emerging markets, *Duke Journal of Comparative & International Law*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 433–458.
- Giuliani, E., Pietrobelli, C., Rabellotti R. (2005). Upgrading in Global Value Chains: Lessons from Latin American Clusters, *World Development*, vol. 33, no. 4, April 2005, pp. 549–573.
- Godyń I. (2012). Analiza wykorzystania zasobów wodnych województwa śląskiego z zastosowaniem modelowania input-output, *Czasopismo Techniczne*. Środowisko, vol. 109, no. 4, pp. 69–85.
- Gorynia, M. (1996) Selektywna polityka przemysłowa w okresie transformacji, *Gospodarka Narodowa* 1996, no. 4, pp. 14–18.
- Lahr, M.L. (1993) A review of the literature supporting the hybrid approach to constructing regional input-output models, *Economic Systems Research*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 277–293.
- Leontief, W. (1937), Inter-relation of prices, output, savings and investment, Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 109–132.
- Miroudot, S., Rouzet, D., Spinelli, F. (2013). Trade Policy Implications of Global Value Chains: Case Studies, OECD Trade Policy Papers, no. 161, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k3tpt2t0zs1-en
- Radło M-J. (2013). Offshoring i outsourcing. Implikacje dla gospodarki i przedsiębiorstw, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw.
- Radło M-J. (2016). Offshoring, Outsourcing and Production Fragmentation. Linking Macroeconomic and Micro-Business Perspectives, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke and New York.
- Radosevic, S., Ciampi Stancova, K. (2018). Internationalising Smart Specialisation: Assessment and Issues in the Case of EU New Member States, *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp 263–293.
- Taglioni, D. and Winkler, D. (2016). Making Global Value Chains Work for Development, The World Bank, Washington.

- Torój, A., (2016). Regional economic impact assessment with missing input-output data: A spatial econometrics approach for Poland, *Central European Journal of Economic Modelling and Econometrics*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 61–91.
- UNCTAD. (2013). Global Value Chains: Investment and Trade for Development. World Investment Report 2013, UN, New York, Geneva.
- Welfe W., Świeczewska I., Florczak W., Karp P., (2008). Rozwój regionalny ujęcie ekonometryczne, Łódź: Społeczna Wyższa Szkoła Przedsiębiorczości i Zarządzania w Łodzi.
- Zawalińska, K., Rok, J. (2017). Wojewódzkie tablice przepływów międzygałęziowych dla Polski: konstrukcja i interpretacja, *Studia Regionalne i Lokalne*, no. 3(69), pp.29–53.

Homogeneity of Foreign Direct Investment-derived Technology Transfer Barriers across Transfer Channels. A Case Study Analysis

Tomasz M. Napiórkowski

Introduction

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) has been a formidable force behind the economic growth of both home and host countries. In cases like Poland, FDI has been a channel for a jump to a new development curve, which allows the host to increase the pace of its economic and political transformation. The problem that host countries face is that as they continue to develop, their economic growth will stop depending on the physical capital and the number of workers. In other words, strategies like "low-cost" strategy will stop being sufficient to continue growing. Therefore, these economies should be interested in the development of comparative advantage based on medium- and possibly on high-technology goods and services. Such economies can also benefit from FDI in this endeavour; however, public and private decision makers need to put policies in place to ensure that appropriate FDIs are attracted and that benefits of these investments can be transferred and implemented. This study focuses on the latter.

The aim of this study is to test a research hypothesis that in the case of developing economies, there is a homogeneity of technology transfer barriers across technology transfer channels. If this hypothesis is confirmed, then implications of this study will allow for the concentration of private and public policy decisions to best stimulate and make use of technology transferred from FDI firms. This aim will be achieved with an analysis of primary data on technology transfers collected from foreign firms conducting FDI in Poland. Poland, after its economic and political transformation at the end of the 20th century, is a quickly developing economy, which is continuously perceived as an attractive host for FDI. Therefore, it is a good representative case study for a group of developing economies, especially Central and Eastern European economies. Prior to the analysis of the collected data, technology is discussed from the perspective of growth theories and channels; furthermore, barriers and absorptive capacity of transferred technology are examined.

Given that (especially in the endogenous growth models) knowledge is used in the production of technology used by the final goods sector, it is important to establish definitions of both: technology and knowledge. Technology can be defined concisely as "the state of knowledge concerning ways of converting resources into outputs" (OECD 2019a), while its improvement as "new products and processes and significant technological changes of products and processes" (OECD 2019b). Knowledge is part of human capital, defined as "the knowledge, skills, competencies and attributes embodied in individuals that facilitate the creation of personal, social and economic well-being" (OECD 2001, p. 18). Another, parallel definition, is presented, e.g., by Weresa, who presents technology as "a general technical knowledge related to particular technical areas" and knowledge as "a set of statements related to the surrounding world, which is modified with the introduction of new information" (Weresa 2007, p. 28).

The role of technology transfers

Beginning with the neoclassical school of economic growth, Solow (1956) names technology as a multiplier of a production function consisting of physical capital and the number of workers. However, the author treats technology (and savings) as determined exogenously. Given that savings are used for the accumulation of physical capital in neoclassical models, Solow's (1956) approach is rather limited from the perspective of this study. This is especially evident when an economy reaches its steady state, where its per worker output growth rate in the neoclassical perspective is equal to the growth rate of exogenous technology (Romer 2001). Ramsey (1928, also see: Koopmans 1963; Cass 1965) treats savings as determined within the economy and shows that they are a vehicle for economic agents to reach "bliss", but technology is still determined outside the economy. This model explains how individuals' economic actions affect the speed of physical capital accumulation and therefore economic growth, but the growth horizon remains limited as technology stays outside the model. Diamond (1965) treats savings as determined by income and the rate of return, but savings are still used only for physical capital accumulation and creation of return on deferred consumption. Hence, under the assumptions of the neoclassical theories

of economic growth, technology transfers are responsible for economic growth per worker when the economy reaches its steady state. As much as this suggests that economic growth can continue indefinitely, this infinite horizon is subject to the existence and willingness of sources (e.g. countries) to transfer technology. Such a solution may be the most cost-effective solution for economies where the initial cost of research sector setup is too high (see e.g.: Weil 2009). Since there is no endogenous research sector and no own knowledge is created, it is logical to say that in neoclassical growth models, transferred knowledge is associated with the assimilation of transferred technology. For this reason and on the basis on the definition of technology by OECD (2019a), in the case of the studied models, there are no transfers of knowledge *per se*, but only of technology.¹

Shifting to an endogenous growth models perspective, Romer (1986) using the concept of learning-by-doing introduced by Arrow (1962), showed that new knowledge (needed for production and application of new technology) can be obtained by minimising associated costs (i.e. a short-term fall in production resulting from redirection of resources from the production to the research sector). This observation is important in endogenous models because these models require a share of resources to be employed in the research and not in the production of goods and services. In addition to being a source of technology, Lucas (1988) sees human capital as increasing productivity of physical capital and labour and its accumulation as a function of an already existing stock of it and investment in it. Even though Romer (1990) treats innovations (i.e. new technology) vertically, i.e. each innovation is a new good, while Aghion and Howitt (1992) take a horizontal perspective² implementing a creative destruction process; both models also highlight the need for investment in human capital as a source of economic growth. Higher economic growth leads to higher income, which leads to higher savings (Harris, Loundes and Webster 2002; Horioka and Wan 2007); therefore, a higher accumulation of human (and physical) capital and technology. This allows, unlike in the neoclassical case, theoretically for no limit to the level of per worker output created endogenously. If there is an endogenous research sector and the inclusion of the domestic firm in the global value chain is due to Foreign Direct Investment, then in addition to the direct transfer of technology and knowledge (Tülüce and Dğan 2014; Temiz and Gökmen 2014; Liu, Agbola and Dzator 2016; Svedin and Stage 2016; Wang and Wu 2016), there will also be an indirect path of technology and knowledge stimulation in the host economy. Specifically, through higher wages paid by foreign

¹ Even if knowledge unrelated to the transferred technology was transferred to the recipient country, it would be lost due to the lack of an endogenous research sector.

² In the real world, it is possible to distinguish between vertical innovation and horizontal innovation; however, it is impossible to claim which innovations are pushing the technology frontier forward more. The Internet is a horizontal innovation, which has changed the world; as did the car that replaced the horse carriage (i.e. a vertical innovation).

firms (Tomohara and Takii 2011; Javorcik 2015), domestic investments in both forms of capital increase, and serve as inputs into the research sector producing new knowledge used by the intermediate goods sector to produce new technology later employed in the production of final goods. Due to the presence of an endogenous research sector and investments in domestic human capital accumulation, an economy is not dependent on the transfers of technology and knowledge and the transferred knowledge can be used as an input into the domestic production of technology.

Romer (1990) along with Aghion and Howitt (1992) see the need for new technology and knowledge to create above-average profits (similarly to the perspective on the rate of return on savings, i.e. deferred consumption by Diamond 1965). This means that transfers of technology will change the market structures, in which they take place. From the microeconomic perspective, the transfers impact the receiving firm generally in two ways: reduction of average total costs or goods/service differentiation through, e.g., new features or higher quality. In both cases, the receiving firm should gain an advantage and therefore achieve above-average profits.³ If the receiving firm operates in a perfectly competitive market and new technology will lead to lower average total costs, the firm will achieve profits as price will be higher than the new average total cost. This profit will be maintained until innovation arrives at the market or there is a diffusion of the profit-granting technology and knowledge to other firms. The diffusion of technology will allow new firms to enter the market, which will return the perfectly competitive market into its equilibrium. If the described transfers lead to product differentiation, the market structure will change from a perfect competition to a monopolistic competition and the obtained technology will act as an entry barrier (see e.g. Hoskisson 2008) or at least as a source of competitive advantage. A similar effect will be seen if the receiving firm starts in a monopolistic competition or an oligopoly⁴ market structure. The firm will temporarily achieve higher profits due to attracting more customers with product differentiation and/or obtain higher profits due to lower average total costs. It is possible that the analysed transfers will create a monopoly. However, because the transferred technology is new to the market, but not new to the world⁵, the created monopoly will be a local monopoly only. Also, since the diffusion of knowledge is inevitable, a monopoly created with technology transfers will be a temporary monopoly. This means that the studied transfers can increase or decrease competition in the domestic market.

³ This assumes that the transferred technology is not freely available.

⁴ Due to product differentiation, oligopoly will change to a monopolistic completion.

⁵ It is very unlikely that any firm which has paid the cost of knowledge and technology development would transfer new to the world technology or knowledge to its partners.

The elements of technology transfer process

The process of transferred technology impacting the level of technology in a host country is a two-stage process. First, there is a transfer of technology and then its diffusion. The idea that transfers and diffusion should be distinguished from one another is highlighted by Kuzel (2007), while Ciborowski (2016) provides an overview of the studied process from the step-by-step perspective (the identification of partner's needs, the subject of the transfer to post transfer feedback etc.). Smeets (2009), who (when talking about transfers and the diffusion of knowledge) provides a very direct definition of transfer as a "purposeful or intended diffusion ... from one firm to the other, which creates no externality" (Smeets 2009, p. 109). Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad (2017) provide a clear definition of spillovers (originally as they refer to technology): "spillover refers to the beneficial impacts of new technological knowledge on the productivity and technological capability of other firms or countries" (Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad 2017, p. 209). Newman, Rand, Talbot and Trap (2015) further differentiate spillovers into: "horizontal, or intra-sector, spillovers ... [as] those that result from knowledge and technology used by FDI firms transferred to competing firms in the same sector ... [and vertical], or inter-sector, spillovers ... [as] those that transfer through the supply chain from foreign intermediate suppliers to domestic producers or more commonly from foreign-invested firms to domestic input suppliers" (Newman, Rand, Talbot and Trap 2015, pp. 168–169).

The portrayal of transfer as a purposeful or intended diffusion suggests that it can only be conducted through official channels (e.g., demonstration, training), which excludes for instance labour mobility. Later, the diffusion of transferred technology and knowledge on the other hand can take place through all types of channels. The analysis of literature from the perspective of channels identification has led to a concentrated list, which is an indication of a consensus among the researchers (see Table 1).

An important role in the transfer of technology process is played by absorptive capacity⁶ (Borensztein, De Gregorio and Lee 1998; Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Iamsiraroj and Ulubaşoğlu 2015), which acts as a moderator. Therefore, it is possible to classify its elements as they constitute the list of barriers to a successful transfer. Glass and Saggi (1998), Lall and Narula (2004) and Velde (2006) point to the lack of human capital (chiefly education or training, but – per Azam and Ahmed 2014 – also to health) and to a technological gap as possible factors inhibiting the transfer of technology, especially that of the cutting edge. Similarly, Blomström and Sjöholm (1999) mention that benefits of such transfers

⁶ Absorptive capacity can be understood as "the ability of a firm to recognise the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends is critical to its innovative capabilities" (Cohen and Levinthal 1990; definition later adopted by e.g. Apriliyanti and Alon 2017).

cannot be realised if the technological gap between the foreign firm and the domestic partner is too large and Qian and Acs (2013) also highlighted the crucial role of human capital. Vega-Jurado, Gutierrez-Gracia, and Fernandez-de-Lucio (2008) point out that absorptive capacity also depends on organisation factors like: 1/ organisational knowledge, 2/ the level of formalisation and 3/ the mechanism of social integration (that aims to limit the barriers in the process or information flow in the firm). Murovec and Prodan (2009) add to this list e.g. cooperation in innovation and firm's general approach to change. Schmidt's (2010) observations fall in line with the conclusions of Lucas (1988) as Schmidt – in addition to organisational factors like structure and approach related to human resource management – sees the aforementioned knowledge and individual abilities as determinants of absorptive capacity. This notion is supported by Lichtenthaler (2016), who shows that the type of knowledge (i.e. technology and market oriented) also is important.

Channels	Source
Labour mobility/turnover	OECD 2002; Glass and Saggi 2002; Sinani and Meyer 2004; Lall and Narula 2004; Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Liu and Buck 2007; Liu 2008; Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad 2017
Demonstration/imitation	Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Liu and Buck 2007; Michorowska 2012; Kim, Lee and Lee 2015; Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad 2017
Training	Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad 2017
Observation	Liu and Buck 2007; Liu 2008
Export	Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Liu and Buck 2007
Import	Liu and Buck 2007
Competition	Blomström and Sjöholm 1999; Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Michorowska 2012; Kim, Lee and Lee 2015
Cooperation ^a	OECD 2002; Sinani and Meyer 2004; Lall and Narula 2004; Crespo and Fontoura 2007; Liu and Buck 2007; Liu 2008; Michorowska 2012; Newman, Rand, Talbot and Trap 2015; Kim, Lee and Lee 2015; Salim, Razavi and Afshari-Mofrad 2017

Table 1. Summary of the results of literature study on channels of technology transfer and spillovers

^a Cooperation includes cooperation in value chains (horizontal and vertical) also backward and forward linkages, contractual agreements, business transactions, working among MNEs and internationalisation of processes (e.g. R&D)

Source: author's material based on the sources listed in the table.

A case study of Poland

Poland is one of the most attractive countries for foreign investors. In 2018, inward FDI flows equaled to 1.96% of the Polish GDP and inward FDI stock to 39.57% of it. For comparison, world averages took values of 1.52% and 37.90% respectively (UNCTAD 2020). Poland is also a country, in which inward FDI has played a significant role in its economic

transformation and economic growth (Popescu 2014). Additionally, the Polish economy is one of the fastest growing economies. For example, the annual growth of GDP *per capita* in 2018 in Poland was equal to 5.14%, and for the European Union it was 1.81% (World Bank 2020). Based on these observations and conclusions made when discussing the role technology transfers in the light of economic growth theory Poland is an interesting case study for the topic of technology transfers.

In 2017/2018, the Computer Assisted Telephone Interview method was used to collect primary data on 302 FDI firms in Poland that transferred technology to Polish firms.⁷ Population was represented by FDI firms in Poland and consisted of 2,358 firms (Polish Investment and Trade Agency 2017), yielding 5.27% margin of error at a 95% confidence level.⁸

Table 2. Channels used in the technology transfer from a foreign firm to a domestic firm

Channel	Demonstration	Demonstration Training Collat		Collaboration with firms down the value chain	Knowledge transfer
% of n	21.52%	54.64%	18.54%	8.28%	65.23%

n = 302, more than one answer was possible.

Source: author's material based on the collected data.

From the listed five possible channels of technology transfer (Table 2), transfer of knowledge proved to be the most popular means (65.23%); followed by training (54.64%). Interestingly, demonstration and collaboration with firm up the value chain and separately down the value chain were selected sparingly (21.52%, 18.54% and 8.28%, respectively). These results show that, in addition to being the subject of transfer, knowledge can be a channel for the technology transfer. The observation that transferred knowledge is associated with the assimilation of the transferred technology falls in line with observations made when discussing neoclassical growth theories. Therefore, it can be hypothesised that knowledge transferred from FDI to Polish firms is not an input into the Polish endogenous research sector and the impact of these technology transfers is best described from the neoclassical growth theories' perspective.

In terms of barriers to a successful technology transfer (Table 3), administrative (47.68%) and legal (32.45%) are outliers as other barriers are incomparable: lack of human capital readiness (16.23%), lack of physical capital readiness (9.93%), technology gap (4.64%) and

⁷ Data collection was financed with funds obtained from the "Konkurs na zadania badawcze i prace rozwojowe służące rozwojowi młodych naukowców (wiek do 35 lat) oraz uczestników studiów doktoranckich na rok 2017".

⁸ This specification information is based on n=302 and N=2,358. It was not possible to estimate the fraction of the entire population consisting of only FDI firms that transferred technology to Polish firms. The population and the list of possible respondents was defined according to the document "List of Major Foreign Investors in Poland – December 2015", which was the most up-to-date list at the time the study was conducted.

financial (3.97%) with 10.93% of firm declaring no barriers. As can be seen, key identified barriers are not connected with elements of human capital. The legislative and administrative environment are key hindrances. Such a result is a strong signal to policymakers to introduce changes which would lower these barriers. The obtained results fall in line with the observations and conclusions of the report on ease of doing business conducted by the World Bank (2019) and a comprehensive report by Dzienis, Kowalski, Lachowicz, Mackiewicz, Napiórkowski and Weresa (2018).

Table 3. Barriers in the technology transfer from a foreign firm to a domestic firm

Barrier	Lack of physical capital readiness	Lack of human capital readiness	Technological gap	Administrative	Legal	Financial	None
% of n	9.93%	16.23%	4.64%	47.68%	32.45%	3.97%	10.93%

n = 302, more than one answer was possible.

Source: author's material based on the collected data.

Channel/Barrier	Lack of physical capital readiness	Lack of human capital readiness	Technological gap	Administrative	Legal	Financial	None
Demonstration	7.7%	15.4%	7.7%	38.5%	35.4%	7.7%	13.8%
Training:	8.5%	18.2%	6.1%	46.1%	30.3%	4.8%	12.1%
Collaboration with firms up the value chain	16.1%	21.4%	10.7%	25.0%	19.6%	12.5%	21.4%
Collaboration with firms down the value chain	12.0%	36.0%	24.0%	32.0%	20.0%	20.0%	0.0%
Knowledge transfer	12.2%	16.2%	4.1%	47.7%	34.5%	3.6%	12.7%

Table 4. Barriers in technology transfer from a foreign firm to a domestic firm acrossthe channels used

n = 302, more than one answer was possible.

Source: author's material based on the collected data.

Crossing channels with barriers (Table 4), it is visible that administrative barriers are the key barriers across all listed channels. At the same time, when the transfer is conducted via collaboration with firms down the value chain, a lack of human capital is the key barrier to a successful technology transfer (36%). This is also the second (21.4%) key barrier to foreign firms collaborating with Polish firms up the value chain. Also in case of collaboration down the value chain, technological gap (24%) is much more important than in the case of other channels. Therefore, in terms of technology transfer to Polish firms through collaboration within the value chain, traditional literature-derived barriers of human capital and technology gap play a more important role than in the case of other technology transfer channels.

Conclusions

The study has examined the role of technology for the receiving economy from the perspective of two major families of growth theories. It has also shown that the literature provides a wide range of possible channels as well as possible barriers to a successful technology transfer from a foreign to a domestic firm.

These steps, accompanied by a case study of Poland as a representative of a fast growing developing economy, attractive to FDI allowed the author to conclude that in the case of developing economies, administrative barriers are generally crucial across all transfer channels. With regard to the other studied barriers, they tend to depend on the transfer channel used. When technology is transferred through collaboration with firms down the value chain, the lack of human capital turned out to be the key issue at hand. The same barrier is also noteworthy when collaborating with firms up the value chain. Lastly, when technology was transferred through training and demonstration, legal barriers were of second concern. Therefore, the research hypothesis claiming that there is a homogeneity of technology transfer barriers across technology transfer channels was not confirmed.

The presented results have a practical application in three interest groups. First, policymakers; in addition to traditional actions aimed at attracting FDI, policymakers should consider introducing solutions which would ease the administrative barriers faced by foreign investors. Policymakers should also think about supporting businesses in human capital development and technology production or acquisition. Business owners, who are the second interest group, should consider introducing more training and education as means of increasing their workers' human capital. If such programs exist, business owners should also make an active use of any aid provided by the public sector in building their absorptive capacity. Lastly, the obtained results show that as much as foreign investors should be ready for administrative barriers regardless of the channel, other barriers tend to depend on the transfer channel used. For example, when the foreign firm decides to transfer technology to the local firm through collaboration within the value chain, they should account for the lack of human capital.

The study also concludes that technology is a significant factor of production in both neoclassical and endogenous growth theories; however, its importance is greater in a case without an endogenous research sector. Secondly, due to the complexity of FDI impact on the host economy, for a host with an endogenous research sector there also exists a residual

path of endogenous research process stimulation, i.e. via labour market stimulation. Thirdly, transfer of technology can either increase or (temporarily) decrease competition in the domestic market. Most interestingly however, the study finds that as much as the classic barriers represented by elements of absorptive capacity proved to be of significance when the studied transfers are conducted through collaboration within the value chain, overall key identified barriers represent the administrative and legal environment present in the receiving country.

This study can be treated as one providing background for further studies undertaking the topic of technology transfers, and their impact on the receiving firm and the entire host economy. The study also arrives at applicable conclusions regarding the role of private and public policy makers in creating a technology transfer-friendly environment. Further studies could repeat the empirical part presented here in countries like Poland, e.g. other three members of the Visegrád Group.

References

- Arrow, K.J. (1962). The economic implications of learning by doing. The Review of Economic Studies, 29(3), 155–173. https://doi.org/10.2307/2295952
- Aghion, P., Howitt, P. (1992). A model of growth through creative destruction. *Econometrica*, 60(2), 323–351. https://doi.org/10.2307/2951599
- Apriliyanti, I.D., Alon, I. (2017). Bibliometric analysis of absorptive capacity. International Business Review, 26(5), 896–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2017.02.007
- Azam M., Ahmed A.M. (2014). Role of human capital and Foreign Direct Investment in promoting economic growth. International Journal of Social Economics, 42(2), 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-05-2014–0092
- Blomström, M., Sjöholm, F. (1999). Technology transfer and spillovers: Does Local participation with multinationals matter? *European Economic Review*, 43 (4-6), 915–923. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2921(98) 00104–4
- Borensztein E., Gregorio J. De, Lee, J-W. (1998). How does Foreign Direct Investment affect economic growth? Journal of International Economics", 45(1), 115–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1996(97) 00033-0
- Cass, D. (1965). Optimum growth in an aggregative model of capital accumulation. The Review of Economic Studies, 34(4), 833–850. https://doi.org/10.2307/1910103
- Ciborowski, R. (2016). Międzynarodowy transfer technologii a innowacyjność krajów Europy Środkowo-Wschodniej. Białystok: Polskie Towarzystwo Ekonomiczne.
- Cohen, W.M., Levinthal, D.A. (1990). Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35(1), 28–152. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393553
- Crespo, N., Fontoura, M.P. (2007). Determinant factors of FDI spillovers What do we really know? World Development, 35(3), 410–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2006.04.001

- Diamond, P.A. (1965). National debt in neoclassical growth model. *The American Economic Review*, 55(5), 1126–1150, http://www.jstor.org/stable/1809231
- Dzienis, A., Kowalski, A.M., Lachowicz, M., Mackiewicz, M., Napiórkowski, T.M., Weresa, M.A. (2018). A Study on Structural Reform in Poland 2013–2018. Competitiveness Report 2018. Online report. WIFO Studies, 61677. https://ideas.repec.org/b/wfo/wstudy/61677.html
- Glass A.J., Saggi K. (1998). International technology transfer and the technology gap. Journal of Development Economics, 55(2), 369–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3878(98)00041-8
- Glass, A.J., Saggi, K. (2002). Multinational firms and technology transfer. Scandinavian Journal of Economics, 104(4), 495–513. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3440978
- Harris, M.N., Loundes, J., Webster, E. (2002). Determinants of household saving in Australia. The Economic Record, 78(241), 2017–223. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-4932.00024
- Horioka, Ch.Y., Wan, J. (2007). The determinants of household saving in China: A dynamic panel analysis of provincial data. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 39(8), 2077–2096. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-4616.2007.00099.x
- Hoskisson, R. E, Hitt, M.A., Ireland, R.D., Harrison, J.S. (2008). *Competing for Advantage*. Mason: Thomson South-Western.
- Iamsiraroj S., Ulubaşoğlu M.A. (2015). Foreign direct investment and economic growth: A real relationship or wishful thinking? *Economic Modelling*, 51. 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2015.08.009
- Javorcik, B.S. (2015). Does FDI bring good jobs to host countries? World Bank Research Observer, 30(1), 74–94. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lku010
- Kim, H-H, Lee, H., Lee, J. (2015). Technology Diffusion and host-country productivity in south-south FDI flows. Japan and the World Economy, 33, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japwor.2014.11.001
- Koopmas, T.C. (1963). On the concept of optimal economic growth. Cowles Foundation Discussion Paper, 163, 1–38. https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:cwl:cwldpp:163
- Kuzel, M. (2007). Rola Bezpośrednich Inwestycji Zagranicznych w dyfuzji wiedzy i umiejętności na przykładzie gospodarki Polski. Toruń: Dom Organizatora.
- Lall, S., Narula, R. (2004). Foreign Direct Investment and its role in economic development: Do we need a new agenda? *The European Journal of Development Research*, 16(3), 447–464. https://doi.org/10.1080/0957881042
- Liu, W.S., Agbola, F.W., Dzator, J.A. (2016). The impact of FDI spillover effects on total factor productivity in the Chinese electronic industry: a panel data analysis. *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, 21(2), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/13547860.2015.1137473
- Liu, X., Buck, T. (2007). Innovation performance and channels for international technology spillovers: evidence from Chinese high-tech industries. *Research Policy*, 36(3), 355–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2006.12.003
- Liu, Z. (2008) Foreign Direct Investment and technology spillovers: Theory and evidence. Journal of Development Economics, 85 (1-2), 176–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.07.001
- Lichtenthaler, U. (2016). Determinants of absorptive capacity: The value of technology and market orientation for external knowledge acquisition. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 31(5), 600–610. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-04-2015–0076

- Lucas, R.E. (1988). On the mechanics of economic development. *Journal of Monetary Economics*", 22(1), 3–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3932(88) 90168-7
- Michorowska, B. (2012). Oddziaływanie firm z kapitałem zagranicznym na przedsiębiorstwa krajowe w Polsce. In: M.A. Weresa, K. Poznańska (Eds.), Procesy tworzenia wiedzy oraz transferu osiągnięć naukowych i technologicznych do biznesu (pp. 245–276). Warsaw: Warsaw School of Economics Publishing House.
- Murovec, N., Prodan, I. (2009). Absorptive capacity, its determinants, and influence on innovation output: Cross-cultural validation of the structural model. *Technovation*, 29(12), 859–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. technovation.2009.05.010
- Newman, C., Rand, J., Talbot, T., Trap, F. (2015). Technology transfers, foreign investment and productivity spillovers. European Economic Review, 76, 168–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2015.02.005
- OECD. (2001). The well-being of nations. The role of human and social capital. Online report. OECD. http://www.oecd.org/site/worldforum/33703702.pdf. Accessed 16 December 2019.
- OECD. (2002). Foreign Direct Investment for Development. Maximizing Benefits, Minimizing Costs. Paris: OECD Publishing Service.
- OECD. (2019a). Technology. Online definition. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2692. Accessed 17 November 2019.
- OECD. (2019b). Technological innovation. Online definition. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail. asp?ID=2688. Accessed 17 November 2019.
- Polish Investment and Trade Agency. (2017). List of Major Foreign Investors in Poland December 2015. Database. https://www.paih.gov.pl/publications/foreign_investors_in_poland. Accessed 10 October 2017.
- Popescu, G.H. (2014). FDI and economic growth in Central and Eastern Europe. Sustainability, 6(11), 8149– -8163. https://doi.org/10.3390/su6118149
- Qian H., Acs Z.J. (2013). An absorptive capacity theory of knowledge spillover entrepreneurship. Small Business Economics, 40(2), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-011–9368-x
- Ramsey, F.P. (1928). A mathematical theory of saving. *The Economic Journal*, 35(152), 543–559. https://doi.org/10.2307/2224098
- Romer, P.M. (1986). Increasing returns and long-run growth. The Journal of Political Economy, 94(5), 1002– 1037. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1833190
- Romer, P.M. (1990). Endogenous technological change. Journal of Political Economy, 98(5), S71-S102. https:// www.jstor.org/stable/2937632
- Romer, D. (2001). Advanced macroeconomics. New York: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Salim, A., Razavi, M.R., Afshari-Mofrad, M. (2017). Foreign Direct Investment and technology spillover in Iran: The role of technological capabilities of subsidiaries. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 122, 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.09.012
- Schmidt, T. (2010). Absorptive capacity One size fits all? A Firm-level analysis of absorptive capacity for different kinds of knowledge. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 31(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mde.1423
- Sinani, E., Meyer, K.E. (2004). Spillovers of technology transfer from FDI: The case of Estonia. Journal of Comparative Economics, 32(3), 445–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2004.03.002
- Smeets, R. (2008). Collecting the pieces of the FDI knowledge spillovers puzzle. World Bank Research Observer, 23(2), 107–138. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkn003

- Solow, R. (1956). A contribution to the theory of economic growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 70(1), 65–94. https://doi.org/10.2307/1884513
- Svedin, D., Stage, J. (2016). Impacts of Foreign Direct Investment on efficiency in Swedish manufacturing. SpringerPlus, 5(614), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-2238-x
- Tang, Y., Zhang, K.H. (2016). Absorptive capacity and benefits from FDI: Evidence from Chinese manufactured exports. *International Review of Economics and Finance*, 42, 423–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iref.2015.10.013
- Temiz, D., Gökmen, A. (2014). FDI inflow as an international business operation by MNCs and economic growth: An empirical study on Turkey. *International Business Review*, 23(1), 145–154. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2013.03.003
- Tomohara, A., Takii, S. (2011). Does globalization benefit developing countries? Effects of FDI on local wages. *Journal of Policy Modelling*, 33(3), 511–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2010.12.010
- Tülüce, N.S., Doğan, İ. (2014). The impact of Foreign Direct Investment on SMEs' development. Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 150, 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.012
- UNCTAD. (2020). Foreign direct investment: Inward and outward flows and stock, annual. Database. https://unctadstat.unctad.org/wds/TableViewer/tableView.aspx. Accessed 17 January 2020.
- Vega-Jurado, J., Gutiérrez-Gracia, A., Fernández-de-Lucio, I. (2008). Analysing the determinants of firm's absorptive capacity: beyond R&D. *R&D Management*, 38(4), 392–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467– 9310.2008.00525.x
- Velde D.W. de. (2006). Foreign Direct Investment and development. An historical perspective. Background paper for World Economic and Social Survey for 2006. Overseas Development Institute. https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/850.pdf. Accessed 16 June 2013.
- Wang, C.C., Wu, A. (2016). Geographical FDI knowledge spillover and innovation of indigenous firms in China. International Business Review, 25(4), 895–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.12.004
- Weil, D.N. (2009). Economic growth. Boston: Pearson Addison Wesley.
- Weresa, M.A. (2007). Formy i metody powiązań nauki i biznesu. In: M.A. Weresa (Ed.), *Transfer wiedzy z nauki do biznesu. Doświadczenia regionu Mazowsze* (pp. 23–40). Warsaw: Warsaw School of Economics Publishing House.
- World Bank. (2019). Doing Business 2019. Training for Reform. Report. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1326-9. Accessed 15 January 2020.
- World Bank. (2020). GDP per capita growth (annual %). Database. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NY.GDP.PCAP.KD.ZG. Accessed 17 January 2020.

PART TWO

Empirical Analysis of the Polish-German Case Study

Part Two of this book consists of five separate texts. Each of them undertakes a specific element of the Polish-German economic and political relationship; beginning with a general analysis of the position of Poland in the global value chains and ending with the policy development and analysis.

This part consists of five texts:

- "Poland's Position in the Global Value Chains between 2004 and 2014" by Krzysztof Falkowski,
- 2. "German-Polish Trade Relations from the Perspective of Trade in Value Added with Specific Focus on Trade in Digital Technologies" by Andreas Bielig,
- 3. "German-Polish Trade after 2004 and the German FDI in Poland and the Polish FDI in Germany. Comparative Analysis" by Katarzyna Kamińska,
- 4. "Challenges in Sustaining Germany's Export-oriented Economic Model" by Jurgen Wandel,
- 5. "German's and Poland's Positions on the New EU Industrial Policy. Common and Conflicting Interests" by Adam A. Ambroziak.

Poland's Position in the Global Value Chains between 2004 and 2014

Krzysztof Falkowski

Introduction

Dynamic processes of globalisation, internationalisation of economic activity, coopetition or ICT revolution observed in today's global economy, along with the liberalisation of economic relations, lead to changes in the degree and character of international economic connections, and significantly determine the level of economic and social development of every country. As a consequence, the increasing competition in the international markets of goods and factors of production, which actually affects companies as well as national economies as a whole, and a more distinct diversification in the level of development of every country in the world are becoming a growing challenge (Hämäläinen, 2003).

Importantly, however, these processes also make significant changes in the businesrelated conditions, including transaction costs. And the dynamically developing international competition, also in terms of business location conditions, to a large extent, enforces their decline. It is also a consequence of a declining risk related to the establishment and maintenance of contacts between companies from different countries, more effective coordination of international joint ventures as well as more effective control of production processes related to them (Kuźnar, 2017). All this means that an increasing proportion of trade, including foreign investment, is carried out within the framework of the global value chains (GVCs). Thus, exported goods and services contain a significant contribution of value (value added) of intermediate goods coming from abroad. In the reality of today's globalised

Krzysztof Falkowski

economy, it is rare for a country to specialise in the production of a specific product (good or service) creating the entire value chain. Naturally, the Polish economy and Polish companies also participate in all these processes.

Defining initially the term global chains itself, it is worth noting that a value chain means any activity undertaken by companies and employees from the moment the product (good or service) is created until its final use, and which eventually determines the value that the company provides to the environment (economy) (Kuźnar, 2017). T. Rojek, on the other hand, defines value chains as a process of "adding" value to a product, beginning with the company purchases of raw materials, materials, semi-finished products, etc., necessary for the production process. Thus, the value chain includes production, logistics, marketing and ends with providing customers with additional services (Rojek, 2014).

On the other hand, when talking about global value chains, which is the subject of this study, we mean the situation where companies from different countries of the world are involved in different stages of the aforementioned process as well as different geographical locations, where a specific product creation stage takes place (Humphrey, Schmitz 2002; Gereffi, Humphrey, Sturgeon 2005).

The purpose of this study is to attempt a synthetic assessment of Poland's place in the global value chains.

This study advances a thesis that, over the period of 2004–2014, Poland's role as a supplier and subcontractor for foreign companies increased much more than a role of a recipient of value added used to manufacture products (goods and services) for export.

In the process of preparing this analysis of Poland's place in the global value chains, the data from the World Input-Output Database (WIOD) were used, prepared for research by the World Economy Research Institute in 2019 as part of the project *One Belt-One Road. A new silk road to a multipolar global economy*? The prepared analysis covers the period 2004–2014, which is determined by the availability of the WIOD data.

Global production structure in Poland in 2004 and 2014

To begin with, it should be indicated that Poland gradually built its position in the world economy in the analysed period. Poland's output increased from 490 billion dollars in 2004 to more than 830 billion dollars in 2014. In the category of value added, which has a direct impact on the value of the country's GDP – the Polish economy gained quite a lot over the same period, i.e. as much as 67% (there was an increase in this range from over 225 billion dollars to over 376 billion dollars). However, despite such a significant increase in total value added in the Polish economy, Poland did not gain as much in this regard as the other so-called medium-sized economies, e.g. the economy of South Korea or Russia (Figure 1).

In addition, there was also a significant growth of 65.2% in the national material intensity in Poland (from about 208 billion dollars to about 343 billion dollars). However, what deserves a particular emphasis is the fact that between 2004 and 2014, the Polish economy significantly increased its dependence on supply imports; while in 2004 the value of supply imports in Poland was amounted to 56 billion dollars, in 2014 it was already about 112 billion dollars. This meant a double value in just 10 years. Interestingly, the contribution of supply imports from China to this increase was relatively large. It increased by little over 7 times, from 750.6 million dollars in 2004 to 5.3 billion dollars.





Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

Referring to the structure of Polish supply imports, it should be noted that the economies of the European Union traditionally attached a great significance to it. Nevertheless, China's importance was on the rise, which has already been mentioned.

Share of intermediate goods in Polish imports between 2004 and 2014

A relatively high degree of the share of Poland in the global value chains is shown in the data presented in Table 1, relating to the share of intermediate goods in Polish imports. It is worth noting here that intermediate goods include unprocessed beverages and food for

industry, processed beverages and food for industry, unprocessed industrial goods not included in other sectors, processed fuels and lubricants, capital goods (except for means of transport and parts) and their accessories and transport parts and accessories.

Import from:	2004	2008	2010	2014
Within the EU-28	61.0	57.8	58.4	54.7
Outside the EU-28	70.5	62.8	62.6	61.8
World	63.3	59.2	59.6	56.8

Table 1. Share of intermediate goods in Polish imports between 2004 and 2014 (in %)

Source: author's material based on the Eurostat data.

However, it is worth noting that the importance of intermediate goods in Polish imports, measured by their share, decreases quite significantly from year to year. If, for example, we take into account the share of intermediate goods in total Polish imports; while it was 63.3% in 2004, it was only 53.9% in 2018. The same trend occurred in Polish imports of intermediate goods divided into imports from the EU28 countries and those outside the EU28.

A long-term declining share of imports of intermediate goods in Polish imports in general may indicate an improvement in the modernity of the Polish economy (less dependence on imports of components from abroad) and an increase in the wealth of society (as this decline is accompanied by an increase in the share of consumer goods) (Kuźnar, 2017).

Recipients of global output in Poland in 2004 and 2014

Analysing the data on the so-called forward participation, it should be noted that Poland significantly increased the value of its exports between 2004 and 2014 (Figure 2). This figure was 422.6 billion dollars in 2004 and it came up to 662.1 billion dollars in 2014. It meant an increase of 57%. Admittedly, this increase was not as impressive as in China, Russia or South Korea, but it nevertheless showed a significant improvement in the position of the Polish economy in the international labour division over the period of 2004–2014 and it should be given an absolutely positive assessment.

Also noteworthy is the increase in the share of domestic recipients in total output, which was undoubtedly a consequence of the dynamic development of the Polish economy and the increase in the real purchasing power of Polish consumers, in both household and corporate sectors.





Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

Foreign value added in the exports of goods from Poland and the recipients of domestic value added embodied in foreign final goods in 2004 and 2014

The foreign value added in exports of goods from Poland turns out to be generally very small in the analysed period, as it oscillated around 2% in 2014 (Figure 3). However, in the period 2004 and 2014, the analogous value in 2004 was slightly over 1.65%. Definitely, the foreign value added in Polish exports was traditionally most significant in relation to the EU28 countries, where value added in Polish exports of goods amounted to 10.9% in 2004 and 11.1% in 2014. To a large extent, it comes as a consequence of Poland's membership of the European Single Market within the EU and more generally, our membership of the European Union

Similarly, the EU28 member states played the most important role in the analysed period 2004–2014 as the main recipients of national value added embodied in foreign final goods (Figure 4). In 2004, this share was 11.4%, while in 2014 it increased slightly to 13.4%. Poland's relatively important partner in this regard was traditionally the US economy, but the corresponding share of this country amounted to 1% and 1.2% respectively.



Figure 3. Foreign value added in exports of goods from Poland in 2004 and 2014 (%)

Others (WIOD): Australia, Brazil, India, Indonesia, Canada, Mexico, Norway, Russia, Switzerland, Turkey. Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

Figure 4. Recipients of domestic value added embodied in foreign final goods in Poland in 2004 and 2014 (in %)



Others (WIOD): Australia, Brazil, India, Indonesia, Canada, Mexico, Norway, Russia, Switzerland, Turkey. Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database. According to the data presented in Figure 4, the total foreign value added embodied in domestic (Polish) final goods increased from 17% to 21% between 2004 and 2014. Thus, the value added embodied in domestic (Polish) final goods decreased during this period, from 83% to 79% respectively.

Industry structure of foreign added value in the Polish economy in 2014

Referring to the industry structure of foreign value added in the Polish economy, it should be noted that processing industries have the largest share of foreign value added in Polish exports (actually, they had it in 2014) (Table 2). In particular, the production of computer, electronic and optical products (up to 54%), the production of cars, trailers and semi-trailers (43%) and the production of electronic equipment (41%). The reason behind it was an absolute necessity to use foreign technologies in the production of goods within this category, which clearly involved direct investments in the Polish economy of foreign transnational corporations.

Table 2. Industries of the Polish economy with the highest content of foreign value added in 2014

ltem	Industries	Foreign value added in gross exports	
1	Production of computer, electronic and optical products	54%	
2	Production of cars, trailers and semi-trailers	43%	
З	Production of electronic equipment	41%	

Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

Table 3. Industries of the Polish economy with the largest share of foreign producersof final goods as recipients of domestic (Polish) added value in 2014.

ltem	Industries	Share of foreign recipients in value added		
1	Air transport	76%		
2	Production of base metals	70%		
З	Production of electronic equipment	58%		

Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

As regards the recipients of Polish value added who are foreign producers of final goods, in this case too, the highest values of the share referred to two processing industries, i.e. production of base metals (70%) and production of electronic equipment (58%) (Table 3).

Nevertheless, air transport (76%) was the leader in terms of the share of foreign recipients in Polish value added.

The position of Polish economy in the world value chains compared to selected countries in 2004 and 2014

In conclusion, it is worth referring the Polish economy to other selected economies of the world, with a large share of industrial production (plus Russia), analysing its share in the global value chains, using three basic indicators, i.e. the indicator of foreign value added in gross exports, the indicator of foreign recipients share in value added and the indicator of embodiment of domestic value added in foreign final goods (Table 4).

	Foreign value added in gross exports		Share of fore in value	ign recipients e added	Embodiment of domestic value added in foreign final goods		
	2004	2014	2004	2014	2004	2014	
China	13	8	14	13	25	21	
Germany	12	16	15	18	26	31	
Japan	6	11	6	8	11	13	
South Korea	15	19	16	22	27	33	
Poland	17	20	17	21	24	33	
Russia	9	10	21	19	24	21	

Table 4. The position of Polish economy in the world value chains compared to selected countries in 2004 and 2014 (in %).

Source: author's material based on the World Input-Output Database.

It follows explicitly from the data presented in Table 4 that the dynamics of the development of indicator of foreign value added in gross exports in 2004–2014 in Poland and other economies taken into account developed in a similar way. China was the only exception. All of them showed a trend of increased supply in raw materials, materials, semi-finished products (intermediate goods) abroad, with the growing share of foreign value added in exports (and the final product). In the case of Poland, this share increased from 17% in 2004 to 20% in 2014. It is worth pointing to China in this context, as this country experienced the opposite trend during the analysed period, i.e. the share of value added of foreign suppliers of semi-finished products decreased quite significantly from 13% in 2004 to only 8% in 2014.

As regards the direction of change, there were similar data on the extent of dependence on foreign producers of final goods, taking into account the share of foreign recipients in added value. Interestingly, it is by far the largest in smaller economies such as Poland and South Korea. In this respect, there was also an increase in this share in all the analysed countries, except for China (in Poland from 17% in 2004 to 21% in 2014).

If we focus on the indicator of embodiment of domestic value added in foreign final goods, also in this regard, the recorded changes in Poland over the period 2004–2014 are not exceptional. However, of all the countries indicated, Poland recorded the largest increase in this area (of as much as 9 percentage points).

Summary

A dynamic and high development of the Polish economy, observed for years, resulted largely from an increase in the involvement of the labour factor together with a growing domestic demand, which was facilitated by the social policy of the Polish government as well as the international determinants, including Poland's membership of the European Union. At the same time, the efficiency of factors of production (labour, capital) in the Polish economy was on the rise. However, it remains much lower than in West European countries. The reasons behind it can be found in Poland's specialisation in the international division of labour, due to which, in the vast majority, we produce and export relatively simple goods with relatively low technological advancement and value added, and we import high-tech goods with high value added. Another important reason for this diagnosis of the situation is that actually Polish companies focus on the so-called "middle" elements of global value creation chains. Most often they carry out only the production process (or assembly process), often on behalf of a foreign customer. Unfortunately, such a positioning in the global value chains, as the experience indicates, is in the long run exposed to the risk of being reduced or even "falling out" of such a chain by shifting production (assembly) to another country with relatively lower labour or capital costs.

From the point of view of the future position of Poland and Polish companies in the global value chains, it is absolutely necessary, which does not mean easy, to try to change this place from the so-called "middle" elements of the global value chains towards the beginning or end of these chains. They do not only bring relatively the greatest profits, but also create a real environment for economic and social development, especially for a country like Poland, i.e. one that is threatened with a real middle income trap. Moreover, the functioning at the beginning of the global value chain., especially high-tech sectors, gives rise to (and at the same time forces) the development of all R&D facilities, which would also trigger the desired spillover effect in the Polish economy. On the other hand, positioning at the end of the global value chains would give Polish companies the opportunity to render, for example, any pre- and after-sales services, which with today's very shortened life (usability) of many goods would provide them with a relatively constant, additional source of revenue.

It is fair to say, however, that for the time being Polish companies (mainly those from the SME sector) and our economy as a whole are unfortunately characterised by relatively low levels of innovation, with regard to technology and processes and organisation. On the other hand, the labour costs in Poland are still much lower compared to most countries of the European Union, and the quality of human resources is relatively increasing high, which, in addition to the size of the market with a growing real purchasing power of the Polish society, makes Poland an attractive place to place capital, also in the context of offshoring activities. In this area, the development offshoring services, also thanks to the development of ICT, is of particular importance. These technologies have led to a decline in the cost of coordination of different service chain links, which can be dispersed in many distant countries. And this gave the Polish economy a chance to become a center of services for businesses with foreign capital, which most often serve clients from the financial and insurance sector around the world. Poland has notably made use of this opportunity.

In conclusion, the analysis of Poland's position in the global value chains shows that over the period 2004–2014, Poland's role as a supplier and subcontractor for foreign companies increased much more than as a recipient of value added used in the exports of goods and services. This shows Poland's real position in today's global value chains. Thus, the thesis formulated at the beginning of the study has been confirmed in the course of the conducted analysis.

References

- Gereffi G., Humphrey J., Sturgeon T. (2005). "The governance of global value chains", *Review of International Political Economy*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 78–104.
- Hämäläinen T.J. (2003). National Competitiveness and Economic Growth. The Changing Determinants of Economic Performance in the World Economy, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Humphrey J., Schmitz H. (2002). "How does insertion in global value chains affect upgrading
- in industrial clusters?", Regional Studies, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1017–1027.
- Kuźnar A. (2017). "Udział Polski w globalnych łańcuchach wartości", Horyzonty Polityki, vol. 8, no. 22, pp. 49–67.
- Rojek T. (2014). "Koncepcja łańcucha wartości w zarządzaniu przedsiębiorstwem", Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego. Finanse. Rynki finansowe. Ubezpieczenia, no. 66, pp. 813–822.

German-Polish Trade Relations from the Perspective of Trade in Value Added with Specific Focus on Trade in Digital Technologies

Andreas Bielig

Introduction

German-Polish trade relationships have developed in the last decades and especially dynamically since the beginning of membership of Poland in the European Union. Trade volumes increased dramatically and both economies participated in intensified processes of labour division (e.g. Czarny et al., 2016). Parallelly to these processes, both neighbouring countries established also comprehensive bilateral supply chain networks as a part of global networks with the target of further improvement of their competitiveness in global trade. As a result, trade volumes increased, following these processes of economic cooperation. To measure individual economic contributions to the exchange of goods and services economists suggest combining trade volume analysis with analysis of value added (among others Grodzicki et al., 2016). In this article, I analyse the development of trade between Germany and Poland between 2005 and 2015 in terms of trade volumes (exports and imports) and value added on the national and sector level. The research question is, if the current trade pattern of German-Polish trade contributed to improvements of the bilateral trade relations in support of technological progress to climb the technological ladder. I use the cases of German global trade and German-Polish trade as benchmarks to compare developments at sector level in selected areas. Further, I analyse the bilateral trade in digital products to receive a close picture of trade developments in technological fields of high relevance for

the processes of digitalisation in economy and society as well as future transformation into new structures of production and consumption, which are essential for future competitiveness. The data sources are the international OECD database Trade in Value Added and the Federal Statistical Office Destatis for the bilateral trade in digital technologies.

The benchmark I – Trade between Germany and the Rest of the World

In the analysed period from 2005 to 2015, Germany intensively expanded its trade in the global perspective, gross exports to the Rest of World economies increased from \$861.9 billion by 47.2% to \$1,268.2 billion (OECD, 2019a). In this time, growth varied substantially, from 20.52% in 2007 to -22.42% in the year of crisis 2009. The export maximum was reached in 2014 with \$1,436.1 billion. Also total gross imports expanded similarly, from \$718.4 billion by 41.5% to \$1,017.0 billion, with the growth peak of 18.6% in 2010 and trough of -21.86% again in 2009 (OECD, 2019b). Here, the import maximum was reached in 2011 with a traded volume of \$1,198.2 billion. The domestic value added content of gross exports from Germany to the Rest of World economies increased in the period from \$701.1 billion in 2005 by 42.91% to \$1,002.0 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019c), so the value added content growth was slightly smaller than that of exports (see Figure 2). Also in value added the growth rates revealed a substantial array between 19.57% in 2007 and -19.19% in 2009. In comparison with exports, the domestic value added content of gross imports started its increases from substantially lower levels of \$21.7 billion in 2005 and moved up by 43.35% to \$31.2 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019d). Here, also the growth rates showed a strong volatility with the peak of 23.41% in 2010 and trough of -27.05% in 2009. Resulting from the development of the singular key aggregates, exports respective imports and domestic value added content of both variables, the shares of value added followed visibly a stable sideward trend (see Figure 2). The share of domestic value added content of gross exports decreased slightly by -2.88% from 81.36% in 2005 to 79.01% in 2015. The annual growth rates ranged from -4.15% in 2010 to 4.16% in 2009, showing consequently a considerable stability within a small array of amplitudes. For further analytic considerations, we can assume a priori that traded value added is by tendency statistically affected mainly by trade volumes, if value added shares are supposed to be quite stable. This assumption holds true for also imports: the share of domestic value added content developed between 2005 and 2015 nearly on a stable horizontal level around the 3% mark, starting with 3.03% and reaching 3.06% in the last year. Also, if we observe the peak of 5.72% in 2014 and trough of -6.65% in 2009, the average annual change rate 1.27% is remarkably small. Consequently, the shares of traded value added contents of imports follow widely the traded import volumes for the German trade on the global basis in the period from 2005 to 2015.

Figure 1. Domestic value added content of gross exports and imports in trade between Germany and the Rest of World 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), share of domestic value added content of gross exports and imports [%] (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019a), OECD (2019b), OECD (2019c) & OECD (2019d).

If the value added contained in final demand is considered, we obtain another picture: the domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand in trade between Germany and the Rest of World economies increased by 44.89% from \$679.4 billion in 2005 to \$970.9 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019e). So the average growth rate was slightly smaller than that of gross exports but larger than that of domestic value added content of gross exports. The annual growth rates ranged from 19.57% in 2007 to -18.93% in 2009 (see Figure 2). In comparison with this, the foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand developed on a substantially smaller level. It grew from \$536.0 billion in 2005 by only 34.24% to \$719.6 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019f). The annual growth rates ranged on comparable levels like that of the outlined domestic value added on foreign final demand, from -17.14%in 2009 to 16.17% in 2011. The resulting balance of both indicators, the balance of value added in final demand, increased in the analysed period disproportionally much, caused by larger initial values and higher average growth rates of the first factor. Hence, it increased by 75.26% from \$143.4 billion in 2005 to \$251.3 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019 g). But there are also side effects of contrary factor developments observed, showing the array of annual growth rates of balance a substantially larger volatility and abrupt bounds (visible in 2008, /10, /12 & /15), with the peak of 44.04% in 2007 and trough of 25.19% in 2009.





Source: author's material based on OECD (2019e), OECD (2019f) & OECD (2019g).

The benchmark II – overall trade between Germany and Poland

If we analyse overall trade between our neighbouring economies, in the same period we obtain quite a different, if not a more optimistic picture. Gross exports from Germany to Poland increased extraordinarily by 94.05% from \$23.317 billion in 2005 to \$45.246 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019h). Also here, annual growth rates varied substantially, from –20.06% in 2009 to 21.61% in 2011. As in overall trade of Germany in the global perspective, the maximum exports of \$49.719 billion were reached in 2014. For comparison, German gross imports from Poland showed in the same period a comparable development. They increased from \$20.190 billion in 2015 by 95.9% to \$39.551 billion, with a maximum value of \$44.635 billion in 2008 before the beginning of crisis (OECD, 2019i). The annual growth rates ranged even more substantially than those of exports from –34.05% to 35.10%, hence in a broad interval of around 70%-points in comparison with around 40%-points in case of exports.

The development of domestic value added content of traded volumes differs from the above mentioned picture. For gross exports, the value added content increased from \$17.750 billion in 2005 by 86.72% to \$33.142 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019j), consequently embedded value added couldn't keep pace with a strong expansion trend of gross exports from Germany to Poland (see Figure 3). The maximum level of value added in gross exports was reached in 2014 with \$36.056 billion, a constellation like in the global trade perspective.





Source: author's material based on OECD (2019h), OECD (2019i), OECD (2019j) & OECD (2019k).

Annual growth rates varied substantially from -16.98% in 2009 to 20.08% in 2007. In the opposite direction, domestic value added of gross imports started its increase from significantly a smaller level but with impressive dynamics, expanding from \$104.0 million in 2005 by outstanding 224.9% to \$337.9 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019k). Here, domestic added value development outpaced even the large growth rates of gross imports by far, with a maximum level of \$358.8 million in 2014. But also annual growth rates showed the largest volatility in this data set for the German-Polish trade, ranging from -41.06% in 2009 to 47.83% in the following year, hence they oscillated in an extreme broad interval of nearly 89%-points. In accordance with the development of the basic indicators outlined above, shares of value added in both trade directions followed different paths. The share of domestic value added of gross exports was subject to a slight decline trend, decreasing from 76.12% in 2005 by -3.78% to 73.25% in 2015. The maximum share was reached in the crisis year of 2009 with 76.57% (here, the reduction of exports outpaced the shrinking value added content development) and the minimum with 71.78% in 2011. Annual growth rates fluctuated in a very narrow interval between -3.86% in 2010 and 4.56% in 2009. Different sensitivities in crisis reaction between trade volumes and added value content caused in the latter case these anomalies of value added share development, which showed improvements during the crisis. From the author's perspective it is one of different signs of the narrow restrictions of the explanatory value of value added analysis, which can lead to serious misinterpretations, if it is not adequately combined with an aggregated analysis of trade
volumes. The development of shares of domestic value added content of gross imports confirms the assumption. They increased from a small level of 0.52% in 2005 by 65.85% to 0.85% in 2015. Their annual growth rates ranged from –10.62% in 2009 to 20.06% in the following year, indicating a normal development. But, again, in 2015 the share growth of value added of gross imports of 5.73% indicates a positive development during a recessionary situation of shrinking trade volumes and value added levels (–10.93% resp. –5.82%). By the way, for exports in that year the same misleading signal is visible from value added shares, but on a smaller level (–9% exports and –8.08% in value added content result here finally in a marginal 1% growth of value added share).

Figure 4. Domestic/foreign value added in foreign/domestic final demand in trade between Germany and Poland 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), balance of value added in final demand (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019 l), OECD (2019 m) & OECD (2019n).

If we focus on the final demand in the German-Polish trade, we find analogous developments to Germany's global goods exchange (see Figure 3). The domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand increased from \$15.193 billion in 2005 by 77.19% to \$26.920 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019I). Thus, the domestic value added in final demand traded between Germany and Poland developed even more progressively than with the Rest of World economies (+32.3%-points growth in comparison). The maximum domestic value added of \$29.658 billion was recorded in 2014, which is in line with the above findings about worldwide trade. Also here, annual growth rates varied substantially in the analysed period, ranging from 19.05% in 2007 to 13.64% in 2009. Even more volatility was revealed in the foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand. It increased from \$13.948 billion in 2005 by 76.82% to \$24.662 billion in 2015, with its maximum value of \$29.568 billion in 2007 (OECD, 2019 m). In the same year, also the largest annual growth rate of 34.95% was recorded, whereas the minimum decrease of -31.26% was in 2009. But also this impressive array of volatile growth amplitudes was by far outpaced by the resulting balance of traded value added embodied in the final demand. It increased from \$1.246 billion in 2005 by 81.32% to \$2.258 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019n). The annual growth rates ranged from extraordinary 942.78% in 2010 to -684.49% in 2007. So, the growth path was strongly distorted by the high sensitivity of balance to cyclical shifts of value added volumes in both trade directions. The maximum value of balance of \$2.944 billion was recorded in 2013.

German-Polish trade in manufacturing

Manufacturing still reveals the largest contribution to the economic output development of Germany, so here we analyse also the value added development in trade between Germany and Poland for this economic sector and compare it with the overall German trade development. Gross exports increased from \$13.368 billion in 2005 by 107.82% to \$27.781 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019o). And manufacturing export volumes grew much faster than the aggregated German-Polish trade (+13.77%-points) and the worldwide trade of German economy (+60.62%-points). The maximum export volume was recorded in 2014 with \$30.811 billion. The annual growth rates varied from –23.40% in 2009 to 26.41% in 2011. In comparison with exports, gross imports from Poland developed slightly less dynamically with an increase from \$15.321 billion in 2005 by 94.93% to \$29.866 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019p). This growth was at the same level as the German-Polish aggregated imports but nevertheless larger than that of German worldwide imports (+41.5%-points). The German-Polish gross imports from manufacturing recorded their maximum value of \$35.000 billion in 2008. Their annual growth rates ranged from 36.47% in 2007 to -37.29% in 2009. The development of domestic value added content of gross exports in manufacturing did not reach the same dynamics as the export development (see Figure 4). It increased from \$9.156 billion in 2005 by 99.69% to \$18.282 billion in 2015, with a maximum value of \$19.895 billion in 2014 (OECD, 2019q). Its annual growth rates varied from -18.88% in 2009 to +23.23% in 2011. The dynamics of value added in manufacturing exports was larger than in the aggregated German-Polish trade and German worldwide trade (+22.5 resp. 56.78 percentage points). Compared with this, domestic value added in manufacturing imports revealed an even more dynamic performance, however, on much lower absolute levels. They increased from \$0.094 billion in 2005 by extraordinary 218.72% to \$0.298 billion in 2015, with a maximum level of \$0.319 billion in 2014 (OECD, 2019 r). Value added of manufacturing imports in comparison with worldwide German imports revealed an outstanding growth rate, which was about 175.37 percentage points larger, but in relation

to German-Polish imports still –6.18 percentage points smaller. So, the value added of the sector performed better in exports, compared with both benchmarks (global and bilateral), but in imports only, if the worldwide trade is considered. The share of domestic value added content in gross exports in manufacturing developed nearly horizontally between 2005 and 2015. It decreased slightly from 68.49% by -3.91% to 65.81%, with its maximum in 2009 of 68.94%, reflecting the parallel growth development of both exports volumes and value added. This is underlined also by a small interval of annual growth rates around zero point, with a maximum of 5.91% in 2009 and minimum of -5.22% in the following year. In comparison with it, the share of value added content in gross imports recorded a progressive development, however on small value levels. It increased from 0.61% in 2005 by 63.50% to 1.00% in 2015. The annual growth rates ranged from -7.60% in 2009 to 19.36% in 2010. In manufacturing exports the final shares of domestic value added couldn't reach that of aggregated German-Polish trade (-7.44%-points) nor of German worldwide trade (-13.02%-points). In imports, the manufacturing sector recorded in comparison with both benchmarks different results: slightly larger than in German-Polish trade (+0.15 pp) but smaller than the worldwide German trade (-2.06 pps).





Source: author's material based on OECD (2019o), OECD (2019p), OECD (2019q) & OECD (2019r).

Also the domestic value added in manufacturing embodied in foreign final demand recorded an impressive growth development (see Figure 4). It increased from \$4.997 billion in 2005 by 92.37% to \$9.612 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019s). The maximum value

of \$10.178 billion was reached in 2014. The annual growth rates varied from -14.69% in 2009 to 20.89% in 2011. The foreign domestic value added in manufacturing embodied in domestic final demand developed consequently on larger levels in the analysed period than the domestic value added revealing the main characteristic distinct from all the indicators described above. It increased from \$6.797 billion in 2005 by 84.16% to \$12.518 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019t). Its maximum value of \$14.008 billion was recorded in 2008, the annual growth rates ranged in a huge interval from -35.77% in 2009 to 35.36% in 2007. Also, if its average growth rate was smaller than that of the domestic value added in foreign final demand, the foreign value added in domestic final demand exceeded the former by far with consequence of negative balances in the whole period. They decreased from \$-1.801 billion in 2005 by 61.35% to \$-2.905 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019u). The minimum value of \$-4.430 billion was recorded in 2007. The annual growth rates varied from -64.07% in 2009 to 81.87% in 2007. In comparison to both benchmarks, the development of the domestic value added in foreign final demand in manufacturing performed better (+15.18 pps than the German-Polish trade and +47.48 pps than the worldwide trade of Germany).





Source: author's material based on OECD (2019s), OECD (2019t) & OECD (2019u).

German-Polish trade in motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers

The major German industrial sector motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers usually reflect and determine the basic economic developments of Germany. Gross exports from Germany to Poland increased from \$2.418 billion in 2015 by 76.55% to \$4.269 billion

in 2015 (OECD, 2019v). The maximum value of exports was \$5.340 billion in 2014. The annual growth rates ranged from 24.78% in 2011 to -20.06% in 2015, with the latter being generally an unfortunate year for German automobile producers. The sector exports developed more slowly than exports in the aggregated German-Polish trade (-17.5 pps) but faster than those of German global trade (+29.35 pps). Gross imports increased in the same period from \$2.522 billion by as much as 109.77% to \$5.291 billion, within a steadily negative sector balance in bilateral trade with Poland (OECD, 2019 w). The import maximum value was \$6.545 billion in the year before the economic crisis of 2008. The annual growth rates in the analysed period varied between 48.25% in 2008 and -46.63% in the following year. Imports of the sector developed faster than those of German-Polish trade (+13.87 pps) as well as German global trade (+68.27 pps). The domestic value added content of gross exports increased from \$1.440 billion in 2005 by 79.83% to \$2.590 billion in 2015 (OECD, 2019x). And the domestic value added developed in the whole period nearly at same growth level as exports and reached its absolute maximum in 2014 with \$3.087 billion (see Figure 5). The annual growth rates ranged from 25.54% in 2008 to -16.08% in 2015. The value added of sector exports developed slightly more slowly than those of the German-Polish trade (-6.89 pps) but faster than of those the German global trade (+36.92 pps). Compared to this, the domestic value added content of gross imports developed on a small level but with larger relative dynamics. It increased from \$22.9 million in 2005 by 186.03% to \$65.5 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019y). Annual growth rates varied from 66.90% in 2008 to -45.18% in the following year. So, the domestic value added of imports increased much faster than in the reverse direction of exports, but, however, on very small quantitative levels in comparison with exports. In comparison with both benchmarks, the value added content of imports developed more slowly than in the case of the German-Polish trade (-38.87 pps) but much faster than in the case of the German global trade (+142.68 pps). The share of domestic value added content in gross exports recorded a small growth of 1.86% in the whole period. It increased from 59.58% in 2005 to 60.68% in 2015, with its maximum of 61.29% in 2009. The annual growth rates ranged from 7.09%, in the crisis year of 2009, to -7.37% in the following year. Here, a phenomenon of value added development pattern is visible: The value added reacted in comparison with traded volumes perspective with a smaller sensitivity to crisis downturns (-8.29% value added vs -15.00% exports in 2009) but damped also the reverse recovery trends (15.41% value added vs 24.60% exports in 2010), so value added revealed more resistance to shock oscillations. From the import perspective, this pattern is due to the small quantitative shares level in the sector only to a limited extent observable. The share of domestic value added content in gross imports increased from 0.91% in 2005 by 36.35% to 1.24% in 2015, reaching its maximum of 1.29% in 2014, however marginal it may look. The annual growth rates ranged from 12.65% in 2010 to -4.12% in 2015.

Figure 7. Domestic value added content of gross exports and imports in motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers between Germany and Poland 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), share of domestic value added content of gross exports and imports [%] (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019v), OECD (2019w), OECD (2019x) & OECD (2019y).

Figure 8. Domestic/foreign value added in foreign/domestic final demand in trade in motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers between Germany and Poland 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), balance of value added in final demand (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019z), OECD (2019aa) & OECD (2019ab).

The domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand increased from \$532.7 million in 2005 by 100.08% to \$1,065.8 million in 2015, with a maximum value of \$1,130.8 million

in 2014 (OECD, 2019z). The annual growth rates varied from 48.00% in 2008 to -10.62% in 2010 (see Figure 5.2). In comparison with this, foreign value added embodied on domestic final demand developed on larger levels in the analysed period. It increased from \$771.6 million in 2005 by extraordinary 213.76% to \$2,421.0 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019aa), with maximum of \$2,186.7 million in 2014. The annual growth rates ranged from 58.61% in 2010 to -45.86% in 2009. The balance of value added in final demand was in the whole period negative in the sector, with a growing tendency. It decreased from \$-238.9 million in 2005 by 476.22% to \$-1,355.1 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019 ab). The annual growth rates ranged from -75.05% in 2009 to 260.7% in the following year. As described above, countercyclical effects are also visible in the value added on final demand: In the crisis year of 2009 foreign value added in domestic final demand decreased much more than domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, so the balance improved from the perspective of Germany substantially, an effect, which is also seen in 2012.

German-Polish trade in computer, electronic and optical products

In the digital transformation of society production, trade and usage of digital technologies belongs to key factors of present and future development. In the available OECD sector data, digital goods are not outlined explicitly but subsumed among computer, electronic and optical product so we analyse the sector behavior to derive conclusions for subcategory of digital technologies and later estimations for bilateral trade of digital goods. Gross exports of computer, electronic and optical products increased from \$157.2 million in 2005 by extraordinary 849.36% to \$1,492.4 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019ac). This was the largest growth dynamics in the German-Polish export developments. Compared with both benchmarks of the German global trade and bilateral trade, it was 802.16 respectively 755.31 pps larger, so the sector trade reflected also the increasing importance of digitalisation, also if it is the only part of it. The maximum of \$1,632.7 million was recorded in 2014. The annual growth rates ranged from 190.03% in 2008 to -21.21% in the following year. Also gross imports increased by impressive rates. They increased from \$422.8 million in 2005 by 161.78% to \$1,106.8 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019ad). Until 2008, imports exceeded export volumes substantially, but beginning from 2009, the balance reversed, so the bilateral sector trade revealed finally a remarkable positive balance. The annual growth rates of imports ranged from 69.97% in 2007 to -42.77% in 2009. Compared with overall growth rates of the German-Polish trade or German global trade, the imports of the computer, electronic and optical products sectors developed above average: they recorded here a growth rate surplus of 65.88 pps and 120.28 pps respectively. If we look at the domestic value added content of gross exports, the development dynamics is comparable with that of export volumes, however, on lower absolute quantitative levels. It increased from \$93.1 million in 2005 by 751.66% to its final maximum level of \$792.9 million in 2015 (OECD 2019, ae). The annual growth rates varied from 202.63% in 2008 to -13.68% in the following year, so from the export perspective, the traded volumes and value added content followed comparable growth trends (see Figure 6). Measured by the overall growth rate of the German-Polish or German global trade the value added content of exports increased faster than both benchmarks. They recorded a growth rate surplus of 664.94 pps and 708.75 pps respectively. From the import perspective, there is another pattern: the domestic value added content of gross imports increased in the relative perspective much faster than pure import volumes, but on very small absolute quantitative levels. It increased from \$1.4 million in 2005 by 471.43% to \$8.0 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019 af). The annual growth rates ranged from 78.95% in 2007 to -47.17% in 2009. The growth rate of added value content of gross imports was much larger than those of the German-Polish trade (+246.53 pps) and the German global trade (+428.08 pps). The share of domestic value added content on gross exports decreased due to smaller average growth rates of value added from 59.22% in 2005 by -10.29% to 53.13% in 2015. Its maximum value was 60.70% in the crisis year of 2009, where export volumes dropped faster than value added content (21.21% vs 13.68%) and its minimum was 45.30% in 2012. The annual growth rates ranged from 15.92% in 2015 to -23.83% in 2010 (in the latter constellation, a considerable positive growth rate of exports coincided with a slightly negative one of value added, marking a negative signal of value added shares of quite a twofold nature). The share of domestic value added content in gross imports increased from 0.33% in 2005 by 161.78% to 0.72% in 2015, reaching its maximum in the last year. The annual growth rates ranged from 22.53% in 2008 to -7.69% in the following year. Here, in 2009, value added decreased faster than import volumes so the share development is confirming the real recessionary movement of bilateral trade without distortions.

The domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand increased from \$62.2 million in 2005 by extraordinary 388.59% to \$303.9 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019 ag). The maximum value of \$353.6 million was recorded in 2014 (see Figure 6). The annual growth rates varied from 197.33% in 2008 to -14.06% in 2015. The foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand increased from \$266.7 million in 2005 by 115.9% to \$575.8 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019 ah); so, despite higher absolute quantitative levels, relative dynamics was much smaller than that of domestic value added. The annual growth rates ranged from 57.34% in 2007 to -41.03% in 2009. The sector balance of value added was in the whole period negative: it decreased from \$-204.5 million in 2005 by 32.96% to \$-271.9 million in 2015 (OECD, 2019 ai). The minimum was recorded of \$-388.3 million in 2007, whereas the maximum of \$-82.6 million was reached in 2014. The annual growth rates ranged from 229.18% in 2015 to -73.58% in 2009.

Figure 9. Domestic value added content of gross exports and imports in computer, electronic and optical products between Germany and Poland 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), share of domestic value added content of gross exports and imports [%] (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019ac), OECD (2019ad), OECD (2019ae) & OECD (2019af).

Figure 10. Domestic/foreign value added in foreign/domestic final demand in trade in computer, electronic and optical products between Germany and Poland 2005–2015 [USD millions] (left axis), balance of value added in final demand (right axis)



Source: author's material based on OECD (2019ag), OECD (2019ah) & OECD (2019ai).

German-Polish trade in digital products

The applied OECD database does not provide data for bilateral trade in digital products between Germany and Poland. Therefore, we combine results from the OECD sector data of computer, electronic and optical products with data from the German Statistical Office Destatis to draw conclusions with regard to the bilateral value added trade in digital products. For this purpose, we use an 8-digit goods classification to select digital technology traded between both economies and find 66 product categories (WA85422101 - WA85437006, see appendix for a specific classification), containing digital technology as their major contents embodied in the period 2006-2015 (for 2005 no data are available). Exports in digital products increased from \$277.7 million in 2006 by moderate 11.75% to \$310.3 million in 2015 (Destatis, 2019). The maximum value of \$355.8 million was reached in 2008, the minimum of \$139.1 million in the following year (see Figure 7). The annual growth rates ranged from 46.20% in 2014 to -60.91% in 2009. The export growth rates in digital goods revealed a large volatility with a considerable variance of 693.55. In comparison with benchmarks of the aggregated German-Polish trade and German global trade, the exports of digital products developed far below average. Its overall growth rate was 82.30 pps smaller than those of the former and still 35.45 pps smaller than the latter. According to this, exports of digital products contributed from quantitative perspective only to a small degree to improvement of trade patterns in support of the digitalisation processes. Imports of digital goods recorded also an increasing trend, however, on significantly smaller absolute levels but with a much stronger relative dynamics. They increased from \$2.3 million in 2005 by extraordinary 4,236.49% to \$101.7 million in 2015. The annual growth rates ranged from 172.35% in 2008 to -27.45% in the following year. With this large volatility, the variance of growth rates was with 3,594.04 even higher than that of exports. In contrast to the export side, imports of digital products from Poland revealed an extraordinary growth rate, also if compared with benchmarks of the German-Polish trade or German global trade. It recorded a growth surplus of 4,140.59 pps in relation to the former and 4,194.99 pps in relation to the latter. However, exports and imports of digital products recorded very asymmetric developments, based on marginal initial levels of imports. So, digital imports improved the technology position of bilateral trade but are still on quite low levels. The resulting trade balance in digital products was for the whole period positive. However, after the 2009 crisis, a seriously shrinking level was recorded. So, the trade balance decreased from \$275.4 million in 2005 by -24.24% to \$208.6 million in 2015. It reached its maximum of \$345.4 million in 2008 and minimum of \$131.5 million in the following year. The annual growth rates ranged from 38.03% in 2014 to -61.92% in 2009. The balance volatility revealed the variance of 656.17, which is comparable with exports, which is determined by the quantitative dominance of exports in digital trade.





The domestic value added content of exports and imports is in this analysis estimated under the assumption of equal value added shares in digital trade as measured above in the superordinate sector of computer, electronic and optical products, of which digital technologies are an essential part. So, as a consequence of no detailed data of the value added of digital products, we estimate their traded value added as if the value added shares of exports and imports developed in the same way as within the superordinate sector. According to this, the domestic value added of gross exports increased from \$153.2 million in 2006 by 7.62% to \$164.9 million in 2015 (see Figure 7). It reached its maximum of \$197.1 million in 2008; its minimum of \$81.0 million was in 2012. The annual growth rates of value added ranged from 47.62% in 2014 to -57.18% in 2009. Compared with both benchmarks of the German-Polish trade and German global trade, the domestic value added content of exports of digital products contributed (as for pure trade volumes) only to a small degree to improvement of trade patterns in terms of fostering digitalisation processes. Its overall growth rate was 79.1 pps smaller than in the value added in German-Polish trade and 35.29 pps smaller than in the value added in German global trade. In comparison with it, the domestic value added of gross imports developed on low level but with large dynamics. It increased from its minimum of \$0.921 million in 2006 by 7,877% to its maximum of \$73.5 million in 2015. The annual growth rates ranged from extraordinarily large 233.71% in 2009 to -33.02% in the following year. The overall growth of domestic value added content of gross imports of digital products was also impressive in comparison with the German-Polish or German global trade: It recorded a surplus of 7,652.1 pps to the former and

Source: author's material based on Destatis (2019).

of 7,833.65 pps to the latter one. So, the value added of imports improved the position of German trade in support of digitalisation processes, however only on a small quantitative basis. The balance of domestic value added content decreased from \$152.3 million in 2006 by -40.0% to \$91.3 million in 2015. The maximum value of \$191.8 million was reached in 2008, the minimum of \$72.3 million in 2012. The annual growth rates ranged from 34.1% in 2014 to -57.85% in 2009.



Figure 12. Estimated domestic value added content of gross exports and imports in trade in digital products between Germany and Poland 2006–2015 [USD thousands] (left axis), balance (right axis)

Summary and conclusions

The results of analysis showed a considerable positive development in the *German-Polish trade* in terms of value added between 2005 and 2015, which holds also true for the trade of digital products. However, in terms of domestic value added shares the German-Polish trade, which functions in our analysis as a second benchmark, revealed in 2015 only values below those of the German global trade level (see Table 1). In the German-Polish gross exports only 73.25% of content represented domestic value added (79.01% in the German global trade). In gross imports, the pattern is same but on quite a marginal level; here, only 0.85% was domestic value added in comparison with 3.06% in the global trade. So, the German-Polish trade contributed only to a smaller degree to the value added share development in an absolute perspective than it was in the case of global trade. In our analysis, the results of the German-Polish trade are used, beside those of the German global trade, are used, beside those of the German global trade, and the global trade.

Source: author's material based on Destatis (2019).

as the second benchmark for performance comparisons. In the *manufacturing sector*, the domestic value added share of gross exports of 65.81% was even lower than in the aggregated German-Polish trade; so here in manufacturing, the value added share development was less dynamic than in the latter. In imports, the value added share was in contrast to this larger value, so we observed here a better development than in the German-Polish trade. If we look at the industrial sectors, the German key *sector motor vehicles and others* recorded larger value added shares by 60.68% (in exports) and 1.24% (in imports) than other analysed sectors but revealed a smaller value in exports than in overall manufacturing, so the value added share was by 1.24% larger than in manufacturing and also in the German-Polish trade. The *sector of computer, electronic and optical products* recorded the value added shares 53.13% in exports and only 0.72% in imports below manufacturing levels but also below both benchmarks of the German-Polish and German global trade. The conclusion of an only subaverage contribution of this key digitalisation sector to the value added share trade in the German-Polish trade.

Value added shares [%] & (distance to benchmark I / II [%-points])	Domestic value added content in gross exports	Domestic value added content in gross imports
German global trade (Benchmark I)	79.01 (0 / +5.76)	3.06 (0 / +2.21)
German-Polish trade (Benchmark II)	73.25 (–5.76 / 0)	0.85 (-2.21 / 0)
German-Polish trade: Manufacturing	65.81 (-13.2 / -7.44)	1.00 (-2.06 / +0.15)
German-Polish trade: Motor vehicles etc.	60.68 (-18.33 / -12.57)	1.24 (-1.82 / +0.39)
German-Polish trade: Computer etc.	53.13 (–25.88 / –20.12)	0.72 (–2.34 / –0.13)
German-Polish trade: Digital products	53.13* (-25.88 / -20.12)	0.72* (-2.34 / -0.13)

Table 1. Synopsis of value added shares in 2015 and distance to benchmark I and II

* assuming the equal value added shares in trade to the computer sector, etc. Source: author's own calculations.

If the first analysis, results refer to the perspective of absolute (static) value added shares in trade, the relative growth rate perspective with a focus on dynamic development revealed another view. According to this, the *German-Polish trade* developed between 2005 and 2015 substantially faster than the German global trade (see Table 2); so, the visible smaller shares in value added increased much faster than in the global reference case but also pure trade volumes of exports (94.05%) and imports (95.9%) recorded larger overall growth rates. Here, especially the value added of gross imports recorded an exceptional dynamics (224.9%) and a huge lead to the first benchmark of the German global trade (+181.55 pps). But also the value added of gross exports (86.72%) as well as the domestic value added content in foreign final demand (77.19%) and the foreign value added content in domestic final demand (76.82%) reached larger levels than those of the German global trade. In the manufacturing sector growth rates were even on larger levels than in the German-Polish trade, except for those in imports, where trade volumes increased by comparable 94.93% and value added content grew still by extraordinary 218.72%. Gross exports increased by 107.82%, whereas the value added content of gross exports grew by 99.69%, the domestic value added of foreign final demand by 92.37% and foreign value added of domestic final demand by 84.16%. So, manufacturing contributed above average to the growth development in both aspects, in value added as well as in trade volumes. In the German industrial key sector of motor vehicles and others, we received a mixed view of performance. Gross exports increased by 76.55% faster than in the German global trade but more slowly than in the German-Polish trade and in manufacturing. Gross imports performed with a growth rate of 109.77% better than both benchmarks but still remained behind the manufacturing sector development. The value added content of gross exports and imports increased by 79.83% and 186.03% faster than in the German global trade (benchmark I) but more slowly than the German-Polish trade (benchmark II). So, the sector's value added performance contributed only below the bilateral trade level to the overall development. The domestic value added content of foreign final demand and the reverse side of foreign value added content of domestic final demand increased by 108.08% and 213.76%, much faster than both benchmarks and outperformed also the results of manufacturing. In terms of the value added content of final demand, we observed an outstanding positive development, especially that of foreign value added of domestic final demand, which received the largest growth rate of analysed trade levels in our data set. Trade in computer, electronic and optical products performed without exception on the highest growth levels at rates far beyond both benchmarks and manufacturing results. Trade volumes increased exceptionally especially in gross exports by 849.36%, (largest export growth rate in the analysis), but also in gross imports the growth of 161.78% was very fast. The value added content of gross exports and imports increased respectively by 751.66% (the largest exports value added growth rate in analysis) and 471.43% in an outstanding way. If we focus on the value added content of final demand, the sector recorded with the largest growth rate of 388.59% of all trade levels in terms of domestic value added content of foreign final demand. At the reverse side of foreign value added content of domestic final demand, the growth revealed with a rate of 115.90% the second largest value of all trade levels behind those of the sector of motor vehicles. The high-tech associated sector contributed in all growth dimensions in an outstanding form to the overall development of the German-Polish trade. In our estimations of trade in digital products, we received a very mixed view in analysis. Gross exports increased by a rate of 11.75% far, below both benchmarks,

whereas gross imports developed on highest growth levels (4,236.49%), which made digital products "leaders in import growth" in the bilateral trade. Also the value added content of gross exports increased by 7.62%, only below average. Exports of digital products contributed in terms of both dimensions (trade volumes and value added content) only to a small degree to the development of bilateral trade. In contrast to this, the value added of gross imports increased by outstanding 7,788.00% (maximum value of this category). The trade in digital products enhanced and promoted the bilateral trade between Germany and Poland in terms of the growth perspective only on the import side, but here still on lower absolute quantitative levels. Also, if gross imports reached in 2015 only 32.77% of export volumes, their growth was impressive. In terms of the value added content, the imports reached just a level of 44.57% of the export value in 2015, so their outstanding growth rate underlines a remarkable dynamic processes in imports. However, the trade in digital products is, despite its import dynamics, only of marginal quantitative importance for the German-Polish trade in the absolute perspective. In 2015, they constituted a share of 0.69% of the aggregated German-Polish gross exports and 0.26% of gross imports. The value added content of gross exports of digital products included only 0.50% of bilateral traded value added of gross exports, so the product group of digital technologies had (still) a marginal relevance and fulfils only a subordinated function in promoting technological progress in the trade between Germany and Poland.

Growth rate [%] & (distance to benchmark I / II [%-points])	Gross exports	Gross imports	Value added content of gross exports	Value added content of gross imports	Domestic value added content of foreign final demand	Foreign value added content of domestic final demand
German global trade (Benchmark I)	47.2 (0 / -46.85)	41.5 (0 / -54.4)	42.91 (0 / -43.81)	43.35 (0 / -181.55)	44.89 (0 / -32.30)	34.24 (0 / -42.58)
German-Polish trade (Benchmark II)	94.05 (+46.85 / 0)	95.9 (+54.4 / 0)	86.72 (+43.81 / 0)	224.9 (+181.55 / 0)	77.19 (+32.21/0)	76.82 (+32.21 / 0)
German-Polish trade: Manufacturing	107.82 (+60.62 / +13.77)	94.93 (+53.43 / –0.97)	99.69 (+56.68 / +12.97)	218.72 (+175.37 / -6.18)	92.37 (+47.48 / +14.55)	84.16 (+49.92 / +7.34)
German-Polish trade: Motor vehicles etc.	76.55 (+29.35 / –17.5)	109.77 (+68.27 / +13.87)	79.83 (+36.92 / –6.89)	186.03 (+142.68 / –38.87)	108.08 (+63.19 / +30.26)	213.76 (+179.52 / +136.94)
German-Polish trade: Computer etc.	849.36 (+802.16 / +755.31)	161.78 (+120.28 / +65.88)	751.66 (+708.75 / +664.94)	471.43 (+428.08 / +246.53)	388.59 (+34.37 / +310.77)	115.9 (+81.66 / +39.08)
German-Polish trade: Digital products	11.75 (–35.45 / –82.3)	4236.49 (+4194.99 / +4140.59)	7.62 (–35.29 / –79.1)	7877 (+7833.65 / +7652.1)	_*	_*

Table 2. Synopsis of overall growth rates in 2005–2015 and distance to benchmark I and II

* on trade of Digital products no data available

Source: author's own calculations.

The German-Polish-trade developed between 2005 and 2015 with large dynamics and showed striking improvements of trade pattern in trade volumes as well as also in traded value added content. Primarily it was the manufacturing sector that contributed to it, especially the automotive sector, but we found the largest contribution in the sector of computers and electronic and optical products. The bilateral trade in digital products was only of marginal quantitative relevance and contributed only on the side of import developments to the promising improvements of the overall German-Polish trade.

References .

- Czarny, E. et al. (2016), Handel produktami o rocznym zaawansowaniu technologicznym między Polska a Niemcami i UE15, in: Olszynski, J., Bielig, A., Wandel, W. (eds.), Niemcy i Polska w drodze do "Europa 2020". Deutschland und Polen auf dem Weg zu "Europa 2020", Officyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw, pp. 173–192.
- Destatis (2019), Außenhandel, Deutschland, Polen, Warenverzeichnis Außenhandelsstatistik (8-Steller), Ausfuhr: Wert (US-Dollar), Tsd. US-\$, Einfuhr: Wert (US-Dollar), Tsd. US-\$, 2006–2018, Warenverzeichniskategorien WA85422101 – WA85437006, in: Genesis-Online, in: https://www-genesis.destatis.de/genesis/online/ data;sid=A239E4F9C8502E349FEB77C07A1DDF08. GO_2_2? operation=abruftabelleAbrufen&selectionname=51000–0015&levelindex=1&levelid=1568886237583&index=15, accessed October 15, 2019.
- Grodzicki, M.J. et al. (2016), New Dimensions of Core-Periphery Relations in an Economically Integrated Europe: The Role of Global Value Chains, in: Eastern European Economics, 54, pp. 377–404.
- OECD (2019a), Gross exports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2016, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019b), Gross imports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019c), Domestic value added content of gross exports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005– 2016, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSet-Code=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019d), Domestic value added content of gross imports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?-DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019e), Domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2016, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019f), Foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 g), Value added embodied in final demand, balance, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, World, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?-DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.

- OECD (2019h), Gross exports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019i), Gross imports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019j), Domestic value added content of gross exports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005– 2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSet-Code=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019k), Domestic value added content of gross imports, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?-DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 l), Domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 m), Foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019n), Value added embodied in final demand, balance, total, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?-DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (20190), Gross exports, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_ C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019p), Gross imports, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019q), Domestic value added content of gross exports, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 r), Domestic value added content of gross imports, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 s), Domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/ Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019t), Foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/ Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019u), Value added embodied in final demand, balance, Manufacturing, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.

- OECD (2019v), Gross exports, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?-DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019 w), Gross imports, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?Data-SetCode=TIVA 2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019x), Domestic value added content of gross exports, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019y), Domestic value added content of gross imports, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019z), Domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019aa), Foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ab), Value added embodied in final demand, balance, Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ac), Gross exports, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?Data-SetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ad), Gross imports, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?Data-SetCode=TIVA 2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ae), Domestic value added content of gross exports, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019af), Domestic value added content of gross imports, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA 2018 C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ag), Domestic value added embodied in foreign final demand, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ah), Foreign value added embodied in domestic final demand, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.
- OECD (2019ai), Value added embodied in final demand, balance, Computer, electronic and optical products, US-Dollar (Millions), Germany, Poland, 2005–2015, in: Trade in Value Added Database (TiVA), OECD, in: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TIVA_2018_C1#, accessed October 15, 2019.

Appendix: German trade statistics classification (8 digits) – excerpt of categories containing major parts of digital technologies, according Destatis (2019)

WA85422101	Integ. Schaltungen, Wafers, MOS-Technik (b.2006) St
WA85422105	Integ. Schaltungen, Chips, MOS-Technik (b.2006) St
WA85422111	Dyn. Schreib-Lesespeicher bis 4Mbit (b.2006) St
WA85422113	Dyn. Schreib-Lesespeicher von 4-16Mbit (b.2006) St
WA85422115	Dyn. Schreib-Lesespeicher von 16-64Mbit (b.2006) St
WA85422117	Dyn. Schreib-Lesespeicher über 64Mbit (b.2006) St
WA85422120	Stat. Schreib-Lesespeicher, Cache-RAMs (b.2006) St
WA85422125	UV-löschbare, programmierb.Lesespeicher (b.2006) St
WA85422131	Programmierbare Lesespeicher bis 4MBit (b.2006) St
WA85422133	Programmierbare Lesespeicher 4-16MBit (b.2006) St
WA85422135	Programmierbare Lesespeicher 16-32MBit (b.2006) St
WA85422137	Programmierbare Lesespeicher >32MBit (b.2006) St
WA85422139	Andere Programmierbare Lesespeicher (b.2006) St
WA85422141	Andere Speicher (b.2006)
WA85422145	Digitale Mikroprozessoren (b.2006) St
WA85422150	Digitale Mikrocontroller, Mikrocomputer (b.2006) St
WA85422161	Digitale Mikroperiphere Einheiten (b.2006) St
WA85422169	Andere digitale Metalloxidhalbleiter (b.2006) St
WA85422171	Integrierte Schaltungen, Wafers (b.2006) St
WA85422173	Integrierte Schaltungen, Chips (b.2006) St
WA85422181	Andere Speicher (b.2006)
WA85422183	Mikroprozessoren (b.2006) St
WA85422185	Mikrocontroller und Mikrocomputer (b.2006) St
WA85422191	Mikroperiphere Einheiten (b.2006)
WA85422199	Andere Schaltungen (b.2006) St
WA85422910	Integr.Schaltungen,Wafers (b.2006) St
WA85422920	Integr.Schaltungen,Chips (b.2006) St
WA85422930	Verstärker (b.2006)
WA85422950	Leistungsregler und Spannungsregler (b.2006)
WA85422960	Steuerbausteine und Kontrollbausteine (b.2006)
WA85422970	Schnittstellenbausteine (b.2006)
WA85422990	Andere Schaltungen (b.2006) St
WA85423110	Prozessoren, Kontrollschaltung, Multichip (b.2016)

WA85423111	Prozessoren, integrierte Multichipschaltungen MCOs		
WA85423119	Prozessoren laut Anmerkung 9b, a.n.g.		
WA85423190	Prozessoren und Steuer-,Kontrollschaltungen		
WA85423210	Speicher für integrierte Multichipschalt. (b.2016)		
WA85423211	Speicher für integrierte Multichipschaltungen MCOs		
WA85423219	Speicher laut Anmerkung 9b, a.n.g.		
WA85423231	Dynamische Schreib-Lesespeicher <512 Mbit St		
WA85423239	Dynamische Schreib-Lesespeicher >512 Mbit St		
WA85423245	Statische Schreib-Lesespeicher, Cache-RAMs St		
WA85423255	UV-löschbare, programmierbare Lesespeicher St		
WA85423261	Flash E2PROMS <512 Mbit St		
WA85423269	Flash E2PROMS >512 Mbit St		
WA85423275	Andere Programmierbare Lesespeicher St		
WA85423290	Speicher in Form von Mehrfachkombinationen		
WA85423300	Verstärker, elektr.integrierte Schaltungen (b.2016)		
WA85423310	Verstärker, integrierte Multichipschaltungen MCOs		
WA85423390	Verstärker, elektr.integrierte Schaltungen, a.n.g.		
WA85423910	Integrierte Multichipschaltungen (bis 2016)		
WA85423911	Integrierte Multichipschaltungen MCOs, a.n.g.		
WA85423919	Integrierte Schaltungen laut Anmerkung 9b, a.n.g.		
WA85423990	Schaltungen, elektronisch, integriert		
WA85426000	Hybride integrierte Schaltungen (b.2006)		
WA85427000	Mikrobausteine, elektr.Mikroschaltungen (b.2006)		
WA85429000	Teile von elektronischen integrierten Schaltungen		
WA85431000	Teilchenbeschleuniger		
WA85431100	lonenimplantationsanlagen zum Dotieren (b.2006)		
WA85431900	Teilchenbeschleuniger (b.2006)		
WA85432000	Signalgeneratoren		
WA85437002	Mikrowellenverstärker		
WA85437003	Infrarotfernbedienung für Videospielkonsolen		
WA85437004	Flugdatenschreiber, digital		
WA85437005	Lesegeräte, tragbar, Textdateien, Audiodateien		
WA85437006	Signalverarbeitungsapparate, digital		

German-Polish Trade after 2004. German FDI in Poland. Polish FDI in Germany. A Comparative Analysis

Katarzyna Kamińska

Introduction

Foreign direct investment (FDI) is nowadays considered to be the most beneficial and safe form of international capital flows and a form of financing restructuring and development processes. When a favourable organisation is combined with a structural system of factors, they become the most effective way of obtaining direct access to modern techniques and technologies in the sphere of production and management, as well as foreign markets. In order to support the economic development of a country, it is not really necessary to take into account the size of a foreign investment but its quality and to answer the question whether it increases the country's ability to create innovation, and to create new jobs in the long term (Rybiński, 2007, p. 21). Foreign direct investment can be classified as a special form of international capital trade. As a result, not only monetary funds but also specific investment goods are transferred, which is why these are property investments. Another special feature is the assistance in establishing regular international contacts between the exchange countries. In countries undergoing a political transformation, including Poland, there is a constant need to modernise the economy. Foreign direct investment is a device that significantly impacts this process (Janasz, 2011, p. 35).

There is still no consensus among researchers dealing with the phenomena of foreign trade and foreign direct investment in the 20th century as to whether there is complementarity

or substitutability between the two processes¹. Studies in this area in the 1990 s on the relationship between German direct investment and goods exports showed that FDI and goods exports can complement each other and, in some cases contribute to the mutual growth. Labour-intensive industries, such as the car industry, occupy a special place here, clothing or textiles for which export substitution has been observed goods are a form of export of capital (Stępniak, 1996, pp. 233–242). The Polish-German economic relations are an extremely interesting research field in this respect. Poland, as the largest market among the new EU member states and the second-largest neighbour of Germany after France, occupies a key position in Central and Eastern Europe. Even before Poland's accession to the European Union in 2004, the trade between Poland and Germany was developing very dynamically over the years. German-Polish economic relations are characterised by intensity and asymmetry. Bilateral FDIs are very important for both countries in their development. In Poland, German companies took part in the privatisation of the Polish economy, have a positive impact on employment growth and productivity, improve technological skills of Polish companies and increase the growth potential of the Polish economy. Germany plays an important role in linking Poland to the global value chains. It is the largest foreign supplier of semi-finished products and services for Polish exports, as well as the largest foreign exporter of Polish added value in the form of semi-finished products and services included in German exports of goods. For the German side, investing in Poland means seeking new markets and making return on the capital invested.

Nevertheless, it is worth noting that many studies on the inflow of German FDI have appeared in the literature on the subject, while relatively few of the published studies have been devoted to Polish investments in Germany². As regards the role of Polish FDI in the German economy, its importance has been growing in recent years. Particularly noteworthy is the growing number of acquisitions of German companies by Polish entities, which very often saves German companies from bankruptcy.

The aim of the article is to compare the German-Polish trade and the German FDI in Poland and the Polish FDI in Germany from the accession of Poland to the EU in 2004 to 2017³.

The analysis focuses on the identification of the main trends in the German-Polish trade and its structure, similarities and differences between motives and directions of investment activities, and their importance for the economic development of both countries. The research method used in this article is a qualitative comparative analysis.

¹ Such research was carried out, for example by J. Stehn, W. Gruber, D. Mehta, R. Vernon, T. Horst, B.M. Wolf, K. Kojima and T. Ozawa.

² An example of this kind of analysis is found in Sońta-Drączkowska, 2014, pp. 431–452 and Bogdańska-Czyrnek D., 2014, pp. 411–428.

³ At the time of the preparation of the article, some relevant statistics for 2018 were not yet available.

1. Contemporary trends in the Polish-German economic cooperation

Germany has been Poland's main trading partner since 1990 and was previously a major trading partner in the interwar period. After World War II, Poland's second trading partner until the 1970s was East Germany, followed by Germany. Since 2004, Poland's trade with Germany has been steadily growing (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Poland's trade with Germany in the years 2004–2017 in USD billions

Source: author's material based on the GUS data.

On the other hand, the share of exports to Germany and imports from Germany in Poland's trade turnover generally shows slight fluctuations throughout the period – the share of exports to Germany in total exports was between 25–28%, while the share of imports was 21–24% (Figure 2) (Kamińska, Kulińska-Sadłocha, 2019, pp. 200–201). The structure of Polish exports to Germany is currently very well diversified. It is estimated that none of the sectors currently takes more than 12% (Bittorf, 2020). The exports include mainly processed goods, such as: motor vehicles with accessories, mechanical products and a significant amount of furniture and household equipment, as well as high quality food products. German imports from Poland have recently been dominated by motor vehicles and parts with a share of 13.6%, machinery with a share of 9.9% and food with a share of 9.3% (Bittorf, 2020).

In 2018, Germany's share in total Polish exports exceeded 28%, which means that Poland is becoming an increasingly important trading partner for Germany in Central and Eastern Europe. Poland is ranked eighth in the German foreign trade statistics for 2018 (*Statistisches Bundesamt*, 2019, p. 2). German exports are dominated by vehicles and their equipment,

machines and devices, electrical engineering and chemical products. Poland exports mainly vehicle parts and equipment, food products, furniture and household appliances.



Figure 2. The share of trade with Germany in the trade turnover of Poland in the years 2004–2017

Source: author's material based on the GUS data.

The Polish-German trade is characterised by a high degree of intensity. On the one hand, the factors affecting it are internal conditions and, on the other hand, the investments carried out by German companies in Poland. If we take into account individual sectors of the economy, we can state that foreign investments and their nature can create a foreign trade model. The links also play a key role in trading within global, corporate supply chains. It is therefore very important to understand well trade patterns and the relationship between the suppliers and customers (Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, 2019, p. 48)

The analysis carried out by the Jagiellonian Club shows that the relations between Poland and Germany are essentially characterised by the following trade patterns (Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, 2019, p. 49):

- commercial transactions where the final consumer is the Polish or German consumer (a natural person or business). The main factor creating demand is the demand of the local market. Typical products in this commercial model include food products, building materials or household appliances;
- commercial transactions where the final recipient is a consumer (an individual or company) outside Poland or Germany. In this case, the factor creating demand is the request of the foreign market. An illustration of a supply chain may include the production of components in Poland with the final assembly in Germany followed by the export of the finished product to a third country;

- commercial transactions, including ancillary services a characteristic feature is, in this
 case, to increase the exporter's added value by providing them with ancillary services
 directly linked to the exported product;
- the graduation of the added value of commercial transactions this model is connected with those as mentioned earlier; its essence is the evolution of the advanced of technological trade (e.g. automotive or aircraft industry, for which a certain generalisation can be defined supplier categories according to technological competence);
- B2B vs B2C from the perspective of entering the export market, the key factors are the understanding of the mechanisms governing the distribution channels, which in certain cases may constitute a significant barrier to trade (e.g. the sale of consumer products through large retail chains).

An important issue in the undertaken considerations is the problem of the need for control of their supply chains by manufacturers, which is evidenced by the development of foreign investments and the establishment of branches or subsidiaries by foreign companies in the country. As mentioned before, the development of foreign investments affects trade relations and has an impact on increasing the competitiveness of the economy. It should also be noted, however, that although foreign investments have a decisive competitive advantage over companies with domestic capital, they may take over their market share. As a consequence, it may lead to a gradual reduction in the potential for building up and accumulating domestic capital.

When considering the issues of economic cooperation between Germany and Poland, it should be noted that the Polish economy is much more dependent on enterprises with foreign capital than the German economy. This results in a situation where domestic companies have to be much more involved in supply chains beyond the control of domestic capital, but a relatively high level of innovation in German companies investing in Poland makes it necessary for Polish companies to improve their technological skills (Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, 2019, p. 50).

2. Development of the German FDI in Poland

A significant increase in FDI in Poland was recorded in 1992, when the first effects of the economic transformation appeared in Poland, and the general economic situation improved. An increasingly stable political situation, as well as a economic and social situation, the adopted legal solutions and Poland's market potential offering a large market and cheap labour force became factors attracting German investors (Bogdańska-Czyrnek, 2014, p. 415). The significance of various incentives created by the Polish government, including tax exemptions, is worth mentioning at this point (Romiszewska, 2000, pp. 426–427).

All the above factors contributed to the inflow of German capital in the form of FDI to a varying degree and caused the intensification of Polish-German economic relations. Interestingly, the German economic system was an inspiration for the architects of Polish economic reforms. Thus, the model of the social market economy in Article 20 of the Polish Basic Law of 1997 was recognised as a model on which the future economic system of Poland was to be based.

In terms of the number and value of foreign direct investments in Poland, German companies occupy a leading position. The value of German direct investments in Poland since the system transformation in 1989/1990 amounts to approximately EUR 35 billion⁴. One of the reasons for locating German investments in Poland is the development dynamics of the Polish economy. Numerous foreign direct investment (FDI) transactions from Germany play a significant role in modernisation and increase export dynamics in Poland, while German FDI flows into high value-added manufacturing Polish industries (especially the automotive industry) and into the financial and insurance sectors (Bittorf, 2020). According to the National Bank of Poland, the value of foreign direct investment liabilities in Poland at the end of 2018 was EUR 199.7 billion. The highest stock of foreign direct investment liabilities at the end of 2018 was recorded towards investors from the Netherlands (EUR 42.6 billion), and Germany was in second place – EUR 34.8 billion. Taking into account the sectoral breakdown, the largest amounts of liabilities in 2018 were in industrial processing (EUR 62.6 billion), financial and insurance activities (EUR 37 billion), wholesale and retail trade including vehicle repair (EUR 29.1 billion) and real estate activities (EUR 19.2 billion). In contrast, the amount of EUR 13.4bn was the share in professional, scientific and technical activities related to expenses (NBP, 2019).

Germany has supported the process of advancement in Poland in various modes. Within the European Union, of which Poland has been a member since 2004, Germany, as the largest net contributor, has been making an important contribution to Poland's economic development. Germany has also supported Poland through programmes of the World Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the International Monetary Fund⁵.

A fundamental change in the amount of the German FDI inflow to Poland should be noted when Poland joined the European Union and gained access to significant support funds (Figure 3).

As presented in Figure 3, 2005 saw a significant increase in FDI inflow of EUR 12.63 bn to Poland from Germany, compared to 2004; in the following years, this increase was even more conspicuous. The German FDI grew gradually and in 2017 reached the level of over

⁴ The calculations are based on: https://polen.diplo.de/pl-pl/02-themen/02-3-wirtschaft/03-dt-poln-wirtsch aftsbeziehungen (access date 13/11/2019).

⁵ See more: https://polen.diplo.de/pl-pl/02-themen/02-3-wirtschaft/03-dt-poln-wirtschaftsbeziehungen (access date 13/11/2019).

EUR 32.9 bn, which made Germany the second biggest foreign investor in Poland, outdone only by the Netherlands. A very interesting issue is that even in the years 2008–2009, when Germany was struggling with the crisis and its consequences, the inflow of the German FDI to Poland did not decrease, but continued to show a minor yet positive trend (2008: EUR 19.01 bn and 2009: EUR 19.7 bn). As a result, German investors considered Poland a stable place to locate FDI.



Figure 3. The German FDI inflow to Poland in the years 2004–2017 (in EUR millions)

Source: Deutsche Bundesbank, (2019), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, p. 41; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2015), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main.; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2011), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49.; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2008), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49.

The large scale of German investments in Poland may mean that German companies are intensively involved in cross-border and local supply chains. The result is the ability to obtain and increase their competitive advantages, including controlling the delivery model, and tax optimisation, ensuring adequate quality and production standards, unifying business processes and, finally, distribution control (Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, 2019, p. 52).

The number of German companies operating in Poland indicates that Germany is the largest investor in the Polish market. At the end of 2017, the number of entities amounted to 4,917, constituting 17.7% of the country's share in the total foreign capital. According to the data of the Polish Central Statistical Office (GUS), 99.1% of this capital was invested in entities with a majority of foreign capital and 88.0% in entities with ten or more persons employed. The majority of German capital was invested in trade; 36.7% in car repair and

32.6% in manufacturing industry (GUS, 2018, pp. 38–41). Comparing this result with the available data for 2006⁶, the share of Germany's investments in invested German capital were higher: 48.3% for the manufacturing industry and 31.8% for trade and repair of motor vehicles (GUS, 2006, p. 46).

Analysing the structure of the German FDI in Poland, taking into account the Deutsche Bundesbank data, one can observe the following tendencies: in 2004, the largest percentage of the German FDI in Poland included investments in the administration and management of companies and businesses sector – 41%. It was probably related to the need to build in Poland the foundations of German culture and business management style based on pragmatism, training of Polish staff and direct control of the investor in company management processes. Similar tendencies could be observed in Eastern Germany after 1990 when, in connection with the inflow of FDI from the old federal states in new companies, the management functions were performed by managers from Western Germany. The second group in terms of FDI in 2004 was the processing industry – 23% of all investments, of which about 27.2% were investments in the manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers. (see Figure 4).





Source: Deutsche Bundesbank (2008), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, p. 31.

In 2017, a significant change in the structure of the German FDI in Poland could be observed. The largest percentage share of total FDI of 53%, was accounted for by investments

⁶ Since there are no data available for 2004, data from the Central Statistical Office (GUS) for 2006 were used. These data do not include the banking and insurance sectors.

in the provision of financial and insurance services sector. The second-largest group of 23% (a small change compared to 2004), was FDI in the manufacturing industry; about 50% of this group were investments in the manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers, and semi-trailers. The percentage share of FDI in the administration and management of companies and the business sector decreased significantly in comparison to 2004 and amounted to 13% (see Figure 5).





In terms of the importance of investment for the development of the Polish economy, based on the list of the largest foreign investors in Poland prepared each year by the Polish Information and Foreign Investment Agency (PAIiIZ), it can be concluded that the large interest of German investors in the sector of industrial production activity (238 companies out of 468 in 2019 represented this sector) was connected with areas that can be classified as medium-high technology⁷. Several research projects conducted in Germany confirm the specialisation in this group of industries⁸. German investors have invested capital in medium-low and low technology departments. However, there is still a lack of German investoment in Poland in high technology sectors⁹.

Source: Deutsche Bundesbank (2019), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, p. 41.

⁷ List of Major Foreign Investors in Poland – February 2019.

⁸ Specialisation in this group of industries is confirmed by typical research specialising in Germany, see more: Weresa, 2002, p. 140 and Bogdańska-Czyrnek, 2014, pp. 422–423.

⁹ This situation can be explained as follows: a modern, unique technology is usually a source of advantage for its owners and allows them to achieve high profits. This also applies to the technology of producing cheaper or better goods qualitatively. It is obvious that corporations with such solutions will not be interested in their diffusion to other enterprises and countries.

In the light of surveys among over 300 German companies, the well-known German law firm Rödl&Partner, which serves German investors in the CEE region, presents a picture of Poland as the most important market for German products in this region. It also states that the business activities of German investors after accession in Poland developed best and that loyal and committed employees with the knowledge of German create a great basis for subsidiaries of German companies in Poland (PAIIIZ, 2005, p.19).

Since the analysis takes into account the location of German investments in Poland in the whole analysed period, it is possible to state their concentration in only a few voivodeships: Masovian – 30.6% in 2017, Greater Poland – 23.0% in 2017, and Lower Silesian – 17.9% in 2017 (GUS, 2018, pp. 38–41). The location and development of the investments in these regions may be related to the scale of respective regions development, the availability of the resources, sought knowledge, their respective geographical proximity and the fluency in the German language (this applies to provinces in Western Poland). The analyses carried out, however, indicate that the capital in a given province is located where it is based, and not where it is actually distributed.

3. Development of the Polish FDI in Germany

According to Germany Trade and Invest, a federal agency providing services to foreign investors, Germany is among the top ten recipients of foreign direct investment (FDI) in the world. According to official Bundesbank statistics for 2017, around sixty percent (or EUR 315 billion of all FDI stocks in Germany originate from within the European Union) with a further nine percent stemming from the remaining European non-EU countries. Germany is a very attractive destination for Polish companies to expand their business. In addition to the strategic foreign trade partnership between the two countries, Poland has enjoyed significantly an easier access to the German market, especially since Poland's accession to the EU in 2004. In mutual Polish-German relations, the phenomenon of asymmetry in the sphere of direct investments is visible. While Germany is one of the largest investors in Poland, Polish investments in Germany are at a much lower level (see Figure 6).

The level of the Polish FDI in Germany has been subject to high fluctuations since 2004, and its development can be considered a standout. In the years 2004–2009, their average inflow amounted to EUR 187.5 million. However, in 2010, we can observe a significant increase in this respect. Such significant fluctuations in the level of investments are evidenced by both multidirectional, dynamic flows Poland-Germany (capital inflows and outflows), as well as by high activity in other geographical directions in Europe. According to experts, investments of Polish companies abroad also result from the proper use of the opportunities offered by the economic crisis in the world. The record-breaking result took

place in 2011, when the inflow of the Polish FDI to Germany exceeded the level of EUR 2 billion. In the following years, this level decreased (the lowest in 2014 – EUR 1,071 billion).



Figure 6. The Polish FDI inflow to Germany in the years 2004–2017 (in EUR millions)

Source: Deutsche Bundesbank, (2019), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, p. 41; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2015), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main.; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2011), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49; Deutsche Bundesbank, (2008), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49.

One of the most difficult problems we encounter when trying to analyse Polish investments in Germany is the problem of limited access to data which concern comparable periods and counting with the same method of data on Polish direct investment in Germany. Due to the need to maintain statistical secrecy, the Bundesbank does not publish data on Polish FDI on a regional basis. Nor can we find such information in the reports of the NBP or any other institution. The reason for this may be a small scale of these expenditures. As in the case of preparing information concerning German investments in Poland, the list of the largest investors prepared by PAIiIZ was of some help, a similar list does not exist in relation to investment activity in Germany. This issue is mentioned by the authors of the study on companies with Polish capital operating in Germany from Nicolaus Copernicus University in Toruń (Karaszewski, 2008). They clearly indicate the difficulties in obtaining the necessary information in this field: "Identification of a full address list of companies with Polish capital turned out to be extremely difficult, if not impossible. Polish government agencies, just like the Polish Embassy in Berlin refused to provide information in this regard. The investigation carried out suggests that none of them has complete information on the activities of entities with Polish capital in that country. German sources do not provide such information either. The Bundesbank, as the only institution monitoring the inflow of capital has at its disposal data on the largest companies with Polish capital in Germany, however,

Katarzyna Kamińska

considering the data it possesses to be confidential, it also did not give its consent to make it available. (...) as economic entities operating in Germany are required to be members of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry, the following was included in the request to such units in the Land of North Rhine-Westphalia" (Karaszewski, 2008, pp. 24–25).

Given this situation, only the main directions of investment activity can be identified, but it is very difficult to draw more general conclusions. Moreover, there are many discrepancies in the number of entities and the value of outlays depending on the institution, which also makes it difficult to formulate conclusions and conduct an in-depth analysis of the Polish-German investment activity.

This part of article is based on the data from the annual reports of Deutsche Bundesbank, data from the Germany Trade & Invest agency and the Trade and Investment Promotion Department of the Polish Embassy in Berlin.

According to Germany Trade & Invest (GTAI), in 2017, most Polish companies operate in Berlin (580 companies with 1350 employees), North Rhine-Westphalia (250 companies, 2340 employees), Brandenburg (210 companies, 1740 employees), Saxony (150 companies, 1030 employees) and Bavaria (90 companies, 2850 employees), which is the federal state with the highest number of employees of Polish investors (GTAI, 2017, p.10). The authors of the aforementioned study of companies with Polish capital operating in Germany from Nicolaus Copernicus University in Toruń point out that the most positive influence on the development of the company on the German market is exerted by cooperation with a network of partners, demand on the local market, qualifications of technical staff, competences of top managers and company image. It may come as a surprise that modern technical equipment is of little importance (Długołęcka, 2008, pp. 271–301).

The Polish Embassy in Berlin estimated in 2018 that about 180,000 sole proprietorships with the participation of Polish citizens were based in Germany, including nearly 50,000 craft businesses. Over 40% of the companies operate in the construction industry, almost 15% in services: gardening, trade fairs, real estate and building care. Another 12% of the enterprises are active in trade and vehicle repair services, over 10% in caregiving to the elderly and disabled and in transport and catering. Most Polish entrepreneurs in Germany are self-employed, but the investments of large companies are significant in terms of capital (Olechowski, 2018).

In the years 2011–2016, Polish projects in Germany included the following sectors: 20% of projects were implemented in textiles, 18% in software & IT services, 10% in industrial machinery, equipment and tools, 8% in business services, 7% in consumer products, 7% in metals, and 30% in others. In terms of business activity, 44% of projects came from the sales, marketing & support area, 22% from retail, 9% from business services, 7% from headquarters and 18% from other areas (GTAI, 2017, p. 12).

The investment appeal of Germany for Polish economic entities, apart from quite universal factors, such as political, economic, legal and social situations, which are assessed very favourably in the vast majority of cases is a stable political system, advantageous economic situation, and well-established legal order (Kuzel, 2007, p. 81) along with geographical and cultural proximity, which give a sense of security to the business conducted. The main factors limiting the development are labour costs, labour law regulations and tax system.

Among the basic forms of business activity with foreign participation, the most frequently chosen by Polish investors is the form of subsidiary, i.e. creation of new enterprises or taking over enterprises existing on the foreign market.

Polish companies investing in Germany operate in a wide spectrum of industries ranging from fuel, chemistry, IT to assemblage and construction to trade and services. Germany attracts many Polish companies, which more and more often invest and create jobs, for example, in the fuel, chemical, IT, trade and service sectors. The largest Polish investors in Germany are: PKN Orlen S.A. (its German company Orlen Deutschland GmbH, headquartered in Elmshorn, is ranked 1st in the ranking of companies with the highest turnover in Schleswig-Holstein, which has 570 petrol stations), Grupa Azoty S.A. and Ciech S.A. It is also worth noting that there are cases of German companies taken over by Polish investors, which concerns both medium-sized German companies with well-recognised brands and a well-established position on foreign markets (including non-European). Another group includes takeovers of local companies in a difficult situation from a bankruptcy trustee.

Conclusions

The intensively developing Polish-German economic cooperation in the field of FDI promises its further development and gradual strengthening of contacts between the two countries. Although, as shown in this article, there is a significant asymmetry between the development of the German FDI in Poland and the Polish FDI in Germany, and trying to compare them according to a single key is difficult (problems with access to data on the activity of Polish enterprises in Germany or a relatively small scale of the Polish FDI in Germany), Polish investments in Germany and their development are an important signal of major changes in Polish-German economic relations. It clearly shows the growing potential of Polish enterprises and also brings some benefits to the German economy. Thanks to takeovers by Polish companies, it is often possible to save a German company from closure, a traditional family business operating in the SME sector.

If we take into account the importance of the German FDI for the development of the Polish economy, it must be stated that with regard to the large scale German investments in the manufacturing industry in Poland, companies have invested capital mainly in medium-low and low technology sectors. However, there is still no German investment in Poland in the high technology area. German FDI has allowed Polish companies to integrate into global supply chains. There is a further need to attract large investment projects to Poland. Appropriate promotion at a high government level plays an important role in this regard. In addition, there is a need to build a national innovation system in Poland that will enable Polish companies to specialise in certain types of production and build their own brands, as it may turn out that without government action, Polish entrepreneurs will only be forced to remain in the position of sub-suppliers at too low a value chain level (Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, 2019, p.33).

References .

- Bittorf M. (2020), Will economic relations between Germany and Poland thrive post-coronavirus?, *KfW Research*, no. 296, 27 July 2020.
- Bogdańska-Czyrnek, D. (2014), Inwestycje bezpośrednie: polskie w Niemczech, niemieckie w Polsce, in: J. Olszyński, A. Bielig (eds.) (2014), Nowe zjawiska w gospodarce Niemiec i polsko-niemieckich stosunkach gospodarczych, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw, p. 415.
- Czernicki, Czerwiński, Gurbiel, Popławski, (2019), Nowa współzależność. Perspektywy rozwoju polsko-niemieckiej współpracy gospodarczej, Klub Jagielloński, Warsaw, pp. 48–50.
- Deutsche Bundesbank, (2019), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, p. 41.
- Deutsche Bundesbank, (2015), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main.
- Deutsche Bundesbank, (2011), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49.
- Deutsche Bundesbank, (2008), Foreign direct investment stock statistics. Special Statistical Publication 10, Frankfurt am Main, pp. 14 and 49.
- Długołęcka, K. (2008), Rozwój polskich przedsiębiorstw bezpośredniego inwestowania w Republice Federalnej Niemiec, in: W. Karaszewski (ed.), Bezpośrednie inwestycje zagraniczne polskich przedsiębiorców, Toruń 2008, op. cit., pp. 279–301.
- GUS, (2006), Działalność gospodarcza podmiotów z kapitałem zagranicznym w 2006 r., Warsaw, p. 41.
- GUS, (2018), Działalność gospodarcza podmiotów z kapitałem zagranicznym w 2017 r., Warsaw, pp. 38-41.
- GTAI, (2017), Doing business in Germany. Services for Polish companies, Warsaw, pp.10 and 12.
- Janasz, K. (2011), Znaczenie bezpośrednich inwestycji zagranicznych w modernizacji gospodarki kraju, "Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego, Studia i Prace Wydziału Nauk Ekonomicznych i Zarządzania", no. 22, Szczecin, pp. 35–49.
- Kamińska, K., Kulińska-Sadłocha, E. (2019), Polityka wspierania eksportu w Polsce na tle rozwiązań niemieckich, in: J. Wandel, K. Kaminska (eds.) (2019), Polityka gospodarcza Niemiec i Polski w kontekście europejskim: Aktualne tendencje i implikacje dla współpracy bilateralnej, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw, pp. 200–201.

Karaszewski, R. (ed.), Bezpośrednie inwestycje zagraniczne polskich przedsiębiorców, Toruń 2008, pp. 24–25.

- Kuzel, M. (2007), Rola bezpośrednich inwestycji zagranicznych w dyfuzji wiedzy i umiejętności na przykładzie gospodarki Polski, Towarzystwo Naukowe Organizacji i Kierownictwa "Dom Organizatora", Toruń, p. 81.
- NBP (2019), Zagraniczne inwestycje bezpośrednie w Polsce w 2018 roku, online: https://www.nbp.pl/publikacje/zib/zib_2018_n.pdf
- Olechowski, J., (2018), Jak Polacy inwestują, to w Niemczech, "Newsweek", https://www.newsweek.pl/biznes/inwestycje-polskich-firm-pkn-orlen-comarch-niemcy-gospodarka-handel-newsweekpl/vq0c11d (access date 17/11/2019).
- PAIiIZ (2005), Polska jako miejsce lokowania inwestycji niemieckich. Przewagi lokalizacyjne w stosunku do Niemiec, Ekspertyza wykonana przez Instytut Badań nad Gospodarką Rynkową, Gdańsk.
- Romiszewska, I., Niemieckie inwestycje bezpośrednie w Polsce, in: D. Bingen, K. Malinowski (eds.) (2000), Polacy i Niemcy na drodze do partnerskiego sąsiedztwa. Próba bilansu dziesięciolecia 1989–1998, Instytut Zachodni, Poznań, pp. 426–427.
- https://www.newsweek.pl/biznes/inwestycje-polskich-firm-pkn-orlen-comarch-niemcy-gospodarka-handel-newsweekpl/vq0c11d (access date 17/11/2019).
- Rybiński, K. (2007), Globalizacja w trzech odsłonach, Difin, Warsaw, p. 21.
- Stępniak, A. (1996), Integracja regionalna i transfer kapitału. Inwestycje bezpośrednie w aspekcie klimatu inwestycyjnego w Unii Europejskiej, Wyd. Uniwersytetu Gdańskiego, pp. 233–242.
- Sońta-Drączkowska E. (2014), Polskie inwestycje w Niemczech, in: J. Olszyński, A. Bielig (eds.) (2014), Nowe zjawiska w gospodarce Niemiec i polsko-niemieckich stosunkach gospodarczych, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw, pp. 431–452.
- Statistisches Bundesamt, (2019), Außenhandel. Rangfolge der Handelspartner im Außenhandel der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, p. 2.
- Weresa M.A., (2002), Czynnik technologiczny we współpracy technologicznej Polski i Niemiec, in: W. Małachowski (ed.), Niemcy jako strategiczny partner Polski, Kolegium Gospodarki Światowej, Szkoła Główna Handlowa, Warsaw, p. 140.
Challenges in Sustaining Germany's Export-Oriented Economic Model

Jürgen Wandel

Introduction

Germany's economy is widely admired as an export-driven success story. According to the German Council of Economic Experts, half of its growth in real income per capita and roughly 30% of jobs in Germany in the last 20 years are attributable to trade (German Council of Economic Experts, 2017; items 629 ff.; 2018, p. 1; Financial Times 2018). Throughout its post-World War II history, the country has tended to run current account surpluses. However, their volume has been soaring since the introduction of the common currency in the European Union, and in particular in the wake of the on-going eurozone crises and has averaged at nearly 8 percent of GDP since 2005 (German Council of Economic Experts 2018, p. 3).

Most economists and politicians in Germany tend to see these surpluses as an indication of the competitiveness of the German economy. Meanwhile, however, doubts about the sustainability of Germany's export-oriented economic model are growing in face of the acceleration of digitalisation, the rise of protectionism in the United States, Brexit fears and a rapid catching up process pursued by the emerging markets, in particular China, which are major buyers of German manufactured goods (Deutsche Bank Research 2019; German Council of Economic Experts, 2018). With its Belt and Road initiative and Made in China 2025 programme, the Chinese government intensified its efforts to expand to other markets, to acquire foreign technology and substitute high-tech imports for domestically manufactured goods. The aim is to replace the existing foreign technology leaders in the medium term and to unpick the value chains in manufacturing by switching from cheap, low quality labour-intensive goods to higher value goods and services (Tilford, 2018; DB Research, 2019).

This increasing pressure on Germany's export-oriented economic model to remain internationally competitive and hence to sustain prosperity and a high-level of employment triggered a debate about the most important challenges the German economy faces and how they can be met best. The discussion gained new momentum, when growth prospects started to deteriorate in the last quarter of 2018¹ and then in February 2019, Germany's Economy Minister Peter Altmaier published the so called National Industrial Strategy 2030. The ministry lays down in it its view on the challenges Germany encounters and provides policy proposals to sustain leadership on international markets. The authors of the document deplore that Germany is no longer an international top player in new ground-breaking innovations and key technologies, such as artificial intelligence, and is about to fall even further behind competitors from the United States or China. In order to secure and regain a leading role on global markets, the strategy advocates increasing pro-active government interventions, in particular raising the manufacturing share in GDP both in Germany and in the European Union, increasing the domestic value-added content of exports and promoting national champions (Altmaier 2019).

Against this background, the study takes up the debate and reviews the challenges Germany faces to sustain its export-oriented economic model and the related policy implications as addressed in the National Industrial Strategy. In this connection, it applies an analytical framework that draws mainly on the Market Process Theory as developed by 1974 Nobel laureate Friedrich August von Hayek and Israel Kirzner combined with insights of the institutionalist theory of economic development. The market process theory identifies informational constraints of economic and political actors for achieving the desired ends as the central economic problem (Hayek 1937, 1945) and concludes that dispersed knowledge and information held by various actors can only be utilised fully and efficiently to promote wealth in a decentralised market system with free pricing and competition, which is understood as a dynamic open-ended process of entrepreneurial discovery (Hayek 1978).

Institutional scholars demonstrated that economic progress relies crucially on the right rules of the game (formal and informal institutions) as they determine whether people get engaged in productive, unproductive, or even destructive behaviours (Acemoglu & Johnson, 2005; Acemoglu & Robinson, 2012; Baumol, 1990; Leeson & Boettke 2009, North et al., 2009, 2012). From this follows that an analysis of actual challenges and its policy implica-

Germany's economic prospects turned down with the growth shrinking to -0.1% in the second quarter of 2019. Output fell across the three months to June by 1.8% compared with the first quarter of the year, driven by steep drops in metal production, machinery and automobile manufacturing (Guardian, 2019).

tions for sustaining Germany's export-oriented economic model has to focus primarily on the weight that is given to competition as an entrepreneurial discovery process and on the requisite institutional conditions.

It will be argued that Germany's threatened leading role on the world markets is mainly related to an unfavourable domestic institutional environment for productive entrepreneurship and to the ultra-loose monetary policy of the European Central bank that prevents Schumpeterian creative destruction and structural change. Yet, rather than to provide an in-depth empirical analysis, the paper offers a starting point toward reconsidering the longevity of Germany's industry-focused export-oriented economic model and the feasibility of deliberate design and steering of economic progress both nationally and internationally by highlighting insurmountable epistemic and motivational constraints.

The remainder of the paper is organised as follows: Sections 2 and 3 examine the importance of manufacturing and the global value chains for prosperity, Sections 4 and 5 discuss the role of technology and firm size for economic progress, while Sections 6 and 7 respectively review external and domestic impediments to the economic upgrading in Germany. Section 8 explores policy implications and section 9 provides conclusions.

Manufacturing and economic prosperity

Germany's exports are dominated by traditional manufacturing goods. They are led by vehicles and vehicle parts, which in 2017 represented 18.4% of the total exports of Germany, followed by machinery (14.4%), chemical products (9.0%) and computer and electrical equipment (8.7%). The main imported goods were of a similar kind with vehicles and vehicle parts having a share of 11.2%, computer/electrical equipment 10.9%, machinery 8.0% and chemical products 7.6%. While the trade in goods typically records a surplus, Germany's trade in services usually runs a deficit. In 2017, the trade surplus of goods amounted to \notin 245 billion, which was opposed by a deficit on trade in services of \notin 18.7 billion. (Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie, 2018).

The preponderance of industrial goods in Germany's exports prompted the policy makers in (e.g. Altmeier, 2019, p. 4f.) and outside Germany to see a strong industrial sector as a prerequisite for competitiveness and prosperity. For example, Poland's Morawiecki plan for a responsible development contains therefore reindustrialisation as one of its explicit goals. Similarly, US President Donald Trump calls for more manufacturing jobs in his country (Ydstie, 2018). Germany's new National Industrial Strategy even suggests a quantitative target to increase the contribution of manufacturing to the total German gross value added from 23% in 2018 to 25% and in the EU as a whole from 16.4% to 20% in 2030 (Altmeier 2019, p. 4). Yet, there is neither convincing empirical nor theoretical foundation that only a large industrial sector can maintain high economic growth and a country's innovation capacity. While there are indications that countries with a current account surplus tend to have a high share of manufacturing in gross value added (Table 1, see also Grömling 2014), it does not imply that countries with a deficit are worse off. Zettelmeyer (2019) showed that countries whose manufacturing share declined more than in Germany usually grow more rapidly and experienced no collapse of their innovative capacity. For example, the United States has a manufacturing share of only 12% and nevertheless is still quite innovative.

Country	Manufacturing, value added (% of GDP)		Current account balance (% of GDP)	
	2007	2017	2007	2017
China	32.38	29.3	9.95	1.6
South Korea	25.46	27.5	0.93	4.91
Japan	22.07	20.72	4.69	4.15
Germany	21.09	21.06	6.85	8
Ireland	17.94	31.65	-5.13	1.01
Switzerland	17.65	17.9	9.98	6.68
Italy	15.95	14.88	-1.38	2.65
Spain	13.47	12.84	-9.67	1.9
USA	12.78	11.15	-4.92	-2.26
Netherlands	12	11.05	5.9	10.8
France	11.63	9.99	-0.33	-0.63
United Kingdom	9.02	8.97	-3.56	-3.33

Table 1. Share of manufacturing and current account balance in GDP

Source: the World Bank Data, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/BN.CAB.XOKA.GD.ZS

From the market process view, the economic structure of a country is the result of competition as an entrepreneurial-driven discovery procedure reflecting the country's respective institutional conditions and relative competitive advantages at the international level. Therefore, this structure differs across countries and changes over time. Among developed countries, with 21%, Germany has actually one of the highest manufacturing shares of gross value added. This is commonly attributed to a strong demand for German cars and traditional capital goods from catching-up emerging countries and especially from China. These countries need these products for their industrial development and appreciate in particular the quality of German cars and machine tools (Foders & Vogelsang 2014; Marin et al., 2015; Südekum 2018). Moreover, as Grömling (2014, p. 32) noted, despite progress in modern information and communication technologies and an increasing trend towards outsourcing in the service sector "a considerable range of services are still not internationally tradable." Therefore, the international division of labour is still more advanced in the production of goods than services. Finally, international trade liberalisation has so far favoured goods over services. So, for the time being Germany's high manufacturing share in exports and its economic structure must indeed be seen as the result of superior entrepreneurship and competitiveness of these products. It reflects the country's comparative advantage, which is particularly strong in the field of middle-range technologies (Foders & Vogelsang 2014).

However, it is expected that this high share of manufacturing cannot be sustained in the near future primarily for two reasons (Berthold, 2017, 2018). First, many emerging markets are catching up and have meanwhile become industrialised. They will climb the value-added chain so that they are likely to become more important competitors for numerous industrial products. As Felbermayr underscored in an interview for the journal "Wirtschaftswoche" (2019), the dynamics of this catching-up process has given trade of manufactured capital goods a special boom, from which Germany has benefited. This special boom is going to end now and the structural change towards services is intensifying. As a result, the global trade, consisting of up to 85% of industrial goods so far, might slow down.

Not only does the demand for trading partners shift, but also factors in Germany will necessitate structural changes and hence constitute the second reason for a declining importance of manufacturing in the near future. As income rises, people's consumption of services grows faster than that of manufactured goods (Murata, 2007). At the same time, innovations such as robots and offshoring of production tend to raise productivity in manufacturing higher than in services (Pilat et al. 2006). As in most other advanced economies, manufacturing jobs will be replaced by service jobs, for example in research, consulting, and other business services (Zettelmeyer 2019). Against this background, the German government would be ill-advised to prevent or even reverse this natural development of the market process.

Global value chains and competitiveness

Similarly, there is a questionable suggestion made by the German government to limit German and European firms participation in international value chains to the European Union in order to make "the individual links in the chain more resistant to trade and other geopolitical disruptions" and so also to increase the likelihood "that a competitive lead can be achieved or extended." (Altmeier, 2019, p. 11).

As the EU Commission (2019) reports, Germany's automotive sector has one of the most internationalised value chains in the world. In 2017, about 66% of German-branded vehicles were produced abroad. In a similar vein, German equipment manufacturers rely heavily on suppliers located in other countries, notably from the rest of the EU, representing up to 80% of the value added. Just as the economic structure of a country, the global value

chains are principally a natural outcome of the market process. They are actually a further development of the division of labour. It is a largely undisputed insight of economics that goes back to Adam Smith and David Ricardo that the division of labour according to comparative advantages made possible by the voluntary exchange process on the marketplace is the major driver of efficiency and prosperity, both within and between nations. The larger the extent of the market, the further the specialisation can go. Innovations in communications and transportation technologies, together with institutional and market reforms have extended the market ever further and enable specialisation at a very detailed level.² Alert and creative entrepreneurs try to exploit this benefit of trade and assign the production steps to those countries where they can be performed most effectively. Thereby, they are aware of the risk of disruption and weigh it against the cost advantages of slicing up the value chain to countries beyond the EU. By assigning various stages of the production process to the most efficient units in various countries, international value chains increase productivity and prosperity (Baldwin 2016). In contrast, the more restricted the economic area over which this unbundling is possible, the smaller the potential efficiency gain.

Marin (2018) shows how beneficial the expansion of production networks to Central and Eastern Europe has been to the competitiveness of German firms. It has helped entrepreneurs to keep costs down, win market shares globally and sustain employment in Germany. Therefore, there is no economic justification for the government interventions into the international global value chain formation. In the market process view finding its place in the international value chain is the task of private entrepreneurs, because they have the best knowledge of how to best meet consumer needs. This, of course, includes also the possibility of relocating production stages when deemed profitable. The 2019 Global Value Chain Development Report does not rule out that new digital technologies such as Internet of things, big data analytics, and autonomous robotics might have such an impact on GVCs and encourage the re-shoring of manufacturing production. The opposite is equally likely. They might strengthen GVCs by reducing coordination and matching costs between buyers and suppliers even further (World Bank; World Trade Organisation 2019).

The role of technology

The National Industrial Strategy sees the key to sustain international competitiveness in ground-breaking technologies (Altmeier, 2019, p. 9). It contends that it is very difficult for competitors to catch up once they have lost technologies to other competitors or fallen behind technological developments. To exemplify, it mentions biotechnologies, artificial intelligence,

² For more detail on the GVC phenomenon see e.g. Amador et al. (2016); Baldwin (2016), Blanchard (2019) or Johnson and Noguera (2017).

Internet companies of the digital platform economy which are "currently developing almost exclusively in the USA and in China". The strategy also laments the loss of Germany's leading position in the entertainment electronics in the 1970 s to Asian countries like Japan and South Korea, which it sees as the reason for "the inability of Europe to get a foothold in the new fields of telecommunications technology and computer electronics" (e.g. smartphones, tablets, etc.). Fears are expressed that also Germany's major industry, the automotive sector, might miss ground-breaking innovations, which the ministry sees in autonomous driving, electromobility and the development of completely new mobility concepts. Integrating digital technologies into traditional industrial products is identified as one of the major challenges for the German industry. Therefore, the government plans "to promote innovative technologies to a greater extent and to protect strategically important areas." (Altmeier, 2019, p. 2).

From the perspective of the market process theory and institutionalist development economics, this conclusion and the arguments on which it is based are unconvincing. Firstly, it rests on the belief that what matters most for growth is innovative technology and grasping those stages of the global value chain that are deemed to create the greatest value added. It is true that according to the neoclassical growth theory, technological progress in general improves productivity and hence raises prosperity (Solow 1956). Yet, what ultimately matters, is not technology per se, but *how* technology and other production factors are used – in a productive, unproductive, or even destructive way (Boettke & Piano 2016). Baumol (1990) and other institutional economists like Acemoglu and Robinson (2012), North (1990), North et al. (2012) or Olson (2000) demonstrated that this depends fundamentally on the formal and informal institutions, because they shape the incentives underlying individual actions. Baumol (1990, p. 291) said that e.g. medieval China, the most technologically, scientifically, and culturally advanced society of the world for many centuries, was unable to produce sustainable economic growth, because the rules of the game "were heavily biased against the acquisition of wealth and position" through Schumpeterian entrepreneurship.

Secondly, governments cannot have the knowledge to identify profitable technologies. What matters in a market economy is not the general technical feasibility to produce something, for example e-cars, but that consumer preferences are met. The knowledge to find this out is needed much more than the scientific knowledge of experts of pure technological opportunities and contexts. It is what Hayek (1945, p. 521) refers to as "the knowledge of the particular circumstances of time and place", i.e. information of what is needed, who needs it, and who has the means to meet these needs. This kind of knowledge is not only constantly changing, it is also dispersed and fragmented among the millions of individuals who compose the society and are often held in inarticulate forms.³

³ This knowledge is accumulated from everyday experience as a result of interacting with others, e.g. customers and suppliers, and "the amount of knowledge each of us possesses to do much of the everyday things of

Moreover, taking into account the limited cognitive abilities of every human being to capture and process all this multi-layered, interconnected knowledge that only resides as scattered and decentralised bits of information in the minds of individual members of society, the market process theory holds it impossible that a centralised body of experts and politicians will be able to find out technologies that really meet consumer preferences. An illustration, of how technologies favoured by policy typically miss consumer demand is Germany's support of electromobility. In a round-table interview in Munich in June 2019, BMW director of development, Klaus Fröhlich stated that "there are no customer requests for battery-electric vehicles (BEV). None. There are regulator requests for BEVs, but no customer requests" (Forbes, 27 June 2019). In the view of the market process theory, the information what consumers really want can most reliably only be generated and transmitted by market competition through profit-and-loss feedbacks and the changes in relative prices.

Does the firm size matter?

A further alleged challenge put to discussion by the National Industrial Strategy is the role of the firm size for innovations and international competitiveness. The Economy Ministry holds that with regard to it the ability to create very large companies does matter, the examples are: Apple, Amazon, Google, Microsoft and General Electric. By contrast, "hardly any new enterprises of this size have emerged in Germany for years and that instead former world leaders such as AEG or Grundig long lost their position." It is argued that only large enterprises "make a substantial contribution to value added" (Altmeier, 2019, p. 14) and therefore the long-term success and the survival of national champions are regarded to be "in the national political and economic interest." In order to create national and European champions, it is suggested to review the current EU competition law which is seen to prevent the creation of such companies.

Like the economic structure and technology in a market economy, the firm size is the result of the market process under the prevailing institutional conditions. Thereby product, production or specific conditions, such as economies of scale, network effects, critical masses and access to extensive data may necessitate a larger firm size and create what Bourne (2019a, p. 2) calls "winner-take-all markets that tip toward one company being persistently successful for a period". However, in an unhampered market process, and this dominant position is never eternal. It is always contestable over long periods, with dynamic innovation and competition. Bourne (2019a) reviewed a number of cases, which were widely consid-

life, but which we would find difficult to articulate and express in clear detail in any spoken or written form" (Ebeling 2014).

ered unassailable "monopolies", such as Myspace, Nokia, Kodak, Apple's iTunes, Microsoft's Internet Explorer. None of them enjoyed continued dominance, and disintegrated or disappeared in the face of technological innovations or rival competitors with differentiated products, just as Schumpeter theorised (see also Haucap, 2019).

Moreover, there is no convincing causality between the firm size and innovation. As the National Strategy itself mentions Germany's hitherto success with classical manufacturing of goods on world markets is owed to a large extent to small and medium-sized enterprises. There is no theoretical and empirical foundation to expect that they might not be able to cope with "the rapid pace of innovation and in particular digitalisation, just because their special technological capabilities have hitherto been in other areas". Smaller firms usually have less hierarchy and are thus closer to information on market demands and quicker to improve product quality or introduce new products (Marin, 2018). By contrast, larger firms often encounter coordination and principal agency problems, inflexibilities and conservative behavior which might offset potential advantages in raising funds for research and development (Döring 2012). In the market process view, it is not the firm size that matters for innovative behaviour but intense competition with unhampered and undistorted profit-and-loss feedbacks. Fierce competition forces producers to constantly innovate and improve what they offer and how they produce it to prevent their customers from defecting to others.

Haucap (2019) showed that large-scale mergers often lead to reduced spending on research and development, and in turn to less innovation. Moreover, if the government assigns certain firms the status of national champions, this might imply an implicit or explicit state guarantee, which typically promotes moral hazard and entrenches economic power to detriment of other competitors and potential customers of these companies. In fact, the National Industrial Strategy points into this direction stating that "the long-term success and the survival of such enterprises is in the national political and economic interest" (Altmaier 2019, p. 12).

Unfair international competition

A severe threat to Germany's leadership in international markets is seen in expansive and protectionist industrial policies of other countries, in particular China and the USA, which is labelled as unfair competition. For example, the Obama administration in the USA provided extensive support for research and development in artificial intelligence, digitalisation, autonomous driving and biotechnology. The Trump administration undertakes great efforts "to revitalise and protect traditional industrial sectors ... with its "America First" policy and to relocate lost shares in value added to the USA (Altmeier, 2019, p. 4). At the same time, in 2015, China launched its "Made in China 2025" agenda, which intends to strengthen key technologies in ten selected sectors through an active industrial policy (p. 6) in order to gradually replace foreign technology with Chinese (see also BDI 2019a; McBride and Chatzky 2018). What is deemed unfair in this process is the direct or indirect subsidisation of Chinese competitors by an undemocratic authoritarian government, which might pursue geo-strategic goals. Of particular concern are Chinese takeovers of German or EU companies to acquire the state-of-the art technology. Therefore, the ministry plans

to prevent such acquisitions in order to "defend against risks to national security, including the area of critical infrastructures" (p. 12) through purchases of those shares by the German government for a limited period of time.

This suggestion is implicitly based on two misconceptions: (1) the mercantilist fallacy that views trade as a zero-sum game where countries compete against each other and can only win if the other loses, and (2) the level playing field fallacy. The classical trade theory shows that voluntary trade is always beneficial to both sides, otherwise they would not engage in it. These benefits from trade do not disappear when foreign governments intervene in their economies more than in their own, e.g. through subsidies (Lemieux, 2017). This is actually what the level playing field argument fails to see. As Krugman (1997) contended that although government regulations and taxes are part of the comparative advantage landscape and change relative prices, they do not extinguish comparative advantage and the benefits from trade. Therefore, attempts to create a level playing field by subsidising, sealing-off or other protectionist measures are in fact self-damaging. When a trading partner subsidises its exports it unlevels the playing field, however, in favour of the importing countries and against its own citizens. The consumers of the importing country gain from lower prices for imports and their real incomes rises. Resources released in import competing industries can then be invested in the creation of high paying jobs to produce goods and services where they were previously too costly to produce. The most obvious negative consequence of restrictions on takeovers of German firms by certain foreign investors, e.g. from China, is that it could stifle desirable Chinese foreign direct investment for restructuring weaker companies or providing risk capital for start-up firms. Germany should instead keep its economy completely open and unhampered from government interventions irrespective of what other countries may do (Lemieux 2017; 2018a; Rodrik 2018; Krugman 1997).

Domestic impediments

The level playing field or "fairness" argument usually diverts attention from domestic impediments for German enterprises to sustain leadership on global markets. As shown in Wandel (2018), under the chancellorship of Angela Merkel the market process has increasingly been stifled by socially and ecologically motivated regulations. Examples are

the nationwide minimum wage, the rent break or the energy transition to renewables. Lately in September 2019, the so called agricultural packet was passed with further detailed regulation of the use of inputs in production processes (Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und nukleare Sicherheit, 2019). In addition, enterprises are plagued by a high tax burden on corporations and one of the highest electricity costs in Europe (Wolff 2018).

This growing government interference with the market process is reflected in the 2019 Index of Economic Freedom Ranking of the Heritage Foundation (2019). While business, trade and investment freedoms are still considered strong with 83.3 (86.7), 86(87) and 80 points of maximum 100, government spending (42.3), labour freedom (52.8), and tax burden (60.8) have relatively low scores. Germany's overall ranking deteriorated from the 17th place worldwide in 2015 to the 24th; in Europe from the 7th in 2015 to the 14th. Similarly, in the 2019, the Ease of Doing Business index of the World Bank ranked Germany 24th out of 190 countries, down from 14th in 2015.

As a consequence, investment activities and productivity gains are low, while rent-seeking is stimulated. The EU Commission (2016) reported that "since the beginning of the last decade, the rate of investment in Germany has been significantly lower than in the rest of the euro area." The proportion of German GDP going to investment fell from 21% in 2000 to 17% in 2013 and even after the euro crisis, it remains below the EU average of 23% with its 20% (EU Commission 2019). According to the IMF (2019, p. 69f) corporate investment in Germany has remained at relatively low levels with around 12–13% of real GDP since the mid-1990 s. Yet, while German companies are reluctant to invest at home, they continue to invest abroad, especially in the fast-growing Asian markets (Financial Times, 2018b). Görg (2019) pointed to the mismatch between the inflow and outflow of foreign direct investment (FDI) in or out of Germany as indication for the declining attractivity of the country as an investment location. As of 2017, FDI inflows to Germany amounted to USD 931 billion, while FDI outflows of USD 1,610 billion were 1.7 times higher. In the United Kingdom, Ireland, the USA and China FDI in- and outflows are much more balanced. The German Council of Economic Experts (2018, p. 161) found in its 2018/19 annual report that productivity gains were remarkably low in the upturn following the 2008 global financial and eurozone crisis. The growth in total factor productivity (TFP) dropped from nearly 1.6% in 1991 to below 0.5% in 2009 and has remained at a relatively low level of 0.6% since then (see also Elstner et al., 2018).

As Baumol (1990) emphasised, the more regulated the economy is, the more effort entrepreneurs devote to innovations in unproductive or even destructive rent-seeking procedures, because this promises greater returns than investments in productive technologies which improve productivity and better serve consumer needs. Germany's energy transition is a case in point. It is a big rent-extraction seeking machine that brought about a host of interest groups with vested interests that all owe their existence to the current centrally planning-type support system (Wandel 2015). The lucrative subsidy scheme caused traditional producers, such as RWE, E.ON, or Siemens to switch into the renewables business (Wiwo 2014).

Not only does the unfavourable investment climate in Germany contribute much to the loss of productivity gains but also the ultra-loose monetary policy of the European Central Bank as it conserves inefficient business structure and prevents creative destruction. As Gunther Schnabl (2019) explains, prior to the introduction of the common currency, the stability-oriented monetary policy course of the Deutsche Bundesbank put the German mark permanently under upward pressure which incentivised German entrepreneurs to continuously improve efficiency through innovations in order to stay internationally competitive. The devaluation of the euro due to the EBC's loose monetary policy released that pressure and created windfall profits for German exporters without the need to increase productivity (see also Schnabl, 2017).

According to the Mises-Hayek business cycle theory (Mises 2009/1912; Hayek, 1935, 1966/1929), an artificial expansion of money supply which pushes interest rates for bank credit below what would have been determined on the free market by time preferences, inevitably leads to a large-scale misallocation of resources, because these artificially favourable refinancing conditions trigger investment projects with lower expected returns (Mises 1998). The longer such an expansionary monetary policy is pursued, the more unprofitable enterprises stay in business with higher free market interest rates. This cements the economic structure and impedes the most important feature of the market system - creative destruction and the constant reallocation of resources. In the literature, this situation is referred to as the zombification of the economy. It means that more and more firms which are unprofitable, unable to pay even the interest on their debt out of their profits, are kept alive by banks continuing to lend them money to repay their existing loans. These companies which are effectively bankrupt but do not go out of business are termed "zombie companies", following the paper by Caballero et al. (2008). This phenomenon was observed first in Japan, after their real estate and stock market bubble burst in the early 1990 s, to which Japan's central bank reacted with a similar extremely expansionary monetary policy. Lately, the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) documents this phenomenon for the Eurozone (see e.g. Schivardi et al., 2017; Banerjee and Hofmann, 2018). According to McGowan et al. (2017), there are meanwhile more zombie companies in Germany than in Japan. As Banerjee and Hofmann (2018) and Mahtani et al. (2018) show zombie companies are kept alive only with low interest rates and/or lax banking regulations which act as what Kornai (1986) called soft budget constraints. Yet, if enterprises can expect to get always a cheap credit without tight conditions with respect to profitability, this expectation discourages the pursuit of innovation and cost savings. At the same time, their presence discourages investment in and employment at more productive firms (Hoffmann & Schnabl 2016). Moreover, economically more sound firms have an incentive to substitute fixed capital investment by speculation in the financial markets, because the European Central Bank crisis management drives up asset prices (Schnabl 2017, p. 10). Hence, resources are misallocated, which, as numerous studies have shown, slows the growth of the entire economy (Andrews et al., 2018).

Policy implications

If, as seen from the standpoint of the Hayek-Kirzner market process theory and institutional economics, the ultimate cause for Germany's stagnating international competitiveness is an unfavourable institutional framework coupled with the perverse incentives of the ECB's monetary policy for productive entrepreneurship, then economic policy measures should be aimed at removing all these obstacles that stifle competition as a discovery procedure and creative destruction. However, political economy constrains make this option not very attractive. It is even more difficult to bring about a fundamental change of the ECB's monetary policy. The logical political prescription that flows from the Hayekian business cycle and market process theory is to stop an artificial monetary expansion and allow creative destruction to proceed as fast as possible with its work of readjustment. Yet, not only does Germany not have much power to influence monetary policy given the voting procedure of one country one vote in the ECB. It. would also be related to tremendous political and social cost. If the central bank raised interest rates significantly, it would soon cause a major bankruptcy wave. But, the continuation of this course is no better alternative, because it only delays the needed Schumpeterian creative destruction (Schumpeter 1934). And this means permanently reduced productivity and slower economic growth. Because of this impasse, Schnabl (2017) considers Germany caught in a low-interest rate and export trap. Germany owes its current success on the labour market to its export industry that thrives largely due to the undervalued euro and not because of productivity gains.

In this seemingly hopeless situation, it appears attractive for policy makers to respond to the existing economic challenges with more government interventions and economic nationalism (Hayek 1944.). This is the direction of Germany's National Industrial Strategy with its suggestion to restrict inward direct investment, bring back value chains, to foster national champions and favour certain technologies. Admittedly, the document does not base its policy recommendations on the export trap explanation nor on suffocating domestic regulations for private entrepreneurship. Instead, it points to the alleged shortsightedness of private business "that has its sights set on its own advancement and not that of the entire country.... and on supposed market failure that prevents market forces in a country from maintaining "its innovative strength and competitiveness." (Altmeier, 2019, p. 2).

Any form of industrial policy, however, is plagued with two fundamental insurmountable problems: limited knowledge and perverse political incentives. For policymakers to improve the resource allocation that the market process generates and to predict successfully an unknowable future, they would need to possess superior knowledge as compared to market actors. As explained in section 4, this is impossible not only due to the limited cognitive abilities to grasp and process the vast amounts of dispersed knowledge in a complex and everchanging market process. The policymakers are also exposed to different incentives. While alert private entrepreneurs invest their own resources, they must be careful and astute when making investment decisions. In contrast, government bodies are generally institutionally precluded from capturing pecuniary profits in the course of their activities. But even when they could, they often do not face the same constraints as private firms. They usually use taxpayer money and do not face bankruptcy in the case of long-term losses. This encourages risky behaviour and investment often in large-scale, visible projects that are deemed to contribute to economic growth, but in fact often turn out economically not viable. At the same time, industrial policies facilitate rent-seeking and regulatory capture by politically powerful groups looking for selective benefits that provide them with advantages over rival firms. Therefore, politicians' self-interest combined with their limited knowledge raise serious doubts that they will and can successfully promote the industrial policy. (Kirzner, 1978). In fact, cases of failed sector- and firm-specific industrial policies abound: (see e.g. Pack and Saggi 2006; Naudé 2010). Some of the most prominent examples of unprofitable industrial policy projects from Germany are Transrapid, Cargo Lifter (see Schnellenbach, 2019), the failed investments of Nokia in Ruhr-area and of Bombardier (see Klodt, 2017) in the city of Halle and the energy transition with the decline of the solar industry in 2011 and the wind power sector since 2018 after the German government changed the support scheme from fixed feed-in tariffs to a tendering model in 2017 and removed privileges for community wind farms (Spiegel-Online 2019).

The proponents of national industrial policy often point to East Asian countries like Japan, South Korea or China as showcases of what such policies allegedly can do (e.g. Rodrik, 2013; Greenwald and Stiglitz, 2014). Referring to China, Germany's National Industrial Strategy contends that a policy approach "that combines market economy principles with proactive and flanking policy, has so far proved most successful". However, the empirical evidence is weak that industrial policy makes the difference rather than economic freedom (Noland and Pack, 2003, 2005; Robinson, 2009). In fact, East Asian tiger countries have relatively high scores of economic freedom and are among the most economically free countries in the world. While none of these economies constitute completely free market economies, it is difficult to maintain that they owe their success to high levels of state intervention rather than to an institutional framework which is conducive to productive entrepreneurship (Pennington, 2011). Likewise, China's economic growth of unprecedented proportions was set off by the establishment of private property rights and other economic freedoms since 1978 (Coase and Wang 2012; Lardy 2014; Zhang, 2015). A working paper from the World Economic Forum released earlier this year stated that it is China's private sector which serving as the main driver of China's economic growth (Guluzade, 2019), Similarly, Zhang (2015) underscores that the reason for China's sustained economic growth was the relaxation of government control so that the government managed less and the proportion of state-owned enterprises decreased, not the other way around. By contrast, China with its economic slowdown since 2014, overcapacities in key industries, loss-making factories, volatile and declining stock prices and property values and high total debt to-GDP of nearly 300% is not in the least attributed to too much state involvement all the time (see e.g. Dorn, 2015; Grass, 2019; Lardy, 2014).

In the 1970s and 1980s, it was Japan whose economic success on the world market was attributed in large part to government involvement in the economy through the Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI). Yet, there is no convincing indication of a causal relationship between the industrial policy and Japan's economic success. By contrast, there is much evidence that the Japanese economy flourished *despite* the activities of MITI, because entrepreneurs were exposed to relatively intense competition (see e.g., Beason and Weinstein, 1995; Henderson 2017). Meanwhile, after decades of outstanding economic growth since World War II, Japan's economy faltered in 1990 and has been stagnating ever since in spite or – in the view of the Mises-Hayek overinvestment business cycle theory – because of massive government interventions through several fiscal stimulus packages, recapitalisation of banks and monetary easing over the last 20 years (see e.g. Schnabl, 2012).

Reframing the issue from picking market winners to losers (in particular coordination failure and information externalities) as suggested e.g. by the Hausmann-Rodrik team at Harvard University (e.g. Greenwald and Stiglitz, 2014; Hausmann and Rodrik, 2003; Rodrik, 2004, 2008, 2010, 2013) does nothing to resolve the fundamental problems of industrial policy. Not only are there insurmountable practical difficulties to pin down market "failure", as even proponents of this so called new industrial policies overtly admit (Hausmann et al., 2008; Rodrik 2008), but there is also no convincing theoretical foundation, from the perspective of the Hayek-Kirzner market process theory. The market failure argument is anchored in the benchmark model of perfect competition, which portrays competition as an allocation mechanism leading to completely predictable outcomes in the form of market equilibrium. However, this is an unreachable utopian ideal, so that compared to this ideal, the real-world markets must necessarily "fail" all the time (Bourne, 2019b; Carden and Horwitz, 2013). As already noted, according to the market process theory, competition is primarily understood as a discovery procedure, the concrete outcome of which is unpredictable. If it were, competition would be unnecessary. It follows from this that it cannot be announced that one can improve the performance of the market to bring about a desirable

sectoral composition (Kirzner, 1978). For Hayek (1990, p. 169), the pretense to know this is "the extreme of hubris. Guided progress would not be progress." In order to perform its discovery function, market competition does not need to be perfect (Hayek, 1990). On the contrary, as Kirzner (1973) showed, it is precisely the so called "market failures" that offer an unexploited profit opportunity for entrepreneurs. It is the market process itself that over time corrects unsatisfying states of affairs and effectively improves coordination, because it itself "engenders the incentives and information necessary to discover and correct its own maladjustments in the allocation of resources" (Sautet, 2010, p. 87). This, however, requires an appropriate institutional framework that keeps markets open, secures private property rights and the rule of law, and does not distort price signals and confiscate away profits though taxation. In fact, a growing body of studies provides empirical evidence that more economically free countries or subnational regions encourage more entrepreneurial activity and economic growth (see e.g. Bjørnskov and Foss, 2012, Boudreaux and Nikolaev, 2019; Nikolaev et al. 2018; De Haan et al., 2006, Tuszynski and Stansel, 2018; Wagner and Bologna Pavlik, 2019).

Conclusions

Germany's industry-based export oriented economic model is faltering. Investment and productivity growth as well the development of ground-breaking innovations are weak and demand for its traditional capital goods from emerging markets is slowing down. This puts Germany's economy under mounting pressure for upgrading and adapt to demand shifts and dynamics on the global market as well as structural and technological changes as digitalisation and innovation become increasingly important drivers of value added (IMF 2019).

Although the German government is aware of the eroding competitiveness, it fails to diagnose properly the ultimate causes in its 2019 National Industrial Strategy. Rather than external threats from other countries, shortsightedness of private business and market failures, the impediments are home-made overregulation of the economy coupled with the undervalued common currency of the European Union. The appropriate therapy is therefore not less, but more of the market economy. Interestingly, this is what the National Industrial Strategy says itself in its foreword, while the rest of the documents and its concrete policy proposals point to the opposite direction. Thereby, it underestimates the insurmountable informational and motivation problems with an industrial policy of whatever kind. Yet, as Hayek (1989, p. 55) pointed out, "If man is not to do more harm than good in his efforts to improve the social order, he will have to learn that in this, as in all other fields where essential complexity of an organized kind prevails (such as in the modern market economy), he cannot acquire the full knowledge which would make mastery of the events possi-

ble. He will therefore have to use what knowledge he can achieve, not to shape the results as the craftsman shapes his handiwork, but rather to cultivate a growth by providing the appropriate environment, in the manner in which the gardener does this for his plants."

A remarkably large part of the German corporate sector is quite critical about the state taking a more active role in the form of state participations (see e.g. BDI; 2019b, Sued-deutsche Zeitung, 2019). This shows that German companies are less concerned about sufficient state intervention and protection and more about a favourable institutional and policy framework in Germany (and in the EU) which removes barriers to productive entrepreneurship.

References _

- Acemoglu, D., and Johnson, S., (2005), Unbundling institutions, Journal of Political Economy, 113, 949-995
- Acemoglu, D. and Robinson, J., (2012), Why Nations Fail: The Origins of Power, Prosperity, and Poverty, New York: Crown Business.
- Altmaier, P. (2019), National Industrial Strategy 2030: Strategic Guidelines for a German and European Industrial Policy, Berlin: Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy. Available at https://www. bmwi.de/Redaktion/EN/Publikationen/Industry/national-industry-strategy-2030.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=9, accessed 17 September 2019.
- Amador, J. & Cabral, S. (2016), Global Value Chains: A Survey of Drivers and Measures, Journal of Economic Surveys, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 278–301.
- Andrews, D.; McGowan, M.A. and Millot, V. (2017), Confronting the zombies: Policies for productivity revival, OECD Economic Policy Papers December 2017, no. 21, Paris, https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/economics/confronting-the-zombies_f14fd801-en#page3, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Baldwin, R (2016), The Great Convergence: Information Technology and the New Globalization, Harvard University Press.
- Banerjee, R. and Hofmann, B (2018), The rise of zombie firms: causes and consequences, *BIS Quarterly Review*, September 2018, pp. 67–78, available at https://www.bis.org/publ/qtrpdf/r_qt1809 g.pdf, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Baumol, W.J. (1990), Entrepreneurship: Productive, Unproductive, and Destructive, The Journal of Political Economy, vol. 98, no. 5, pp. 893–921.
- BDI Bund der deutschen Industrie (2019a), Partner and Systemic Competitor: How Do We Deal with China's State-Controlled Economy? Policy Paper/China, January. Available at https://english.bdi.eu/publication/ news/china-partner-andsystemic-competitor/.
- BDI Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie (2019b), Deutsche Industriepolitik. Zum Entwurf der Nationalen Industriestrategie 2030, https://bdi.eu/publikation/news/deutsche-industriepolitik/, accessed 28 October 2019.
- Beason, D. and Weinstein, D-E. (1995), The Miti Myth, American Enterprise, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 84, July/August 1995, available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2269995, accessed 20 October 2019.

- Berthold, N. (2017), Schöpferische Zerstörung überall!? Treiber, Optionen und Populisten. Wirtschaftliche Freiheit, 12 March 2017, available at http://wirtschaftlichefreiheit.de/wordpress/?p=20537; accessed 18 October 2019.
- Berthold, N. (2018), Deutschland wird leiden: Leistungsbilanzsalden und Strukturwandel, Wirtschaftliche Freiheit, 19 December 2018, available at http://wirtschaftlichefreiheit.de/wordpress/?p=24360. accessed 18 October 2019.
- Bjørnskov, C., and Foss, N.J. (2012), How Institutions of Liberty Promote Entrepreneurship and Growth, in Gwartney, J., Lawson, R. and Hall, J. (eds), Economic Freedom of the World: 2012 Annual Report (Fraser Institute), pp. 247–270.
- Blanchard, E. (2019), Trade wars in the global value chain era. VOX CEPR Policy Portal, 20 June 2019, https:// voxeu.org/article/trade-wars-global-value-chain-era, accessed 10 October 2019.
- Boettke, P.J. & Piano, E. E (2016), Baumol's Productive and Unproductive Entrepreneurship After 25 Years, *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, vol. 5 no. 2, pp. 130–144.
- Boudreaux, C.J., and Nikolaev, B. (2019), Capital is not enough: opportunity entrepreneurship and formal institutions, *Small Business Economics*, vol. 53(3), pp. 709–738, October.
- Bourne, R. (2019a), Is This Time Different? Schumpeter, the Tech Giants, and Monopoly Fatalism, *Policy Analysis*, June 17, 2019, Number 872, The Cato Institute.
- Bourne, R. (2019b), How "Market Failure" Arguments Lead to Misguided Policy. *Policy Analysis*, January 22, 2019, Number 863, The Cato Institute.
- Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und nukleare Sicherheit: (2019) Aktionsprogramm Insektenschutz. Berlin, https://www.bmu.de/fileadmin/Daten_BMU/Pools/Broschueren/aktionsprogramm_ insektenschutz_kabinettversion_bf.pdf
- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie, 2018: Fakten zum deutschen Außenhandel, Oktober 2018, Berlin, https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Aussenwirtschaft/fakten-zum-deuschenaussenhandel.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=30
- Caballero, R.J.; Hoshi, T. and Kashyap, A. K (2008), Zombie Lending and Depressed Restructuring in Japan, American Economic Review 98, 5, pp. 1943–1977.
- Carden, A. and Horwitz, S. (2013), Is Market Failure a Sufficient Condition for Government Intervention? Library of Economics and Liberty, http://www.econlib.org/library/Columns/y2013/CardenHorwitzmarkets.html, accessed 25 April 2015.
- Coase, R. and Wang, N., (2012), How China Became Capitalist. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- De Haan, J., Lundström, S., and Sturm, J.-E., (2006), Market-Oriented Institutions and Policies and Economic Growth: A Critical Survey, *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 20, pp. 157–191.
- Deutsche Bank Research (2019). Focus Germany: The German economy's Achilles heel:, 4 March 2019, Frankfurt am Main: Deutsche Bank Research; available at https://www.dbresearch.com/PROD/RPS_EN-PROD/ PROD0000000000488231/The_German_economy%27 s_Achilles_heel.pdf; accessed 18 October 2019.
- Döring, T., (2012), Schumpeter und die Theorie unternehmerischer Innovation: Kernaussagen, kritische Abgrenzung zu anderen Ansätzen sowie Bausteine für eine Weiterentwicklung, Sofia – Diskussionsbeiträge zur Institutionenanalyse, Nr. 12–3, available at https://www.sofia-darmstadt.de/fileadmin/Dokumente/Diskussion/2012/Netzversion_Schumpeter.pdf; accessed 28 October 2019.

- Dorn, J.A., (2015), China's Challenge: Expanding the Market, Limiting the State. *Cato Working Paper* no. 34, Cato Institute, Washington, D.C., available at http://object.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/pdf/work-ing-paper-34-updated_1.pdf, accessed 30 March 2019.
- Ebeling, R., (2014), Hayek's Warning: The Social Engineer's Pretense of Knowledge; 3 December, available https://blog.heartland.org/2014/12/hayeks-warning-the-social-engineers-pretense-of-knowledge/., accessed 26 October 2019.
- Elstner, S., Feld, L.P. and Schmidt, C.M., (2018), The German productivity paradox: facts and explanations, *Ruhr Economic Paper* 767, RWI–Leibniz-Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, Essen, available at https:// www.ifo.de/DocDL/cesifo1 wp7231.pdf; accessed 25 October 2019.
- EU Commission (2016), Investing in Europe's future: Investment in Germany, Brussels, available at https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/germany-country-file_en.pdf, accessed 18 October 2019.
- EU Commission (2019), Country Report Germany 2019 including an In-Depth Review on the prevention and correction of macroeconomic imbalances, Brussels, 27.2.2019, available at https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/file_import/2019-european-semester-country-report-germany_en.pdf, accessed 18 October 2019.
- European Chamber of Commerce in China (2017), European Union Chamber of Commerce in China. 2017. China Manufacturing 2025: Putting Industrial Policy Ahead of Market Forces, Beijing.
- Foders, F. and Vogelsang, M.M., (2014), Why is Germany's manufacturing industry so competitive?, *Kiel Policy Brief*, no. 69, Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW), Kiel, available at https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/92914/1/777055988.pdf, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Financial Times (2018a), The German export machine is in need of an upgrade, 12 November 2018, available at https://www.ft.com/content/38bfaec4-e439-11e8-8e70-5e22a430c1ad, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Financial Times (2018b), German businesses under fire for low investment, 23 August 2018, available at https://www.ft.com/content/0352b800-a517-11e8-8ecf-a7ae1beff35b, accessed 23 October 2019.
- German Council of Economic Experts (2017), Annual Report 2017/18: Towards a Forward-Looking Economic Policy, Wiesbaden.
- German Council of Economic Experts (2018), Annual Report 2018/19: Setting the Right Course for Economic Policy, Wiesbaden.
- Görg, H., (2019), Ausländische Direktinvestitionen in Deutschland die große Angst vor China, *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftspolitik* (ZfWP), vol. 68(1), pp. 28–35, available at https://www.degruyter.com/downlo-adpdf/j/zfwp.2019.68.issue-1/zfwp-2019-2004/zfwp-2019–2004.pdf, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Grass, C., (2019), China's Slowdown is Exposing the Cracks in the Global Economy, *Mises Wire*. Mises Institute, Auburn. Ala., available at https://mises.org/wire/chinas-slowdown-exposing-cracks-global-economy., accessed 18 October 2019.
- Greenwald, B. and Stiglitz, J.E., (2014), Creating a Learning Society: A New Approach to Growth, Development, and Social Progress, New York: Columbia University Press.
- Grömling, M., (2014), A supply-side explanation for current account imbalances. Intereconomics, Heidelberg: Springer, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 30–35, available at https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/141358/ 1/778267113.pdf, accessed 25 October 2019.

- Guluzade, A., (2019), Explained, the role of China's state-owned companies, 7 May 2019, available at https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/05/why-chinas-state-owned-companies-still-have-a-key-role-to-play/, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Guardian, (2019), German recession fears after big decline in industrial production, 7 August, available at https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/aug/07/german-industrial-production-suffers-amid-us-chi-na-tension; accessed 12 October 2019.
- Haucap, J. (2019), Je größer desto besser? Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 18 February 2019, available at https:// www.faz.net/aktuell/wirtschaft/unternehmen/wie-gut-sind-fusionen-von-grossunternehmen-fuer-dievolkswirtschaft-16046102.html, accessed 18 October 2019.
- Hausmann, R. and Rodrick, D., (2003), Economic Development as Self-Discovery, Journal of Development Economics, vol. 72(2), pp. 603–633.
- Hausmann, R., Rodrik, R. and Sabel, S., (2008), Reconfiguring Industrial Policy: A Framework with an Application to South Africa. CID Working Paper 168. Harvard University, Centre for International Development.
- Hayek, F.A., (1935), Prices and production. Second edition (revised and enlarged). London: Routledge.
- Hayek, F.A., (1937), Economics and Knowledge. Economica, no. 4, pp. 33–54.
- Hayek, F.A., (1944), The Road to Serfdom, Routledge, London.
- Hayek, F.A., (1945), The Use of Knowledge in Society, The American Economic Review, vol. 35(4), pp. 519–530.
- Hayek, F.A., (1966 /1929), *Monetary theory and the trade cycle*. New issue of 1929 ed. New York: Augustus M. Kelley Publishers.
- Hayek, F.A. (1978), Competition as a Discovery Procedure', in: Hayek, F.A., (ed), New Studies in Philosophy, Politics, and Economics and the History of Ideas, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, pp. 179–190.
- Hayek, F.A., (1989), The Pretence of Knowledge, American Economic Review, vol. 79(6), pp. 3-7.
- Hayek, F.A., (1990), Law, Legislation and Liberty, vol.3: The Political Order of a Free People. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Henderson, D.R., (2017), Japan and the Myth of MITI. The Concise Encyclopedia of Economics. Library of Economics and Liberty, available at https://www.econlib.org/library/Enc1/JapanandtheMythofMITI. html, accessed 26 October 2019.
- Heritage Foundation (2019) Index of Economic Freedom 201), available at http://www.heritage.org/index/ download, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Hoffmann, A. & Schnabl, G., (2016), The Adverse Effects of Unconventional Monetary Policy. *Cato Journal*, vol. 36(3), pp. 449–484.
- IMF (2019), Germany Staff Report for the 2019 Article IV Consultation, 20 June 2019, Paris: OECD.
- Johnson, R and G Noguera, (2017), A Portrait of Trade in Value Added over Four Decades, Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 99(5), pp. 896–911.
- Kirzner, I.M., (1973), Competition and Entrepreneurship, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Kirzner, I.M., (1978), The Perils of Regulation: A Market-Process Approach, Coral Gables, Fla.: University of Miami School of Law.
- Klodt, H., (2017), Bombardier: Eine Aufgabe für die Industriepolitik? *Wirtschaftliche Freiheit*, 13 January 2017, available at http://wirtschaftlichefreiheit.de/wordpress/?p=20370, accessed 18 October 2019.

Kornai, J., (1986), The Soft Budget Constraint, Kyklos, vol. 39(1), pp. 3-30.

- Krugman, P., (1997), What should trade negotiators negotiate about? A Review Essay, *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. 35, 3, pp. 113–20, available online at http://web.mit.edu/krugman/www/negot.html, accessed 19 March 2019.
- Lardy, N.R., (2014), Markets over Mao: The Rise of Private Business in China. Washington: Peterson Institute for International Economics.
- Lemieux P., (2017), Taking Comparative Advantage Seriously; available at http://www.econlib.org/ archives/2017/11/taking comparat.html, accessed 10 October 2019.
- Lemieux, P., (2018), What's Wrong with Protectionism? Mercatus Center at George Mason University, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Leeson, P.T. and Boettke, B.J., (2009), Two-tiered entrepreneurship and economic development, International Review of Law and Economics, vol. 29(3) pp. 252–259.
- Mahtani, S., Templeman, L., Tierney, J. & Reid, J., (2018), *The Persistence of Zombie Firms in a Low Yield World.* London: Deutsche Bank Markets Research.
- Marin, D., (2018). Global value chains, product quality, and the rise of Eastern Europe, in: Marin. D., (ed.), *Explaining Germany's Exceptional Recovery*, London: CEPR Press, pp. 41–45.
- Marin, D., Schymik, J. and Tscheke, J., (2015), Europe's Export Superstars it's the organisation, Working Paper no. 2015/05. Bruegel, available at https://bruegel.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Europe_-export_superstar.pdf., accessed 18 October 2019.
- McBride, J. and Chatzky, A., (2018), *Is "Made in China 2025" a Threat to Global Trade?* Council on Foreign Relations Backgrounder (August 2). Available at www.cfr.org/backgrounder/made-china-2025-threat-global-trade., accessed 18 October 2019.
- Mises, L. v., (2009/1912), Theory of money and credit, Auburn, AL: Ludwig von Mises Institute.
- Mises, L. v., (1998), *Human Action. A Treatise on Economics*, The Scholar's Edition, Auburn, AL: Ludwig von Mises Institute.
- Murata, Y., (2008), Engel's law, Petty's law, and agglomeration. *Journal of Development Economics*, vol. 87(1), pp. 161–177.
- Naudé, W., (2010), Industrial Policy, UNU-WIDER Working Paper 2010/106, Helsinki: United Nations University, World Institute for Development Economics Research.
- Nikolaev, B., Boudreaux, C.J., and Palich, L., (2018), Cross-Country Determinants of Early-Stage Necessity and Opportunity-Motivated Entrepreneurship: Accounting for Model Uncertainty, *Journal of Small Business Management*, vol. 56, Issue S1, pp. 243–280.
- Noland, M. and Pack, H., (2003), Industrial Policy in an Era of Globalization. Washington: Institute for International Economics.
- Noland, M. and Pack, H., (2005), *The East Asian Industrial Policy Experience: Implications for the Middle East*, Institute for International Economics Working Paper no. 05–14; http://www.iie.com/publications/wp/ wp05–14.pdf, accessed 25 March 2016.
- North, D.C., (1990), Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance, Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.
- North, D.C., Wallis, J.J., Webb, S.B. and Weingast, B.R., (2012), *In the Shadow of Violence: Politics, Economics, and the Problems of Development*, New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Olson, M., (2000), Power and Prosperity: Outgrowing Communist and Capitalist Dictatorships, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Pack, H. and Saggi, K., (2006), Is There a Case for Industrial Policy? A Critical Survey, The World Bank Research Observer, vol. 21, 2, pp. 267–296.
- Pennington, M., (2011), Robust Political Economy: Classical Liberalism and the Future of Public Policy, Cheltenham, UK and Northampton, MA, USA: Edward Elgar.
- Pilat, D.; Cimper, A.; Olsen, K.B. and Webb, C., (2006), The Changing Nature of Manufacturing in OECD Economies, OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Paper 2006/9, Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Robinson, J.A., (2009), Industrial Policy and Development: A Political Economy Perspective. Paper prepared for the 2009 World Bank ABCDE conference in Seoul June 22–24, http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/jrobinson/files/jr wb industry policy20-20Robinson.pdf?m=1360039164, accessed 5 April 2019.
- Rodrik, D., (2004), Industrial Policy for the Twenty-First Century, KSG Working Paper, no. RWP04–047, Harvard University.
- Rodrik, D., (2008), Industrial policy: don't ask why, ask how, Middle East Development Journal, vol. 1, pp. 1–29.
- Rodrik, D., (2010), The Return of Industrial Policy, Project Syndicate, April 12, available at www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/the-return-of-industrial-policy?barrier=accesspaylog, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Rodrik, D., (2013), In truth, mercantilism never really went away, *The National*, January 11, 2013, available at http://www.thenational.ae/business/industry-insights/economics/in-truth-mercantilism-never-really-went-away, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Rodrik, D., (2018), What do trade agreements really do? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol 32, 2, pp. 73–90, available https://drodrik.scholar.harvard.edu/files/dani-rodrik/files/what_do_trade_agreements_really_do.pdf., accessed 15 March 2019.
- Sautet, F., (2010), The competitive market is a process of entrepreneurial discovery, in: Boettke, P., (ed), Handbook on Contemporary Austrian Economics. Chelthenham, UK, Northampton, MA, USA: Edward Elgar, pp. 87–108.
- Schivardi, F, Sette, E. and Tabellini, G., (2017), Credit misallocation during the European financial crisis, BIS Working Papers, No 669, December.
- Schnabl, G., (2012), Die japanischen Lehren für die Europäische Krise, Wirtschaftliche Freiheit, April 8, 2012, available at: http://wirtschaftlichefreiheit.de/wordpress/?p=9007 or Working Papers on Global Financial Markets, no. 36.
- Schnabl, G., (2017), The Failure of ECB Monetary Policy from a Mises-Hayek Perspective. *Cesifo Working Paper* no. 6388, available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2951044, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Schnabl, G., (2019), Weicher Euro als Ruhekissen? Wie die Geld- die Unternehmenspolitik beeinflusst. INSM-Ökonomenblog, 1 February 2019, available at https://www.insm-oekonomenblog.de/20549-weicher-euro-als-ruhekissen-wie-die-geld-die-unternehmenspolitik-beeinflusst/#more-20549, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Schumpeter, J. A, (1934), The Theory of Economic Development. An Inquiry into Profits, Capital, Credit, Interest, and the Business Cycle, Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Solow, R.M., (1956), A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 70 no. 1, pp. 65–94.

- Schnellenbach, J., (2019), Die neue Industriepolitik und die Geringschätzung des Wettbewerbs, Wirtschaftliche Freiheit, 8. Februar 2019, http://wirtschaftlichefreiheit.de/wordpress/?p=24630, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Sueddeutsche Zeitung (2019), Wirtschaft empört sich über Altmeier, 6 April, available, https://www.sueddeutsche.de/wirtschaft/altmaier-kritik-industriestrategie-1.4400963.
- Südekum, J., (2018), The China Shock and the Rise of Robots: Why Germany Is Different, in Marin, D., (ed), *Explaining Germany's Exceptional Recovery*, London: Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR), pp. 47–54., available at: https://files.static-nzz.ch/2019/6/28/ae11bf01-2bfa-43a9-bd4e-1918634fc39b. pdf, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Spiegel-Online (2019), Ausbau der Windenergie sinkt um 80 Prozent, 11.10.2019, https://www.spiegel. de/wirtschaft/soziales/windenergie-krise-ausbau-sinkt-um-80-prozent-a-1290933.html. accessed 20 October 2019.
- Tilford, S., (2018), Germany Is an Economic Masochist, in *Foreign Policy*, 21 August 2018, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/08/21/germany-is-an-economic-masochist-recession-merkel/; accessed 25 October 2019.
- Tuszynski, M.P., and Stansel, D., (2018), Targeted State Economic Development Incentives and Entrepreneurship, *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, vol. 7, 3, pp. 235–245.
- Wade, R.H., (1990), Governing the Market: Economic Theory and the Role of Government in East Asian Industrialization, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Wagner, G.A. and Bologna Pavlik, J., (2019), Patent Intensity and Concentration: The Effect of Institutional Quality on MSA Patent Activity (April 3, 2019), available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3365314 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3365314, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Wandel, J., (2015), The political economy of energy policy in Germany in the context of Europe 2020 and its implications for Poland, in: Olszyński, J.; Bielig, A.; Wandel, J., (eds.), Niemcy i Polska w drodze do "Europa 2020" – Deutschland und Polen auf dem Weg zu "Europa 2020", Warsaw: Warsaw School of Economics, pp. 293–336.
- Wandel, J., (2018), The economic policy balance sheet of the era Merkel: An Erhardian perspective, Western Review (Przegląd Zachodni), Issue 2(362), pp. 61–81.
- Wiwo Wirtschaftswoche, (2014), Konventionelle Energie adé: E. On trennt sich von Kohle, Gas und Atomkraft, 01.12.14, available at http://www.wiwo.de/unternehmen/energie/konventionelle-energie-ade-eon-trennt-sich-von-kohle-gas-und-atomkraft/11055760.html, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Wiwo –Wirtschaftswoche, (2019), Ökonom Felbermayr: Die Globalisierung ist bei Gütern schon seit zehn Jahren vorbei. Interview von Malte Fischer, 3 October 2019, available at https://www.wiwo.de/ politik/konjunktur/oekonom-felbermayr-die-globalisierung-ist-bei-guetern-schon-seit-zehn-jahrenvorbei/25079018.html, accessed 24 October 2019.
- Wolff, G.B., (2018), Germany's current account surplus and corporate investment, in Marin. D. (ed.), *Explaining Germany's Exceptional Recovery*, London: CEPR Press, pp. 67–76.
- World Bank (2019): *Ease of Doing Business-Ranking*, available at https://www.doingbusiness.org/en/rankings, accessed 10 October 2019.

- World Bank; World Trade Organization, (2019), Global Value Chain Development Report 2019: Technological Innovation, Supply Chain Trade, and Workers in a Globalized World, Washington, D.C: World Bank Group, available at. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/384161555079173489/pdf/Global-Value-Chain-Development-Report-2019-Technological-Innovation-Supply-Chain-Trade-and-Workers-in-a-Globalized-World.pdf, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Ydstie, J., (2018), How Germany Wins At Manufacturing For Now, NPR (National Public Radio), 3 January 2018, available at https://www.npr.org/2018/01/03/572901119/how-germany-wins-at-manufacturing-for-now?t=1568304635297, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Zettelmeyer, J., (2019), The Return of Economic Nationalism in Germany. Policy Brief 19–4. March, Peterson Institute for International Economics, Washington, D.V., available at https://www.piie.com/system/ files/documents/pb19–4.pdf, accessed 25 October 2019.
- Zhang, W.Y., (2015), The Logic of the Market: An Insider's View of Chinese Economic Reform. Translated by M. Dale, Washington: Cato Institute.

Bermany's and Poland's Positions on the New EU Industrial Policy. Common and Conflicting Interests

Adam A. Ambroziak

Introduction

There has been a long discussion on the concept, scope, needs, instruments and effects of industrial policy. On the one hand, the supporters of industrial policy claim that there is a room for manoeuvring and a broad range of tools which should be applied by governments to intervene in the market to achieve the defined political and social-economic objectives. On the other hand, the opponents argue that the best industrial policy is a lack of industrial policy (see more Ambroziak, 2017a). A similar discussion, not necessarily based on theoretical assumptions and experience confirmation, took place in the European Union (Ambroziak, 2014). Both protectionist and interventionist actions were revealed after the crisis period of 2008–2010. Then, one could observe a lively discussion on a weakened position of industry in the EU, massive and aggressive unfair activities of third country competitors, which disturbed competition within the EU internal market. At the same time, the EU faced new opportunities and challenges derived from expansion of new technologies, digitalisation, servitisation, new business models (Ambroziak, 2017b) as well as problems concerning climate changes and needs for improving energy efficiency.

It is worth noting that all parties to a discussion on the EU industrial policy consider it in a different way. There is a group of countries which strive to make the European industry carbon free or at least make the economy climate neutral. Other member states opt for a protection against third country competitors, who often act unfairly according to the EU due to their strong connections with the government of the country of origin or even directly the governmental/state ownership. Apart from a stronger protection against companies from outside the EU, they are in favour of changing the EU competition policy to ensure a level playing field. There is also a group of EU member states which want to address new challenges concerning digitalisation and servitisation through the industrial policy to facilitate the improvement of innovation. Moreover, some member states argue for reindustrialisation, as a process of supporting their traditional industries struggling with ambitious environmental and social goals. Of course, the aforementioned groups are not exclusive; some member states belong to two or three of them, which makes a discussion on the EU industrial policy more problematic. Nonetheless, a composition of different and/or conflicting objectives led the EU towards a debate on a comprehensive industrial strategy, which could be accepted by all, or at least the majority of member states.

However, it should be noted that the EU has no exclusive competence, not even any shared competence with member states, in industrial policy. The Treaty on the functioning of the European Union stipulates in article 173 that the Union and the member states will ensure that the conditions necessary for the competitiveness of the Union industry exist. Their actions should be aimed at: a) speeding up the adjustment of industry to structural changes, b) encouraging an environment favourable to initiative and develop undertakings throughout the Union, particularly small and medium-sized companies, as well as to cooperation between them, c) fostering better exploitation of the industrial potential of innovation, research and technological development policies. Apart from an undefined method of cooperation among member states, the Treaty provides that the Commission may take any useful initiative to promote such a cooperation, while the European Parliament should be informed about it. It is worth noting that the above mentioned initiatives should not provide any basis for the introduction of measures which could lead to a distortion of competition or contain tax provisions or provisions relating to the rights and interest of the employed persons (Treaty, 2012).

In view of the aforementioned remarks and recent challenges or opportunities faced by the EU, the paper is aimed at finding and evaluating common and conflicting interests of Poland and Germany, as two countries having different needs but looking for common solutions, towards a new industrial policy of the EU. To this end, we set the scene by analysing some statistics on the position of industry, including manufacturing and selected industry-related services in the German and Polish economy in terms of GDP and employment as compared to the EU average. Moreover, we shed some light on changes in state aid objectives offered in both countries. Then, we analyse programming political documents elaborated in the EU as well as at the national level, bilateral and multilateral declarations of EU member states. We decided to focus only on the issues concerning the relationship between competition policy and industrial policy. Taking into account the fact that the Eurojargon is often ambiguous, in order to ensure clarity, thematic unity, precision, and a proper presentation of various approaches to industrial policy, the analysis uses original statements, phrases and quotations from the original documents, supplemented by the author's own critical remarks and opinions.

The position of manufacturing in the German and Polish economy

A servitisation process was one of those which was reinforced and sped up in the European Union during the crisis period (Ambroziak, 2017b) and did not allow the EU industry to come back to its position from before 2008 in nominal values. It pushed manufacturers to offer their goods in tandem with services to gain competitive advantage over third country competitors. It allowed them to shift towards new business models, to make a step to meet consumer expectations, who shifted their needs from ownership to usership, which launched a transformation of economy of ownership towards the economy of access to transport, information, knowledge – broadly speaking services.

Moreover, we should bear in mind that unit production costs of goods have decreased over the last decade due to automation, robotisation and digitalisation of production processes, while costs of intangible assets have dramatically increased. The latter were profoundly related to and derived from innovative services strongly supported by consumer needs and behaviours. In consequence, there are not economic reasons to expect that a share of manufacturing in value added composition would increase dramatically in the coming years, in opposition to what one can expect that it will decrease in favour of the service sector.

According to Eurostat database, a share of manufacturing in the EU value added declined from 16.9% in 2004 to 14.7% in 2014 and slowly rose to 16.4% in 2017 (Figure 1). Although this decrease was compensated by an increase, it should be noted that the EU is not a homogeneous economic entity, and consists of countries with lower and much higher industrial intensity. The latter are represented by Germany, who recorded in the above mentioned years respectively 22.4%, 19.9% and 23.4%. A slightly different path of industrial growth was observed in Poland, where it oscillated between 17.7% and 18.9, while only after 2014 it recorded a slow increase up to a little over 20%. Thus, one can state that both German and Polish industry retained their strong positions in their economy, above the EU average for the period of 2004–2017.

At the same time, it is worth noting that their service sector did not expand as it happened in other member states. The service sector consists of many industries, which should be taken into consideration during the evaluation of industrial position of EU member states. As we took into account industry-related services, we focused on: a) professional, scientific, administrative and support service activities and b) information and communication. Poland noted higher dynamics in the increase in the share of professional, science and administrative services in GVA as compared to Germany and the EU, however it was still below their nominal values. At the same time, Poland and Germany recorded the shares of information and technology services in value added below the EU average. It shows that, as Germany shifted its position to a stronger economy based on industry and industry-related services with an increasing position of communication technologies, Poland did not record substantial changes in the aforementioned components of its economy.





C: Manufacturing, M-N: Professional, scientific and technical activities; administrative and support service activities, J – Information and communication

Source: Eurostat.



Figure 2. Share of manufacturing and selected industry-related services in employment in the EU, Germany and Poland in 2004–2017

C: Manufacturing, M-N: Professional, scientific and technical activities; administrative and support service activities, J – Information and communication

Source: Eurostat.

A slightly different situation of the Polish industry can be observed while analysing the share of manufacturing and selected industry-related services in employment in 2004–2017 (Figure 2). In this field, Poland was the leader and in the last few years increased a share of employment in manufacturing in total employment, while both Germany and the EU decreased it. Taking this into account, as well the fact that Germany and the EU increased their manufacturing contribution to GVA, we can state that they shift towards a more capital-intensive industry, while Poland a towards labour-intensive sector. In contradiction to this, the EU, as a whole, including Germany recorded a rise in shares of their industry-related services, while Poland, although followed them in this positive tendency, remained in a lagging position and noted a lower rise dynamics.

Figure 3. Share of manufacturing and selected industry services in expenditure on R&D in total business expenditures in Germany and Poland in 2007–2016



C: Manufacturing, M-N: Professional, scientific and technical activities; administrative and support service activities,] – Information and communication Source: Eurostat.

There is no doubt that in recent years economic competitiveness has depended on new technologies and innovation worked out by research and development activities, which need substantial finances. The highest share in total business expenditure on R&D was recorded in the German industry (over 85% in 2016), followed by the Polish industry (decrease to 44.3% in 2016) and Polish industry-related service sectors, including telecommunication and information. Thus, the innovativeness of the German economy is based on industry, while in Poland on the service sector. It means that both countries have different approaches to the development of economy: Germany still concentrates on manufacturing, Poland develops its position by supporting R&D in industry-related services.

One of the most sensitive instruments of industrial policy which can be introduced by the governments of EU member states is their state aid. As public intervention in a free market can disturb competition, it is prohibited by the Treaty on the functioning of the EU with some exceptions under several conditions worked out by the Commission. In consequence, we can break down state aid granted legally to entrepreneurs into some groups, whose importance in relation to the total public aid evolved dramatically in the EU member states in the last decade.

In the year of accession to the EU, Poland still recorded a relatively high percentage of state aid as compared to GDP due to the finalisation of restructuring processes of traditional sectors of economy (Figure 4). Nonetheless, in consecutive years, Poland recorded a lower intensity of financial interventions, then an increase, as projects financed by structural funds were launched. In the last years 2015–2017, there is an important rise in the state aid in the Polish economy up to over 1.5% of GDP. As regards Germany we can observe some similarities to tendencies recorded in Poland in terms of value and directions of changes. At the same time, other member states reduced their intervention in the market; and the EU average intensity of state aid in relation to GDP as well as the dynamics of changes were lower than in both Poland and Germany.





Source: Eurostat.

The structure of state aid divided into its objectives/categories is much more important than the value. For over a decade, the state aid for environmental protection and energy saving has increased its position in the total public interventions in the EU, including European funds granted to entrepreneurs (Figure 5). The highest jump up can be observed particularly in the last 4–5 years, when climate changes were put on top of the EU agenda. This tendency was followed by many member states, including Germany and, to a certain extent, Poland. However, it should be noted that in the case of the latter the importance of this category is three times lower than in Germany. Conversely, Poland recorded the highest and still increasing share of regional state aid dedicated to new investments, as its role in the EU, including Germany, significantly decreased. It should support lagging regions in attracting new investors, so that they would not require any additional conditions concerning, for example, innovative production or, at least, energy efficient production projects. An interesting situation can be observed in the state aid to R&D&I. As it retained its important role till 2013, the last 4–5 years revealed its much lower share in total state aid in Germany (and the EU as well), while in Poland this category of public intervention increased. It means that, the EU as a whole, including Germany, shifted their financial intervention from general subsidies to entrepreneurs, including those for R&D, towards objectives giving rise to a real aid to ensure competitiveness at the world level in the area of climate issues. Conversely, Poland focused on regular investments in fixed assets in less developed regions or subsidies to R&D activities, whose adequacy, request and demand were hard to be properly verified by the government.



Figure 5. Shares of selected state aid objectives in total state aid in 2004–2017

01 – Regional development

02 - Research, development and innovation

03 – Environmental protection and energy saving

04 – Small and medium-sized enterprises

05 - Employment

06 - Sectoral development

Source: Eurostat.

Political context of the new EU industrial policy

A new approach towards industrial policy was launched by the former President of the European Commission of 2014–2019 in his "Political Guidelines". He linked two policies: the Single Market policy and industrial policy by reinforcing a strong and high-performing industrial base for the EU internal market. It is worth noting that in 2014 the President-elect of the European Commission did not recognise services as a innovative tool for re-industrialisation in Europe, as he argued that it would be naïve to believe that growth in Europe could be built on the basis of service alone. Therefore, he insisted on bringing the industry burden in the EU GDP back to 20% by 2020, from less than 16% in 2014 (Junker, 2014). It is worth noting that both member states, Poland and Germany noted much higher shares than 20% in 2014.

In December 2016, the European Council decided to call on the Council and the Commission to evaluate the impact of mainstreaming industrial policy on the EU strategic initiatives and to consider concrete actions to strengthen and modernise the industrial base of the Single Market (European Council, 2016). The former request resulted from the fact that the EU introduced many new sectoral regulations and directives, which had an important impact on industrial competitiveness. The latter inquiry resulted from the lack of instruments or steps proposed by the Commission.

In response, the May 2017 Competitiveness Council repeated the opinion on the essential role of industry as a major driver of growth, employment and innovation in Europe. It is worth noting that, on the one hand, the Council recognised that a holistic industrial policy approach based on integrated value chains, inter-clustering linkages and activities was crucial, however, at this same time it mentioned that the approach should include, when necessary, sectorial initiatives for sectors facing economic change and high growth potential sectors. That was a very good example of an effect of seeking for a well-balanced compromise text, which could be accepted by all member states. Finally, the Council called on the Commission to provide a holistic EU industrial policy strategy for the future in time. It should present medium to long term strategic objectives for industry and be included in the framework of the Commission's 2018 work programme (Council 2017a). This approach was supported by the June 2017 European Council which repeated its conclusions from a year ago (European Council, 2017).

The aforementioned political calls resulted in the European Commission communication on a renewed EU Industrial Policy Strategy. It stipulated that a new holistic approach should be based on six dimensions: single market, digitalisation, circular and low carbon economy, investment, innovation and international cooperation. The Commission observed that the implementation of that strategy would require a joint commitment and systematic efforts on the part of industry as well as all relevant EU, national and regional stakeholders (European Commission, 2017a). That approach was particularly important to Poland, as it could suggest allowing European funds to support industrial development in lagging regions. Nonetheless, the document issued by the Commission did not include any concrete actions, apart from those well known and repeated many times at the highest political level. It is worth underlining that the aforementioned document was a collection of initiatives launched already by the Commission, which directly or indirectly impacted the EU industry. Unfortunately, it was not a strategy, with properly formulated objectives, available tools and indices, based on which further development could be evaluated (Ambroziak, 2020).

Therefore, although the December 2017 Competitiveness Council welcomed the Commission communication as an important signal and a useful first step towards developing a future-oriented EU industrial strategy, it repeated its request concerning a comprehensive EU industrial strategy, adding a time perspective of 2030. Moreover, it invited the Commission to consider a concrete mechanism to effectively monitor the implementation of the strategy (Council, 2017b). That inquiry was repeated by the November 2018 Competitiveness Council, which called for a comprehensive and long-term industrial policy strategy for the EU, including an action plan and set a deadline of the beginning of a new EU institutional cycle (Council, 2018).

The aforementioned initiatives and political statements of EU institutions, agreed on in 2016–2018, introduced no changes to the concept of the EU industrial policy. It is worth noting that even the crisis period of 2008–2010 did not have enough powerful impact on the European agenda in this field. Therefore, one of the leading promoter of industrial policy – France – established an informal EU member states group of "Friends of Industry" in 2013. The group did not consist of permanent members representing all EU member states, and each meeting included various countries (although the core is usually – but not always – stable with France, Germany, Spain, Italy and Poland (Ambroziak, 2014)). In 2018, facing no substantial steps taken by the European Commission or by the Council, France organised the eighth meeting of "Friends of Industry". In their joint, the statement EU member states diagnosed a source of problems in the EU industry: i) increasing fierce competition from other major economies, which conduct their own proactive industrial policy, ii) increasingly protectionist trade actions from third countries (Friends of Industry, 2018).

The "Friends of Industry" group based its narrative on more fear and anxiety, pointing to an enemy outside the EU rather than to the problems of European industry arising from the existing policy. In order to get a broader acceptance from cohesion of member states with their concept, the "Friends of Industry" group argued that the industrial strategy should take into account the needs for reindustrialisation and the differences in the industrial base development among member states. Therefore, it should offer instruments tailored to the needs of regions and industries. The Group agreed upon an assertive industrial policy based

on four actions: a) the Commission should present an ambitious and comprehensive industrial strategy up to 2030, b) strategic value chains should be identified, c) action plans based on competition, research and innovation, digital, defence, the Single Market policies as well as on financial instruments, including the next Multiannual Financial Framework should be developed, d) the role of the Competitiveness Council should be strengthened within the EU institutional framework (Friends of Industry, 2018).

It is worth noting that on the margin of the meeting of group of "Friends of Industry" in December 2018, ministers for economic affairs from Germany and France discussed their further cooperation. It resulted in common, more detailed plans on the crucial issues concerning the industrial development of both countries, especially in the field of battery cell production, disruptive innovation and artificial intelligence (Franco-German press release, 2018). It showed that France and Germany sought a broad political agreement on their plans, firstly, at the European level, however as they did not convince all member states, they put their bilateral cooperation visions in general outcomes of the "Friends of Industry" discussion. The next strong political commitment to economic cooperation between Germany and France was the Aachen Treaty of January 2019. Both parties agreed to complete the single market and work towards a competitive Union with a strong industrial base as a foundation for prosperity, promoting economic, fiscal and social convergence as well as sustainability in all its dimensions (Aachen Treaty, 2019).

The above mentioned political steps were taken within the "escape forward strategy" by Germany and France before February 6th, 2019, when the European Commission made a negative decision on the merger of two companies Siemens and Alstom. According to the Commission, the proposed merger would have harmed competition in markets for railway signalling systems and very high-speed trains. The merger would have create the undisputed market leader in some signalling markets (including railways and urban/metro lines) and a dominant player in very high-speed trains. (European Commission, 2019a).

Of course, the governments of both countries did not agree with the Commission decision. Therefore, already one day before this decision was announced, Germany presented its "National Industrial Strategy for 2030" (NIS, 2019). The main objectives of the strategy (NIS) were defined as: a) securing and regaining economic power and technological competitiveness, b) ensuring job creation and prosperity of all citizens, c) increasing the share of industry in GVA to 25 per cent in Germany and 20 per cent in the EU by 2030, d) making a long term contribution to the development of a global social market economy. There was one more goal, which was not a real objective, but a choice of an instrument to achieve the aforementioned aims: state interventions, although with some exceptions and derogations. It should be underlined that the document was a novelty in the German economic policy, as it could be recognised as a negation of the current social market economy approach. As previously Germany refrained from active financial intervention in the market, the NIS pointed out that state activity may be necessary to avoid serious disadvantages for the economy. Moreover, if the market forces cannot retain its innovative strength and competitiveness, then, according to the NSI, the government should be entitled to intervene. It means that such public interventions could be taken on the basis of reasons not necessarily resulting from the real market forces but rather political willingness. Finally, the NSI stipulates that value added chains should be closed from the production of basic materials, to finishing and processing, to distribution, services, research and development. It means that European companies should introduce both processes: in-sourcing and on-shoring, which could be very costly and counterproductive for the growing competitiveness of European economy.

Two weeks after the European Commission's negative decision on the merger of two giants from Germany and France, both countries signed a manifesto for a European industrial policy. The future strategy should consist of three following pillars: a) investment in innovation, b) adaptation of regulatory framework to new challenges and opportunities, especially in the field of state aid and merger law to tackle competition from third countries, c) introduction of protectionist measures against competitors from outside the EU (Manifesto, 2019). That was a clear opposition to the current orthodox policy of the European Commission in relation to competition policy and the openness of the European Union.

The presented political documents provoked the President of the European Council to repeat the EU approach towards industry. In March 2019, the European Council only slightly modified its position and supported assertive industrial policy allowing the EU to retain the industrial power. The heads of governments and states did not want to decide on the future industrial policy without any reliable analyses; therefore, they called the European Commission to present, by the end of 2019, a long-term vision of the EU industrial future, with concrete measures to implement it (European Council, 2019a). These requests were formulated in greater detail and with more precise deadlines in comparison to previous statements. Nonetheless, it is hard to say that over two years political actions taken by Germany and France resulted in more concrete decisions of heads of states and governments.

After the German-French Manifesto, the German National Industrial Strategy, the European Council conclusions, which did not follow the German concept of European industry, Germany decided to convince other selected countries, in particularly Poland, to their vision. In consequence, Germany and Poland signed a joint declaration of March 2019. The majority of topics raised in the document were derived from the German National Industrial Strategy, as well as Franco-German Manifesto, however there were, obviously, only those which could be accepted by Poland. As in the previous German documents, both countries called for an ambitious EU industry strategy with clear objectives till 2030 and instruments tailored to the needs of industry and specificities of the member states. The latter expression was a nod to Poland, which always underlined its specificities, especially in the climate change topic. Germany and Poland presented 5 main fields of activities, where they found
a common interest: a) invest in innovation and critical skills, b) define common strategic goals of industrial policy to address the digital transformation, sustainable mobility, bioeconomy, green technologies, the sustainable raw materials supply, low carbon/low greenhouse gas emissions and securing a sufficient supply of skilled labour, c) support strategic technologies, d) improve EU and national framework conditions concerning the EU Single Market, digitalisation, and CO2 mitigation, e) promote an ambitious EU trade policy (German-Polish Declaration, 2019).

In May 2019, the Competitiveness Council, as a follow up to the previous political decisions at the EU level, adopted conclusions which repeated, after the European Council that there was an urgent need for a long term Industrial Policy Strategy meant to help the European industry compete with third countries (Council, 2019). It underlined that the strategy should include an indicator framework regarding industrial competitiveness and complete or update, where necessary, the strategy by targeted sectoral actions in order to adopt it to recent and future foreseeable technological developments and challenges. This statement shows that there were, at least, two groups of member states: those supporting a horizontal industrial policy as a supplement to the open Single European Market and those opting for sectoral approach due to structural problems in their traditional industries. Nonetheless, it is worth noting that the conclusions, in contradiction to the Franco-German approach, reaffirmed the need for a fair competition within the Single Market, for the growth-friendly regulatory environment as well as for the strengthening of the EU industry competitiveness and advancing the Single Market integration so as to enable the EU industry to compete globally on a level playing field (Council, 2019).

Due to an extended discussion on the EU Industrial Policy, in June 2019, Poland presented its official position on it to join the work on "A New Strategic Agenda" for the coming new European Commission. The Polish document was based on the assumption for the foundation of the EU long term productivity growth (MET, 2019). It means that Poland focused on improving effectiveness of production factors, while the EU institutions decided to target their actions towards climate changes and social mobility as the most important challenges.

Finally, in June 2019, the heads of states and governments adopted "A New Strategic Agenda 2019–2024" for the coming 5 years. It confirmed that a strong economic base is of key importance for Europe's competitiveness, prosperity and role on the global stage. To this end, the European Council underlined a need for a more integrated approach connecting all relevant policies and dimensions, including deepening and strengthening the Single Market and designing an industrial policy fit for the future. As regards unfair third country competition, the strategy fosters ensuring a level playing field: fair competition within the EU and on the global stage, promoting market access, fighting unfair practices and securing risks from third countries as well as strategic supply chains (European Council, 2019b).

On the basis of this, one can formulate some fields of activities of the future EU Industrial Strategy: the EU Single Market, competition policy focused on building advantage against third country competitors and creating strategic European value chains.

Internal market in the EU industrial policy

The Single European Market was established over 26 years ago, however, there are still many shortcomings which should be addressed by the EU law. Nonetheless, the Commission, pointed out in its Communication of 2017, that the EU Internal Market should facilitate the integration of European companies in the global value chains and act as an essential driver of industrial competitiveness (European Commission, 2017a). This approach was adopted by the Council, which also recognised interrelated industry and Single Market policies was crucial for the global competitiveness of the EU. Ministers responsible for competitiveness made some progress in this field, as they highlighted the importance of services within the Single Market, which should provide the framework conditions for European industry, especially SMEs, to take advantage of it and exploit its opportunities (Council, 2017). This view was supported by the heads of states and governments, who said that to reap the maximum benefits of the Single Market, the EU needs a strong industrial policy (European Council, 2018a). For the next a few months this issue was not on top of the EU agenda, as in December 2018 the European Council focused only on the Single Market underlining its impact on the citizen welfare, inclusive growth and job creation as well as on investment and global competitiveness (European Council, 2018b).

As regards Germany, its Strategy (NIS, 20190) was relatively modest on the EU internal market. However, Poland's position on a relationship between the EU Single Market and industrial policy was much more detailed. It suggested, first of all, the adoption of an integrated approach to the Single Market through introduction of uniform EU solutions based on regulations or full harmonisation, strengthening interdependence between the service and industry, taking into account the horizontal nature of the digitalisation of the economy and further development of liberalisation within the EU to strengthen the external competitiveness. Eventually, Poland suggested identification and elimination of existing barriers as well the monitoring of application of new regulations to avoid an introduction of new burdens (MFA, 2019).

In recent conclusions on the industrial strategy, the May 2019 Competitiveness Council stressed that a strong and well-functioning Single Market, including services, provides the necessary framework conditions and is essential for European industry and enables European businesses to scale up and to compete successfully in the global market. To this end, according to the Council, all rules should be properly, timely, effectively and transparently

Adam A. Ambroziak

implemented and applied within the Single Market. Moreover, it called for preventing and removing unnecessary regulatory and non-regulatory burdens and all unjustified remaining technical and non-technical barriers (Council, 2019).

As regards the future of the European Union, the European Council agreed that the EU cannot underutilise the potential of the Single Market, particularly in the area of services (European Council, 2019b). This approach should go in tandem with a more assertive, comprehensive and coordinated industrial policy. The latter is both a repetition of the previous European Council conclusions of March 2019 and a supplement of the issue of how to conduct the EU industrial policy.

In order to meet the European Council requests concerning strengthening the Single Market, the European Commission issued some very important drafts to complete free movement of goods as well as at least to make some progress in the liberalisation of provision of services (Stefaniak and Ambroziak, 2017). As regards trade in services, the European Commission had two important initiatives for service sector: service e-card (European Commission, 2017b, 2017c) and enhancement of notification procedure under the Service Directive of 2006 (European Commission, 2017d).

Contrary to the elimination of technical barriers in trade in goods (Regulation 2019/515), burdens to service companies were not even slightly reduced. Both the Council and the European Parliament did not agree to eliminate administrative barriers, introduce transparency in national requirements applied to cross-border service providers and allow the Commission to asses and block regulatory measures affecting services proposed by member states. Both initiatives were strongly supported by the majority of EU-13, including Poland, as well as Scandinavian countries and the United Kingdom. The leading sceptics about reduction of administrative burdens, were EU-15 countries, including Germany. They claimed that the country of origin principle would be introduced through the back door, and social rights would be broken. Neither argument was true, as the aforementioned drafts concerning service e-card provided for the introduction of a new electronic procedure facilitating trans-border service providers to meet the existing administrative and social national requirements, allowed by the Service Directive of 2006. As regards a notification directive, it could introduce transparency in national measures applied in some service sectors.

Therefore, it is worth noting, that although the Competitiveness Council in May 2017 pointed out a need for further streamlining of legislation and removing unnecessary, discriminatory or disproportionate regulatory barriers in order to improve the functioning of the internal market and to stimulate a more growth-friendly regulatory environment for industry (Council, 2017a), drafts on the elimination of administrative barriers in service sector were not accepted by both the Council and the European Parliament. It is even more important, as the European Council, in December 2018 invited the European Parliament and the Council to agree, before the end of the term, on as many of the pending propos-

146

als relevant to the Single Market as possible. Moreover, the heads of states or governments agreed on the importance of removing remaining unjustified barriers, in particular in the field of service, as well as preventing any new barriers and any risk of fragmentation (European Council, 2018b). Therefore, after the big failure of both legislative proposals in the EU decision making-process, which was in contradiction to recent political statements, the May 2019 European Council underlined that short-term difficulties could not be invoked as an argument against a long-term strategy, which is bold (European Council, 2019b). It means that temporary problems in the market should not be used to limit further integration, including the industrial one.

Competition policy for the EU industry

A competition policy deals with two spheres of industrial activities: actions taken by entrepreneurs in the form of abusing the dominant position and concluding agreement distorting competition as well as governmental financial interventions in the form of state aid. The aforementioned activities are prohibited due to the fact that they may disturb competition within the EU Single Market. To ensure that the Treaty rules are applied by both enterprises and governments, the EU has an exclusive competence in that field and the Commission, first of all, should be informed about all cases of mergers as well as state aid, which can have an impact on trade among member states. Secondly, it has to issue a decision on conformity or no conformity in relation to a proposed action with the EU internal market principle. It means that companies and governments are limited in their activities, which has been contested recently by some member states, especially France and Germany, after a negative decision of the Commission on acquisition Alstom by Siemens, as well selected member states (except for Scandinavians, the UK and Netherlands), who could not give more state aid during and after the crisis of 2008–2010.

As the Commission expressed in its Communication of 2017, the EU competition policy is an important driver for firms to innovate and invest. It ensures that firms can source their inputs at optimum conditions and benefit from competitive outlets for their products, leading in general to a better use of society's resources (European Commission, 2017a). The French fight against the EU competition policy is not anything new (Ambroziak, 2014); however, nowadays more countries, including Germany, support France's position. In the bilateral Manifesto, Germany and France stated that competition rules are essential, however, the existing rules need to be revised to ensure that European companies can compete on the world stage. As a reason for changes, they observed that of the top 40 biggest companies in the world only 5 are European. France and Germany accused the lack of regulatory global level playing field for this situation (Manifesto, 2019). It means that they would like to adjust competition rules within the EU Single Market to be able to intervene in order to increase competitiveness of their companies at the global level. However, the problem is that any artificial improvement of competitiveness of a company against a third country competitor limits competition within the EU and worsens the position of other EU firms which were not supported by their governments.

It is worth noting that the European Council in its Strategic Agenda for the EU till 2024 also pointed out that the European competition framework should be updated, however due to the new technological and global market development, which was opposite to the French and German concept (European Council, 2019b).

As regards Poland, in its position paper, it emphsised the importance of matching the legal framework of the EU competition law, including state aid and merger law, with the changing reality. Poland indicated that the role of the state should be to promote the growth in entrepreneurs' awareness of the benefits of focusing their business on the use of knowledge. Therefore, the competition policy should consider the future changes of digitisation, and all changes in the EU law should not disturb competition within the EU (MET, 2019). It shows much more liberal and opportunity-based approach taken by Poland in comparison to German approach based on fear of competition from outside the EU.

Merger policy and European champions in the EU industrial policy

As regards antitrust policy, the negative decision of the European Commission of February 2019 on Siemen's proposal on acquisition of Alstom, fueled a discussion on the future competition policy in relation to third countries. The Commission argued that during its investigation it considered the competition landscape in the Rest of the world, especially from Chinese suppliers outside their home markets. It found that Chinese suppliers of signalling systems did not even try to participate in any tender, while Chinese manufacturers of trains would not represent a competitive constraint on European companies in a foreseeable future (European Commission, 2019a). In opposition to it, Germany and France claimed that the Commission did not take into consideration the position of Chinese industry and tendencies of their entering the EU. They also argued that in order to compete with companies outside the EU, which are often heavily subsidised or even state-owned, the EU had to allow for the establishment of the European champions and analyse their economic activities not only within the EU Single Market but globally – in the world.

Therefore, Germany, in its National Industrial Strategy claimed that the EU merger regulations must be reviewed and changed so that the international competition ostensibly remains possible for theirs and other European companies (NIS, 2019). It is a clear voice in favour of European big champions, who could relatively easily compete with companies from other big blocks in the world. Moreover, the signatories of the Franco-German Manifesto pointed out that the Commission should take into greater consideration the state-control and subsidies for undertakings and be more flexible when assessing relevant markets within the framework of merger control. They also insisted on a right of appeal of the Council, which could ultimately override the Commission decisions (Manifesto, 2019). As the former requests can find its reasoning, the latter would change a balance between the independent Commission, which has exclusive competences in the field of competition policy, including merger control, and political body – the Council, which consists of politicians – ministers.

As regards Poland, it underlined its openness towards a discussion on the European antitrust law to enable European enterprises to compete effectively in the international markets. Therefore, following the Franco-German Manifesto, Poland supported updating the definition of the relevant market by taking into consideration competition at the global level. The aforementioned support was justified by an assumption that it should help in assessing the concentration of entities integrating European value chain in the form of European champions. However, it should be underlined that they should differ from national champions in terms of the scale and transborder nature of their activities, while their aims should concentrate on the integration of start-ups network and building complex value chains (MET, 2019). It means that Poland suggested a slightly different approach as compared to Germany and France, as it proposed European champions outside competition within the European Single Market, while for both big countries it was not an issue. It seems that they could scarify competition within the EU to win a competition with unfair activities of companies from third countries.

State aid policy in the EU industrial policy

The EU state aid law has been under attack by some member states since the crisis of 2008–2010. In that period of time, the Commission decided to introduce some temporary regulations concerning the state aid to banking system, while provisions on financial public interventions were not changed dramatically (with the exception of a higher level of *de minimis* state aid) (Ambroziak, 2012).

Therefore, particularly France, demanded more flexible state aid rules to tackle economic problems at the national level. However, in consecutive years, as the EU faced a fierce third country competition, in particular China's, France began win support of other countries, which experienced a huge inflow of Chinese investments. One of them was Germany, which in its NSI defined a mechanism of a state aid, addressing a non-EU competition. It argued that where the state compensates for interventions due to high ranking political reasons

in terms of their damaging effects on competition, they should not be recognised as state aid but as restoring comparability in competition (NSI, 2019). It means that Germany proposed strictly political reasoning for governmental financial interventions launched to protect national companies. Moreover, the NSI listed areas, where such actions potentially can be needed: electricity and energy prices, corporate taxation and social security contributions. It is worth noting that the German document is inconsistent in this field: on the one hand, it underlines the principle of free market, freedom of entrepreneurs in their economic activities and no state intervention between individual companies, while on the other hand, it wants, as it has already been presented, to protect national companies against subsidies granted to third country firms, to facilitate subsidies in area of innovation to achieve competitiveness in the interest of the economy as a whole (NSI, 2019). Such an approach is definitely against the EU state aid rules which provide conditions for workable competition within the EU internal market, as a whole. Each national intervention in the market, made even due to unfair activities of third country companies, can easily distort competition within the EU internal market.

The new concept of state aid was developed in the Franco-German Manifesto. Both countries explained that some third countries heavily subsidised their own companies, while European firms were at a massive disadvantage due to the restrictive state aid rules. However, contrary to the German NSI, the signatories did not opt for state aid justified by political reasons, but called for changes in EU state aid rules to finance major research and innovation projects (Manifesto, 2019). It is worth noting that the following Competitiveness Council did not share this approach, while it highlighted only that compliance with the state aid control principles by third countries jurisdictions should be properly addressed and enhanced (Council, 2019). It means that instead of changing the EU state aid rules, the Council advocated implementing them in dedicated competition or trade agreements.

The above mentioned Franco-German position was partially repeated in the German-Polish Declaration of March 2019, as both countries expressed their opinion that in order to promote the competitiveness of EU industry at an international level, it might be necessary to discuss the possible evolution of the European rules applicable to competition and state aid (German-Polish Declaration, 2019). It seems that these requests were softer in comparison to German National Industrial Strategy, probably due to Poland's position. Poland, in its documents on the new industrial policy of the EU, agreed, as it was in the Franco-German Manifesto that there was a room for review of the existing legal framework for the EU state aid law to ensure that European companies have an effective capacity to compete in the global market. At the same time, Poland pointed out that the review should be aimed at the verification adequacy of the state aid rules in the light of the market failures theory, as well as effectiveness and clarity of measures. It is worth noting that Poland focused its request on state aid to promote a level playing field in the specialised intangible goods markets. In Poland's opinion, the state aid for R&D should be a key intervention instrument in such areas as industrially organised educational institutions and science institutions, capable of incubating a large number of star-ups, scientific workers and business cooperation in the form of clusters and competence centres. As regards sectoral approach, on the one hand, Poland expressed its negative position against identifying specific technologies that would be supported, as they can very quickly change. However, on the other hand, it stated that enhanced support is particularly appropriate in the case of technologies with a flat learning curve and significant product market entry barriers, e.g. electronics, chemicals, biotechnology (MET, 2019).

It is also worth observing that after seventy years of restrictive rules and principles concerning state aid, when the Commission made state aid rules rather more limited than flexible, EU member states launched a political discussion on changes in that field. Interestingly, a division between two groups of countries which are in favour or against radical changes and reducing limitations of state aid is between old member states with traditional approach to industry and new member states and Scandinavian countries, which mostly benefit from the EU internal market and their price competitiveness.

Conclusions

The documents and conclusions issued by the EU institutions on the future of the EU industrial policy had to be adopted unanimously. Due to the fact that each presidency, at the level of the Commission as well as the President of the European Council did their best to ensure that the proposed conclusions are acceptable by all member states. In consequence, main thoughts and wording used in those papers were elegant, diplomatic, and often meaning nothing instead of something. Therefore, one can observe that a position of the EU, as a whole, towards a new industrial policy has evolved slowly with no substantial changes over the period under research. Nonetheless, we can observe that the EU retained its position in a horizontal rather than sectoral approach, focused on more holistic policy, including, in particular, the Single Market Policy as a base for reinforcing industrial sector, definitely strengthening its approach towards third country competitors, especially those who acted unfairly.

As all the aforementioned documents were adopted by the Council and the European Council both Germany and Poland accepted the main assumptions and proposed instruments. However, there was a parallel work of a political influence on the European agenda. Some member states expressed their opinions or even strong positions in joint bilateral, trilateral or multilateral declarations. A very good example of such a way of proceedings is the

Adam A. Ambroziak

aforementioned joint declaration of the "Friends of Industry" group as well as the agreement between Germany and Poland on a new EU industrial policy.

On the basis of our research, we can state that Germany and Poland strongly supported a change towards an ambitious and effective industrial policy. Both countries recorded a relatively high share of industry in their economies, although the Polish industrial sector is more labour-intensive than the German sector. However, Germany and Poland agreeably supported the assertive industrial policy. It seems that this is the end of common interests. Both member states requested a modernisation of the antitrust policy, however Germany had its well-documented experience in the negative European Commission decision, while Poland expected the Commission ruling on the merger of Orlen and Lotos (European Commission, 2019).

As regards the state aid, Germany opted for more flexible state aid rules due to unfair competition of third countries, which heavily subsidised their companies or even owned them, while Poland focused its willingness on the interventionism policy within research and development. Taking into account data concerning state aid granted in Germany and Poland, it can be said that Germany shifted their financial interventions from R&D towards energy saving and environmental protection. Therefore, a moderate German approach towards this category of state aid can result from its smart redirection from general innovation to innovation in the energy sector. Taking into account new initiatives concerning Important Projects of Common Interests, which engage Germany and Poland (Battery Alliance), it seems that they require further research.

References _

- Aachen Treaty (2019) Treaty between the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on Franco-German Cooperation and Integration, Aachen, 18.01.2019.
- Ambroziak AA (2012) Pomoc publiczna państw członkowskich UE w okresie kryzysu gospodarczego w latach 2008–2010 (title in English: State Aid in the EU during the Economic Crisis, 2008–2010), Unia Europejska.pl 214(3):17–28.
- Ambroziak AA (2014) Renaissance of the European Union's Industrial Policy, Yearbook of Polish European Studies, 17, pp. 37–58.
- Ambroziak AA (ed) (2017a) Review of the Literature on the Theory of Industrial Policy [in:] AA Ambroziak (ed.) New Industrial Policy of the European Union, Springer, Switzerland.
- Ambroziak AA (2017b) Servitization or Reindustrialization of the EU in the Context of the Economic Crisis of 2008–2010, Yearbook of Polish European Studies, 20, pp. 129–151.
- Ambroziak A.A. (ed.) (2020) New Challenges for the European Union's Industrial Policy: Climate Change, Servitisation, Digitalisation, SGH Publishing House, Warsaw.
- Council (2017a) Conclusions on a future EU industrial policy strategy, 29.05.2017.

Council (2017b) Conclusions on A renewed EU Industrial Policy Strategy, 30.11.2017.

- Council (2018) Conclusions on a future EU Industrial Policy Strategy, 29.11.2018.
- Council (2019) Conclusions on an EU Industrial Policy Strategy: A Vision for 2030, 27.05.2019.
- European Commission (2014) Criteria for analysis of the compatibility with the internal market of State aid to promote the execution of important projects of common European interest, Communication from the Commission, OJ C 188/2014.
- European Commission (2016a) Clean Energy for All Europeans, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, the Committee of the Regions and the European Investment Bank, COM (2016) 860 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2016b) Digitising European Industry. Reaping the full benefits of a Digital Single Market, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM (2016) 180 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2017a) Investing in a smart, innovative and sustainable Industry A renewed EU Industrial Policy Strategy, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, the Committee of the Regions and the European Investment Bank, COM (2017) 479 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2017b) Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the legal and operational framework of the European service e-card introduced by Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council introducing a European service e-card and related administrative facilities, COM (2016) 823 final, Brussels
- European Commission (2017c) Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council introducing a European service e-card and related administrative facilities, COM (2016) 824 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2017d) Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the enforcement of the Directive 2006/123/EC on services in the internal market, laying down a notification procedure for authorisation schemes and requirements related to services, and amending Directive 2006/123/EC and Regulation (EU) No 1024/2012 on administrative cooperation through the Internal Market Information System, COM (2016) 821 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2018a) A Clean Planet for all. A European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, the Committee of the Regions and the European Investment Bank, COM (2018) 773 final, Brussels.
- European Commission (2018b) State aid: Commission approves plan by France, Germany, Italy and the UK to give EUR 1.75 billion public support to joint research and innovation project in microelectronics, Press release, Brussels, 18.12.2018.
- European Commission (2018c) Strategic Action Plan on Batteries. Annex 2 to the Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Europe on the Move. Sustainable Mobility for Europe: safe, connected and clean, Brussels, COM (2018) 293 final, 17.05.2018.

- European Commission (2019a) Decision of 6 February 2019 declaring a concentration to be incompatible with the internal market and the functioning of the EEA Agreement (Case M.8677-Siemens/Alstom), OJ C300/2019, p. 14.
- European Commission (2019b) Commission opens in-depth investigation into PKN Orlen's proposed acquisition of Lotos, Brussels, 7.08.2019.
- European Council (2016) Conclusions, EUCO34/16, 15.12.2016.
- European Council (2017) Conclusions, EUCO 8/17, 22-23 June 2017.
- European Council (2018a) Conclusions, EUCO 1/18, 23.03.2018.
- European Council (2018b) Conclusions, EUCO17/18, 14.12.2018.
- European Council (2019a) Conclusions, EUCO 1/19, 22.03.2019.
- European Council (2019b) A New Strategic Agenda 2019-2024, 20.06.2019.
- NIS (2019) National Industrial Strategy 2030. Strategic guidelines for a German and European industrial policy, Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy, Berlin, February 2019.
- Franco-German press release (2018) Following the intervention between Ministers La Maire and Altmaier, 18 December 2018.
- Friends of Industry (2018) Joint statement by France, Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Spain, 6th meeting of Friends of Industry, Paris, 18.12.2018.
- German-Polish Declaration (2019) German-Polish Joint Declaration on European industrial policy for a strong and competitive economy, 18.03.2019 (https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/EN/Pressemitteilun-gen/2019/20190318-german-polish-business-forum-joint-declaration-on-european-industrial-policy. html, accessible: 2019–06-20).
- Junker J.-C. (2014) A New Start for Europe: My Agenda for Jobs, Growth, Fairness and Democratic Change. Political Guidelines for the next European Commission. Opening Statement in the European Parliament, Plenary Session, Strasbourg.
- Manifest (2019) A Franco-German Manifesto for a European industrial policy fit for the 21st Century, Paris, 19 February 2019.
- MET (2019) New EU Industrial Policy, Ministry of Entrepreneurship and Technology, 24.06.2019, Warsaw.
- MFA (2019) Polish contribution to the preparation of the EU Strategic Agenda 2019–2024, Warsaw.
- Regulation 2019/515 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 March 2019 on the mutual recognition of goods lawfully marketed in another Member states and repealing Regulation (EC) No 764/2008, OJ L 91/2019.
- Stefaniak J., Ambroziak AA (2017) "Pakiet usługowy" Komisji Europejskiej remedium na bariery na unijnym rynku usług? (title in English: European Commission's "Service Package" – A Remedy for Barriers in the EU Service Market?, Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu, 487: 306–317.

Treaty (2012) on the Functioning of the European Union. Consolidated version, OJ C 326, 26.10.2012.

Conclusions

Tomasz M. Napiórkowski, Mariusz-Jan Radło, Jurgen Wandel

International trade is based increasingly on distributing the value chain across borders. This volume analyses the nature and the challenges of this phenomenon looking at the case of the German-Polish economic relations. The economies of both countries are closely interconnected in the global as well as European value chains in various manufacturing activities.

Poland as a fast-growing country with attractive conditions for Foreign Direct Investment has significantly benefited from this process through the increase in exports, development of many sectors of economy and overall increase in labour and capital productivity. Yet, there are also concerns about this development. What happens if a foreign investor decides to relocate his activities to another country with lower production costs? Will Poland remain attractive only to low-skilled activities that add little value or can it move up the value chain to sustain and enhance prosperity?

The case studies in this book indicate that Germany's position as a dominant actor in the Central European production chains is far from permanent. Despite a significant ongoing asymmetry between the German Foreign Direct Investment in Poland and the Polish FDI in Germany, the latter nevertheless increased and in a number of cases prevented German companies from closure, in particular in the SME sector. Germany's export-oriented model with its focus on traditional manufacturing of capital goods itself has come under increasing pressure to remain internationally competitive in face of accelerating digitalisation, rising protectionism and a rapid catching up process pursued by emerging markets, in particular China. An unfavourable domestic institutional environment for productive entrepreneurship and the ultra-loose monetary policy of the European Central bank prevent Schumpeterian creative destruction and innovations. As a result, also the German-Polish trade is still dominated by the manufacturing sector, while innovative digital products are of marginal quantitative relevance.

Against this background in both countries and on the European level, there is an ongoing debate on what policy is best conducive to boost innovativeness and moving up the value chains. In this context, a new adequate GVC-oriented industrial policies are invoked. However, to what extent it is really appropriate and if so, what exactly such a policy should look like, is an old controversial question. The answer to it depends much on the theoretical concept of the beholder. Nevertheless, two severe problems of a form of industrial policy are very difficult, if it is to be successful: the limited knowledge of political actors to identify profitable business opportunities or alleged market failure, and perverse political incentives that foster rent-seeking and regulatory capture by politically powerful groups. Therefore, the straightforward implication for the public policy is to limit itself to provide an overall

innovation-friendly environment. It remains to be seen how technological progress itself, for example digitalisation, and exogenous shocks like the sudden closure of borders in the wake of the 2020 anti-coronavirus pandemic lockdown measures will affect the global value chains in general and the Polish-German economic coopetition in particular.



Participation in the global value chains and moving up these chains is of great importance for Polish enterprises and consequently for the Polish economy. The export-oriented economic development model adopted by Poland initially made use of Foreign Direct Investments as a source of technology transfers to domestic companies and potential link to global value chains. Nevertheless, simply opening up to foreign investors does not guarantee economic success for domestic economy and enterprises. Similarly, moving up value chains is neither obvious nor simple. Therefore, the purpose of this book is to answer the question of how the Polish economy and its enterprises can move-up global value chains, what factors determine it and what strategies – including economic policies – can be used to reinforce this process.

SGH PUBLISHING HOUSE SGH WARSAW SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS www.wydawnictwo.sgh.waw.pl

